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To my Father



Introduction

In another book, The International Personality of the Malay
Peninsula; A Study of the International Law of Imperialism,
I have analysed the justifications asserted for their political
actions by people of very different culture first confronting
each other in the Malay Peninsula. That analysis ends when
it became clear that European formulations would become the
sole basis for the political reorganization of the Peninsula in
the nineteenth century. In this book the evolution of European
formulations during the nineteenth century is the focus of
attention as arguments based on the supposed legal require-
ment that piracy be suppressed were abused, lost their
persuasiveness, and were replaced with theories of right based
more frankly on power refationships.

The research was done primarily in the Public Records
Office in London and the University of Cambridge Libraries.
A Summer Research Award from the Office of Scientific and
Scholarly Research of the University of Oregon made it
possible to devote some months to writing free of serious
distraction.

ALFRED P. RUBIN

The Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy
1974






1. Unresolvable Problems in Kedah

A. THE LAW AS AN OBSTACLE TO ACTION

The British acquisition of the island of Penang, renamed
Prince of Wales’s Island, one of the three settlements forming
the territorial base for later British operations in the northern
Malay Peninsula, were clouded in the shady dealing of a mer-
chant adventurer named Francis Light. In 1786 Captain Light
occupied Penang with the conditional permission of the Sultan
of Kedah. The Sultan’s conditions were never fulfilled by the
British. Moreover, the Sultan had made it clear to Captain
Light that the Thai had a claim to Kedah, thus to Penang; the
Sultan did not have legal power to grant to the British rights in
Penang held by the Thai,

Although the Thai did not immediately oppose the British
occupation of Penang, Thai attempts to limit further British
incursions in the northern Malay States led to great tension in
the early 1820°s when Thailand occupied with troops its claimed
territory of Kedah. Two British missions were sent to Bangkok
to attempt to stabilize relations between the British and the
Thai. The first, ordered to negotiate trade matters and the
status of Penang just before the Thai occupation of Kedah,
arrived in Bangkok shortly after that Thai action. The British
negotiator, John Crawfurd, later to be chief Bri administra-
tor in Singapore and already author of a scholarly history of the
Indian Archipelago, was able to make friendly contact with the
highest officials of the Thai government, but he and his political
superiors regarded his mission as in the main a failure. The sec-
ond mission, led by Captain Henry Burney — perhaps less of a
scholar than Crawfurd, but clearly a far more sensitive man and
a very able diplomatist—resulted in a treaty concluded in
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Bangkok on 20 June 1826. It also resulted in British recogni-
tion of Thai rights in Kedah (and north of Kedah on the West
coast) and the extinguishing of Thai rights (hithereto based on
custom) in Perak and perhaps other Malay States further
South.! Complete British rights in Penang were recognized by
the Tha

The Burney Treaty was unsatisfactory to British officials in
Penang becausc it left the Thai in complete control of Penang’s
peninsular neighbor, Kedah, and left the British with responsi-
bility for the ousted Sultan who had fled to British controlled
territory when the Thai had marched into Kedah. Article 13 of
the Treaty provided, in pertinent part, that:

The English

permit the former Governor of

rs, to attack, disturb, or injure in
any manner the territory of Quedah, or any other territory sub-
ject to Siam. The English engage that they will make arrange-
ments for the former Governor of Quedah to go and live in
some other country, and not at Prince of Wales' [sic] Island or
Prye, or in Perak, Selangore, or any Burmese country.?

Nonetheless, when Taju’d-din, the deposed Sultan of Kedah,
refused to move to Malacca and accept the pension offered by
the British in return for his withdrawing from political activities
aimed at reconquering his Sultanate the British Government in
Penang resolved not to press further proposals of that sort on
him.* But the British Government in India (called the “Su-

1For a detailed analysis of the British-Thai negotiations of this period
see Rubin, Persomality Ch VI, The (et of Burney’s Treaty may be found
at Aitchison 115, and Maxwell and Gibson 7

2Article 10 of the Treaty refers to~Prince 4 Wales' Ifand as one of the
“English countries”, balanced against a reference o “Quedah™ as one of
the “Siamese countrics”.

#Aiichison 119. This language wasdeleted from the Treaty in 1842afterit
had proved i for the British obligation under it.

105y Burney 475 letter fromm the ox-Sultan 16 Governor Fullorton dated
21 September 1826 at p. 477 and note following. Sce also British proposal
to Taju'd-din dated 15 September 1826 and his revised reply ({0 the same
effect as his reply of 21 September) dated 5 October 1826. 2(5) Burney 85
and
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preme Government™ in contemporary records), after approving
the Burney Treaty ordered the Penang Government to take
“immediate steps” to remove Taju’d-din to Malacca.®

In response to this instruction Governor Fullerton of Penang
again ordered Taju’d-din to move to Malacca, but Taju’d-din
again refused. On 12 July 1827 he asked permission of
Governor Fullerton to let him leave British protection and
carry on alone his battle with the Thai for control of Kedah.®
Rather than disobey his instructions and lend the appearance
of British authority to the political activities of the ex-Sultan,
Governor Fullerton continued to apply pressure on him to
move to Malacca.

But Governor Fullerton seems to have been in a difficult
position made no easier by his own ambiguous feelings about
the Thai. He had argued strongly against the Supreme Govern-
ment approving the Burney Treaty and had favored Taju’d-din
in all the peaceful ways he could in the struggle over control of
Kedah. Now, forced by the Supreme Government to act in
ways he must have found distasteful indeed, he was opposed by
a powerful segment of the British community in Penang. On §
December 1827 he gave up his correspondence with Taju’d-din
and asked the chief British legal officer in Penang, Sir John
Thomas Claridge, “whether we are warranted by any Act or
Statute to use force” to remove the ex-Sultan to Malacca.
Claridge declined to answer what he as Recorder, a post that
included the functions of judge, would do if Taju’d-din sought
the protection of the court, on which he sat as one of three
judges, against the actions of the Government of Penang, or if a
criminal action were brought against agents of the British

5The notice of approval was sent to London on 2 April 1827, 2(5) Burney
192. The order to remove the ex-Sultan was dated 18 April 1827. 2(6)
Burney 99. Ratifications of the Treaty had actually been exchanged on 17

January 1827, Aitchison 120.
#2(6) Burney 192-193.
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Government seeking to remove him.? By the end of December
1827 Fullerton was completely exasperated by the evasiveness
of Taju'd-din and the support he was receiving from even the
official British community in Penang.

Meanwhile he proposed to the Supreme Government that he
be authorized to institute a course of harassment and political
pressurc against Taju'd-din, including stopping his $10,000
annuity. The Supreme Government approved Governor
Fullerton's proposal in a formal letter from the Governor-
General in Council to the Governor in Council of Prince of
Wales’s Island dated 29 February 1828 8 In that letter the Su-
preme Government indicated that force should not be used to
remove the ex-Sultan from Penang, but that unless he went to
Malacca, Siak or Delli (Sumatran Sultanates to which Taju’d-
din had indicated in earlier correspondence that he might retire)
his pension should be stopped. The Supreme Government
alluded to the law of nations as adequate basis for suppressing
the military activity of the ex-Sultan, which could, according to
the Supreme Government, be regarded as “piracy™.

On 24 October 1828 Governor Fullerton wrote directly to
the Directors of the East India Company in London, bypassing
the Supreme Government (Lord Amherst had retired as
Governor-General in March 1828 and Lord Bentinck, his
successor, had not yet atrived in India), to say that the ex-
Sultan stilf refused to leave Penang and that his stipend was
therefore being withheld.® A month later the situation was un-
changed; Taju’d-din was still refusing to move to Malacca or
the East coast of Sumatra. For a year, in fact, Taju’d-din re-

?3(1) Burney 78-81. A fuller analysis of Governor Fullerton's position on
the Burney Treaty and a detailed analysis of his actions to combat Thai
control in Kedah is in Rubin, Personality, Chs. VI and IX.A.

#3(1) Burney 85-92, 94 et seg. The $10,000 annuity began as Bitish com-
pensation to Kedah for the 1oss of revente entaited in the cession of Penang
to the British, but was by this time regarded as a mere gratuity. See Rubin,

Personality, Ch. VIIL
%2(6) Burney 283.
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mained in Penang while various members of his family raided
the commerce of “Purtis and Quedah”.

Whether the international law of “piracy” was generally re-
garded as applicable in 1828 to authorize summary suppression
of politically-motivated behavior is a complex issue already
analyzed elsewhere.!® For the moment it is necessary merely to
note that the concept was used against politically organized and
motivated non-European groups in North Africa and the
Malay Archipelago while felt lmproper for use against the
political expeditions of unr ized governments of
Europeans in most cases, But in the 1820's most international
lawyers did not distinguish on the basis of “race™ or *“‘culture”
among the nations to which the law was felt to apply. Thus to
attach the label “pirate” to a group against which the penalties
of “‘piracy” were sought to be imposed as a political decision
did not necessarily mean that many legists would have agreed
that the international law cited by the British Government in
India as the basis for political action would bear the weight
apparently attributed to it by the Governor-General in Council,
Interestingly, the Penang Government, which had always pre-
ferred Taju'd-din to the Thai in Kedah, did not treat the ex-
Sultan’s kin as “pirates”, but ignored their depredations on
Thai territory, explaining to London superiors that those chiefs
were driven to plunder out of desperation regardless of politi-
cal motives or consequences.’! Even if “‘piracy” could be
conceived to include depredations on land, not at sea, to hold
that poverty excuses ‘“‘piracy” while political motivation does
not must have seemed logical only to those for whom the word
itself carried meanings far different from the long international

10Ryubin, Personality, Chs. IV.A and VI.B See also Rubin, Piracy. A
substantial part of Tarling is devoted to a similar analysis from an his-
torian's viewpoint. In his excelient monograph Tarling is acutely sensitive
to the legal issues although. of course, not touching on them directly.

112(6) Burney 285, letter from Fuilerton and John Anderson to the Court

of Directors dated 24 November 1828; p. 292, letter from Fullerton and
Robert Ibbetson dated 21 April 1829,
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law tradition that defined “piracy” as something akin to
robbery at sea without political license.

The depredations of Taju’d-din’s kinsmen, Long Puteh (the
ex-Sultan’s brother-in-law) and Tunku Din, called Kudin in alt
the correspondence (the ex-Sultan’s nephew), continued
throughout 1828, The principal Thai official in Kedah, son of
the Chao Phya Ligor, made a formal complaint to the British
in Penang on 23 February 1829 alleging “Twanku Koodin. ..
and . . . the two sons of Twanku Long Puteh™ under English
colors to have made an attack on him personally and to be
planning another. He asked that the ringleaders whom he
named be seized “that there may be no infringement of the
Treaty” of 1826.12 In response the Penang Government or-
dered the British Superintendent of Police in Province Wellesley
to proclaim that any persons residing there who aid or abet the
ex-Sultan of Kedah in making an attack on Kedah “will be
treated as pirates” and authorizing the seizure of the persons
named by the “Young Chief”.*3 Finding the British prepared
to move actively, the Thai forwarded letters captured by them
clearly implicating Taju’d-din in the February attacks on
Kedah by Long Puteh.* Undeterred, on 8 October 1829 Taju’d-
din moved to Province Wellesley, apparently to direct and take
part in the grand attack his faction was preparing to mount to
wrest Kedah from the Thai.13

Meanwhile, unable to get a sympathetic legal opinion from
the Recorder in Penang, Governor Fullerton had had Claridge
recalled and had written to the Supreme Government directly
for legal guidance in case Taju’d-din should continue to refuse
to leave Penang.'® The legal opinion written by Jonathan

123(1) Burney 105.

144, p. 103,

1444, pp. 131-137.

13/d,, p. 146, letter from Ibbetson to James Low, Superintendent of
Police in Province Wellesley, dated 9 October 1829.

41 Kyshe Ixviii.
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Pearson, Advocate General of Bengal, to the British Govern-
ment of Bengal dated 9 May 182917 displays the agony feit by
those trying to accommodate the political dictates of imperial
policy to the concepts of law to which they are trained:

I conceive that if an attempt were made to remove a fugitive
Prince from any part of the Presidencies in India where English
{aw prevails {including Penang and Province Wellesley}, the
local Court would upon application being made to it, have the
power to interfere and decide on the fegality of the removal.

He then held that the treaty under which relations between the
British and Kedah were formalized, giving the British rights in
Penang and Province Wellesiey and giving the Sultan of Kedah
the annuity of $10,000, lapsed as far as the ex-Sultan of Kedah
isconcerned when he became “‘no longer able to fulfil”"in favour
of the British his obligations as ruler of Kedah. He concluded
with the caution of a lawyer emphasizing the distinction be-
tween politically-oriented and law-oriented officials:

... the Ex Rajah should prefer a claim grounded on the
Treaty of 1802 for the stipend originally payable under it, the
Court will have to decide upon their authority to entertain the
question . . . If it should happen that the Court [in Penang]
determines that it is competent to enter the enquiry, and should
decide against the United Company, an appeal is given by the
Charter [of Justice establishing a system of British courts in
Penang] to the King in Council, and of the result, I cannot
bring myself to admit of a doubt.

Despite Pearson’s apparent certainty as to the British legal
obligation (or lack of obligation) to Taju'd-din under the treaty
by which his predecessor purported to cede Penang and Pro-
vince Wellesley to the British, it is clear that he knew the issues
might be seen differently in Penang by law-trained officials.
Furthermore, his silence on two other legal questmns mevntably
raised by the ci he was is
173(1)Burney 123.
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thunderous. First, although acknowledging a legal purview in
the courts in Penang over an attempt to remove Taju’d-din he
did not indicate the probable result of a legal intervention by
that court in the earliest stages of British action; he did not
indicate what legal authority in British law Governor Fullerton
might have, if any, to remove the ex-Sultan by force from
Penang. Second, he did not mention that if the British obliga-
tions arising out of their occupation of Penang were owed to
the possessor of sovereignty in Kedah, those obligations, in-
cluding the obligation to pay the $10,000 annuity, were now
owed to Thailand. Indeed there is much weak legal reasoning
in what was the official position of the Supreme Government
regarding British relations with Kedah and the Thai. In empha-
sizing the ex-Sultan’s possible recourse to British courts the
Advocate General in Bengal seems to have tried to ignore the
international law problems that fay at the centre of the situation
and reduce the entire complex of issues to one of British law-
enforcement; to him the obstacles to effective action for the
policy-makers to overcome were only obstacles in British
municipal law that might be erected by British judges in Penang.
Yet even in this limited sphere, his analysis was incomplete and
probably erroneous to his law-trained contemporaries.
Nevertheless, the power of a lawyer to influence the course of
action is well known, and when the lawyer gives his colleagues
with power to command military force a iegal-seeming author-
ity for action that is desired anyhow, the action is taken with-
out awkward questions being asked. The Thai Governor of
Ligor was assured formally that the British would use force at
least to prevent Taju’d-din from disturbing “the peace of
Qhedah”.18 Money was offered Taju'd-din to go to Malacca
or even back to Penang, and troops were ordered to Province
Wellesley to prevent his going to Kedah as Thai troops patrol-

8/d., pp. 155-156, Letter dated 29 October 1829,
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jed the Province Wellesley-Kedah border.'® Finally, on 8
October 1830 the Supreme Government authorized Governor
Fullerton of Penang to use force to take Taju’d-din to Malacca,
and instructed him to pay the ex-Sultan $6,000 per year while
he remained there.*®

Still the British officials in Penang temporized,?! but at last,
on 6 June 1831, Taju'd-din was placed on a ship bound for
Malacca, protesting to the end and surrounded by British
police and military. British warships were stationed off the
Kedah and “Mirabow™ Rivers with instructions to cooperate
with the Thai, Kudin and Long Puteh were called “pirates”
and the British naval commanders were directed to treat them
assuch.2®

Instructions from Bengal were apparently not regarded by
the British in Penang as sufficient justification for the steps
authorized. Before proceeding to carry out his instructions,
the leading British official involved, Robert Ibbetson, who was
to succeed Fullerton as Resident with a restored title of
Governor in 1832, sent a detailed justification to the Deputy
Resident at Penang.?3 Cutting through the legalities of the

392(6) Burney 295-298, letters from Fulierion and Ibbetson to the Court
of Directors dated 13 February and 30 June 1830.

203(1) Burney 201.

21There were other reasons for this than community pressures favorable
to Taju’d-din and antipathetic to the Thai. On 30 June 1830, largely as a
result of Peninsular adventures undertaken by Fullerton in Perak al
Selangor against the terms of the Treaty of 1826 with Thailand as mlcr-
preted by Burney, the Thai and the Supreme Government, Penang was
reduced in administrative rank from a fourth *'Presidency™ of India to a
‘mere **Residency” and the chief officers reduced to an overali “Resident”
in Penang (Fullerton) and “Deputy Residents” with local responsibility in
Pemmg and Malacca. The chief British official in Singapore was to be
styled “First Assistant Resident”. The garrison was cut to mere police-
force size. The emotional and dommecnng Fullerton retreated into pe-
tulcncy his Jast two years in Penang and effective government was domina-

by Robert Ibbetson, the First Assistant Resident in Singapore. See

Rubm Personality, Chs. iX.Aand X.A
a ;1(” Burney 245 246, letter from Tbbetson to the Supreme Government
lated 8 June

28Jd., pp. 219 tl.vtq fetter dated 19 May 1831,
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Recorder and the reluctance of Fullerton, the representative
of Great Britain in international correspondence, to use his
powers to discharge British obligations toward Thailand,
Ibbetson wrote:

There cannot be a question, if the injury thus given [to the
Thai by persons residing in Province Wellesley] had been sanc-
tioned by the English Government, the Government so sanc-
tioning it would have been guilty of the offense, and answerable
accordingly to the Government of Siam, and it therefore be-
hoves [sic] us, in proportion as we are anxious to avoid this im-
putation, to render to the State thus injured by our subjects
every reparation in our power, and which can be done effectu-
ally only in punishing the offenders.. . .

That the 13th Article of the Treaty with Bangkok has serious-
Iy been violated by these acts there cannot in my judgement be
adoubt. .

While Taju'd-din was certainly not a “subject” of the British,
Ibbetson, who had no official legal adviser from the time
Claridge left in 1829 until B. H. Malkin arrived on 12 February
1833, regarded some of Taju’d-din’s Malay followers as such, 24
Fortunately, however, Ibbetson was not confused by his own
legalisms. The place in which a crime is committed is the main
basis for criminal jurisdiction in English law; nationality is a
basis for jurisdiction only with regard to acts specifically made
criminal when performed by British subjects outside of the
territorial jurisdiction of the Crown. Piracy is criminal if done,
as by definition it must be (sec below), outside the territorial
jurisdiction of any state no matter what the nationality of the
accused *‘pirate”. To perform acts inconsistent with British
international obligations is not criminal unless specially made
so in British municipal law by action of a constitutionally em-
powered legislator. Therefore, the issue before Ibbetson was
not one of nationality, but (a) what crime by British Jaw is

2414, 232-234, letter from Ibbetson to the Government of Bengal dated
3 May 1831 promising to imprison British subjects who have had a hand in
injuring the state of “our alliant”, Thailand,
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alleged to have been committed, and (b) when it was committed
was the accused subject to the territorial jurisdiction of a
British court.?s

Ibbetson determined to treat Taju’d-din as not subject to
British criminal law; those involved in the struggle in Kedah
who were habitual “criminals” to an aggravated extent, in
which class he expressly included Nakhoda Udin and (in later
correspondence) Long Puteh, Ibbetson felt could be dealt with
as pirates (regardless of what they had done or where or their
nationality); and all in British territory who had taken arms
against Thailand were to be confined. The effect of this was to
permit Ibbetson to treat the ex-Sultan as a person to whom
British municipal law did not extend, while at the same time
applying British municipal law to his supporters, relying on his
political superiors inIndia to protect him from any accusations
that he acted beyond his legal authority under British law. Since
pirates can be hunted down and killed without any state having
a right to object, Ibbetson’s decision to treat as pirates Udin
and Long Puteh made it unlikely that they would ever reach
British jurisdiction alive. Even if they did, their presence in
British territory to seek the protection of British courts would,
on the territorial principle of jurisdiction, subject them to the
authority of the courts for whatever crimes against British
municipal law committed in British territory, or in case of
piracy the high seas, Ibbetson could discover that might be
proved against them. As shown by his treatment of the third
class, Ibbetson seemed confident that anybody taking action in
British territory which the British were bound by an inter-
national undertaking to prevent was guilty of some crime. In

25This summary of legal rules rests on complex historical analysis. This
paper is not the place to list citations dating back to the seventcenth
century to support propositions that, while over-general, will be accepted
without serious difficulty by most British-trained lawyers. Those interested

in deeper study might start by referring to Latham and the case Fatimah
and Ors. v. D. Logan and Ors., Penang (4 September 1871), 1 Ky. 255.
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this he was probably mistaken, but by the time the legalities
could be straightened out the immediate problem with Thai-
1and would have been alleviated. In any case, he acted on his
convictions of law and ran no serious risk in doing so: The law
couris in the Straits Settlements had been closed in 1830 by
Governor Fullerton in pique at having his title changed to
Resident; the nearest courts with independent-minded judges
available to Taju'd-din and his followers which could legally
compel a change of policy in Penang were the British courts in
Bengal.

To illustrate the difficulties felt in this period in determining
the Iegal effect in British courts of the facts of imperial life
and the impact strong-willed judges like Sir John Claridge can
have on policy, the actual case of the Kedah annuity is instruc-
tive.2¢ In 1809 Taju'd-din had been Sultan of Kedah receiving
his $10,000 annuity from the East India Company. For safe-
keeping in that year his Laksamana had deposited the annuity
for Taju’d-din in the Government Treasury in Penang. When
the annuity was stopped in 1828 the Laksamana (son of the
Laksamana of 1809) sought to withdraw the deposit. Governor
Fullerton refused to release the money, apparently for political
reasons: to keep the maximum pressure possible on Taju’d-din
to bend to British desires that he move to Malacca; also, pre-
sumably, because of some doubt whether the money was
properly owing to him or to the present rulers of Kedah, the
Thai. The Laksamana, Ishmahel, brought suit against the
East India Company in the Recorder’s court in Penang before
Sir John Claridge. It should be mentioned at this point that the
law courts derived their powers from the Crown directly and
the East India Company was merely a chartered organization
which, despite many political ties to the Government of Great
Britain, was amenable to suit in the normal way in British

s8Ishmahel Laxamana v. East India Company, and In re Trebeck,
Penang (20 August 1829) 1 Ky. 4.
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courts. Followingthe normal course when a foreign *‘sovereign”
seeks to use a British court, the Laksamana, who was clearly
acting as agent for the ex-Sultan seeking to secure the assets of
the state of Kedah, and not for the private individual Taju'd-din,
made formal submission to the jurisdiction of the court for
the purposes of this particular case, In the formal submission
the Laksamana refused to acknowiedge the general authority
of the court. When Sir John objected to the form of submission
to his judicial authority Ishmahel’s lawyer, Mr. Trebeck, tried
to avoid antagonizing the court and asserted merely that a
general ission would be i i with Ist 's
religion, since the British court had ecclesiastical competence
and Ishmahel was ¢ Muslim who could not acknowiedge the
competence of a Christian court in matters of religion. Sir
John was not deceived and apparently (the report is not entirefy
clear) asked why Ishmahel did not recite his submission to the
jurisdiction of the court in the same general form as all other
Muslim residents of Penang. The answer finally came that a
foreign sovereign, the Sultan of Kedah, could not purport to
remain “‘sovereign’ if he admitted being subject to the general
jurisdiction of any court, and that as a matter of British law,
British courts are open ad hoc to foreign sovereigns who submit
their particular cases to British courts. This argument clearly
placed Sir John in a most uncomfortable position. If he upheld
the submission of the Laksamana he would be agrecing that
Taju'd-din was a foreign sovereign, thus jeopardizing British
relations with Thailand, possibly violating by his official act the
British obligation to abstain from interfering in the internal
affairs of a foreign state (Thailand, if not Kedah). On the other
hand, if he denied the validity of the Laksamana’s submission
he would, in a sense, equally be involving the British officially
in internal affairs of Kedah and Thailand and striking a severe
blow at Taju’d-din; it may be remembered that Sir John was
personally a strong supporter of Taju'd-din’s claims in Kedah
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and had informed Governor Fullerton officially of his sym-
pathies in harsh terms a year and a haif earlier.

Sir John's feelings can be imagined as he turned to the
Government's attorney and asked if the Government “re-
cognizes any person to be King of Quedah™. When the Secre-
tary to Government replied, “No, my Lord, I believe not”, Sir
John told Mr. Trebeck: “Then do not let us hear anything more
as to the King of Quedah™.

Mr. Trebeck argued that he was astounded. He alleged the
existence of a King of Kedah (by which he meant Taju’d-din)
and denied to the court that the East India Company had any
sovereign authority in Penang (again the report is unclear; the
court was an arm of the Crown, not the Company. Presumably
the argument was that since East India Company rights in
Penang derive from a sovereign in Kedah, for the Government
now to argue that there is no sovereign in Kedah is to argue
against the basis of East India Company rights). Since the
British rights were believed dependent on continued payment
of a $10,000 annuity to the sovereign of Kedah there is sub-
stance to Mr. Trebeck’s argument. The refusal of Fulierton
to accord the perquisites of sovereignty to the Thai in Kedah
had placed the court on the horns of a dilemma. Its own terri-
torial jurisdiction, the right in international law of the British
to issue a Charter of Justice and establish courts in Penang, was
open to question. Sir John replied to Mr. Trebeck by having
his name struck from the rolls of persons authorized to appear
before the court as attorney. The Laksamana’s case was never
decided and the $10,000 deposited in 1809 remained in the
Company’s coffers.

The decade of the 1830’s found the Government in Penang,
anxious to stabilize relations on a peaceful footing with the
Thai, again brought into difficulties by legal complications. As
noted above in June of 1831 the British had instituted a naval
patrol of the Kedah coast to suppress the “piracies” of Kudin
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and Long Puteh and discharge British obligations under Asticle
13 of the Treaty of 1826. But in the absence of legislation
making it a crime cognizable by British courts to disturb Thai
territory there was no legal basis in British municipal law for
prosecuting any “disturbers”. Although the international law
of “piracy” was regarded as an adequate legal basis for appre-
hending and summarily disposing of Taju’d-din’s party when
they were found at sea near Kedabh, it was clear almost from
the first that it would be desirable to fix some limit to the
British involvement; a permanent patrol was unthinkable even
to suppress “piracy”’, when the supposed piracy did not damage
British trade.?” On 15 August 1831 the Supreme Government
in Bengal wrote a long instruction to Ibbetson in Singapore
outlining the policy to be followed in carrying out British
obligations under the Burney Treaty without doing any un-
necessary fighting for the Thai.?8

[T]he extent to which our co-operation should be given to
the Siamese . . . is a question of considerable nicety, and as no
obligation to the effect is incurred under any Treaty, His Lord~
ship [the Governor-General] is inclined to think it may be the
better policy to avoid any operations of a hostile character
either by land or sea.

If those concerned in the enterprise against Quedah return
for vefuge or asylum into the British territory they must be
seized and punished . . ., but there can be no reason to prevent
their taking refuge elsewhere, if they do so peacefully . . . His
Lordship would confine the measures of a hostile character. . .
to the prevention of further assistance of men or arms joining
them from Penang or Province Wellesley. Except so far as may
be required for this specific purpose, His Lordship doubts if it
can be necessary to maintain a strict blockade of the mouth of
theriver. ..

273(1) Burney 253, letter from Kenneth Murchison (Deputy Resident,

Penang) to Ibbetson dated 1 August 1831.
2814, pp. 274 et seq.
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When the Thai completed their re-pacification of Kedah
shortly afterwards the British blockading ships were dis-
charged.2?

Within six months Ibbetson (now formally the chief British
officer in the Straits and styled Governor) was asking for British
naval support to blockade the Perlis River again. This time the
reasons were ostensibly to prevent the commission of crime
rather than to punish. Governor lbbetson had been educated
in international law by Rear Admiral Sir Edward W. C. R.
Owen, British Commander-in-Chief of Naval Forces, East
Indian Station, and realized the weakness of his legal position:
With Long Putch repostedly building his forces for another
attack on Kedah (which incfuded Perlis at this time) Ibbetson
had discovered that he had no authority to arrest him because,
‘in the words of Sir E. Owen, I could not treat as pirates any
against whom no acts of piracy had been specifically alleged,
or proof obtained.”

Governor Ibbetson wrote that he feared judicial process
against himself in British territory and therefore felt he could
not go against the ex-Sultan’s party directly. The British naval
authorities had advised him that they would not treat as pirates
at sea any against whom there was no evidence of “piracy”,
Apprehensive that “‘piracy” was not an appropriate label for
those merely taking part in a rebellion against recognized
authority (and it should be borne in mind that although the
Burney Treaty clearly recognized Thai authority in Kedah, and
dozens of British official actions had carried the same legal im-
plication, the Penang officials had been unable to bring them-
selves to believe it; rebellion against unrecognized authority
would seem even less capable of being considered piracy,
Governor Ibbetson felt his only recourse was to prevent Long

23/d., pp. 284 et seq., letters from Ibbetson to the Government in Bengal
and the Captain of H.M.S. Wolfe dated 10 October 1831,
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Puteh and his men reaching Kedah.3® By avoiding the use of
fegal labels and confining action to areas outside the territorial
jurisdiction of any British court it was hoped to avoid the legal
problems raised by Admiral Owen.

The dates involved are also significant: Ibbetson sent his
letter of justification on 25 April 1832. On 30 March 1832, less
than a month before, notice had reached him that the legalism
used by Governor Fullerton to close the courts of the Settie-
ments was invalid. 1bbetson felt bound to re-open the courts,
which he did on 9 June 1832 (although the new Recorder, B, H.
Malkin, did not actually arrive until 12 February 1833),3!

There is ample evidence that Tbbetson mistrusted the label
“piracy” to justify political action. When Samuel G. Bonham,
then Resident Counsellor at Singapore (he became Governor
of the Straits Settlements himself before the decade ended),
suggested a “pirate-hunting” expedition to Trengganu as a
means of reminding the Thai of British interests on the East
coast, Ibbetson refused.® Ignoring the talk of piracy,lbbet-
son’s grounds for refusal to send British forces to the waters
off Trengganu rested on his interpretation of the Burney Treaty
of 1826. He felt that Article {2 was intended to stop the British
extending their influence north of Pahang on the East coast as
a quid pro gquo for the Thai agreeing in Article 14 to withhold
consolidating their authority in Perak or any territory south of
Perak on the West coast. It looked for the moment as if the
British officials in Penang did not intend to try to use the con-
cept of “piracy” to cover political advances in the Malay
Peninsula and preferred to treat with the Thai as equal sover-
eigns in a single systenm of law.,

30f4., pp. 309-310, letter from Ibbetson to the Government of Bengal
dated 25 April 1832. On Admiral Owen's responsibilities see Morse,
Chronicles, Vol. IV, pp. 286-289; Fox, 28-30.

311 Kyshe Ixxi - bxxii, Ixxvi

323(1) Burney 317, 319, letters from Bonham to Ibbetson dated 9 August
1832 and from Ibbetson to Bonham dated 28 August 1832,
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It was during this period that the borders of Province
Wellesley were redefined much to the advantage of the British.
n a letter dated the same day as the signing of the new agree-
ment, 2 November 1831, the Thai official charged with the
negotiation, the Chao Phya Ligor, wrote to Lord Beninck,
Governor-General of India, that he had given much to the
British in the new boundary agreement in order to gratify “the
Raja of Singapore and Captain Low”—Ibbetson and the
Superintendent of Police in Province Wellesley. He proposed
2 mutual defense treaty between Penang and Kedah and close
co-operation in capturing and turning over to the other political
offenders.3® This Thai attempt to involve the British more
closely in peninsular potitics, if such it was, seems to have been
ignored. The Thai concessions on the Province Wellesley
border seem to have been accepted by the British with gratitude
expressed, if at all, only in a formal way. There is no mention
in later correspondence of any moral or other reason for co-
operating with the Thai in peninsular matters beyond the
express commitments of the Burney Treaty, and indeed, as has
been seen, talk of sending British pirate-hunting expeditions
to waters near the Thai-dominated territories of Kelantan and
Trengganu persisted in some quarters among British officialdom
in the Straits Settlements specifically to discourage the Thai
from too great activity.

One of the reasons for the lack of gratitude on the part of the
British for Thai concessions on the Province Wellesley border,
less apparent than the general mistrust of this non-European
people and the continuing fear of Thai designs on territory
which the British were coming to regard as their exclusive pre-
serve under theories of paramountcy (see Part II below), was
a trick of mind that deserves mention. It is notable throughout
British internal discussions concerning the Province Wellesley

39/, pp. 298,300, The text of the Agreement is alsoin Aitchison 123 and
Maxwell and Gibson 206.
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boundary and was the chief British negotiating point in asking
for more territory to be carved out of Kedah for British adminis-
tration that the territory was needed to permit adequate
policing of the old Province Wellesley. The British police
officials felt that in the absence of a “‘natural” boundary to
Province Wellesley, malefactors could escape British territorial
jurisdiction by skipping over the boundary with ease. But no
thought at all seems to have been given the possibility of
reducing rather than expanding Province Wellesley to a more
easily policed area. In 1845 the Governor of the Straits Settle-
ments asked his Bengal superiors for authority to seek stili
another concession from the Thai in order to straighten out
what was felt to be an irregularity in the Province Wellesley-
Kedah border. Again, no thought seems to have been given the
possibility of retroceding part of the 1831 concession to pro-
duce the regularity felt to be desirable for policing the territory
for which the British considered themselves responsible.34

Of course, as a matter of internal politics it is always easier
to seek concessions from a foreign government than to give up
rights believed in by part of an official’s constituency. The
merchant and planter community of Province Wellesley would
have undoubtedly been strongly opposed to any yielding of
even inchoate rights that might have any economic value.
Furthermore, retroceding land to the Thai is not likely to have
produced order along the boundary since Thai policing was not
as effective as British and mobite bands would still have been
able to base themselves in Thai territory to escape British
policing. and skip to British territory to escape Thai expeditions.
But the fatter problems would remain regardless of the location
of the border until the entire job of policing, on both sides, was
put under some coordinated control. For that coordinated

244(2) Burney 155 et seq., letter from Governor Butterworth to the

Government at Bengal dated 31 January 1845, farwarding related cor.
respondence.
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controf the British sought their own territorial expansion, but
never seriously considered accepting the Thai invitation to
negotiate some cooperative policing system at this time. The
Thai internal constituency seems to have been as strong-willed
as the British in fact, and the attempt at boundary negotiations
in 1845 did not succeed.

B. THE END OF “PIRACY” IN KEDAH

In other places | have examined in some detail the process by
which ““piracy”, a crime that in Europe was considered to be
able to occur (by definition) only on the high seas ot in territory
outside the jurisdiction of any sovereign, was by 1830 acknow-
ledged by British officials in India and the Malay Archipelago
1o be applicable to depredations in the land territory of the
Malay Peninsula.?s This development, giving British officials
a means free of judicial interference to mingle in the political
events of the Malay Peninsula, wasclimaxed by the correspond-
ence following a “pirate-hunting™ expedition led by Captain
Low in 1827 at the order of Governor Fullerton. In that
correspondence the Supreme Government at first took the
view that “piracy” within the land territory of the Thai or the
Malay Sultan of Perak was a definitional impossibility, but
receded from that position when informed that the suspected
“pirate” had been proved by captured documents to be a bad
character and that the expedition occurred in Perak territory
with the permission of the Sultan of Perak. While the British
action in foreign territory with the permission of the
Jocal sovereign may have been justifiable at international faw
even in Europe at this time, the use of the labe} “piracy” in that
context carried legal implications regarding the punishment to
be meted out to the depredator that were not justifiable. The
result was a confusion as to legal rights; the Penang officials
felt authorized to treat some people as “pirates” who techni-

3Rubin, Personality, Chs. IV.A, V1B and IX; Piracy, passim.
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cally did not merit that label;: Al has:been pointed out, the
Penang officials, while feeli had to yield to the
sophistication of the senjof. British siaval authorities when
trying to use the label too broadly ta justify suppressive action
in the Peninsula, and were&gﬂ’n 'ayp;ehensive about what
they regarded as the blind legalisms of British judges in cases of
supposed “piracy”. In 1811 the Penang court had sent accused
pirates back to Calcutta for trial,38:but by 1827 Governor
Fullerton was using the lack of admiralty jurisdiction in the
Penang courts as an excuse for-hunting down suspected pirates
and d ing of them without:judicial review. In Fullerton’s
view, Malay officials acting outside their own territory, whether
on the high seas or in the territory of some other peninsular
sovereign, could be considered pirates:

{Flor a noted pirate, one of the common enemies of mankind
whom we are bound to destroy to be allowed to appear in a
Municipal Court against an Act committed in a sovereign capa-
city beyond iss jurisdiction is a novel idea certainly.?? [Emphasis
added]

The awkward wordingis testimony to the depth of Fullerton’s
feeling.

The “pirates” involved in the correspondence of 1827 were
Kudin, the nephew of ex-Sultan Taju'd-din of Kedah, and
Nakhoda Udin, who held fetters of authority from the Chao
Phya Ligor.3® The peninsular area involved was the tract
between the Krian and Kurau Rivers along the border between
Kedah and Perak.®® Kudin was killed in 1829 during the up-

3R, v. Noquedah Allong and ors., 2Ky. 3.

372(6) Burney 245, letter from Fullerton and Ibbetson to Lord Comber-
mete, Vice-President of Bengal, in Council dated 27 August 1827, at p. 249,

34For the full tale see Rubin, Personality, Ch. IX.A.

39The British viewed this area as part of Perak; the Thai and ex-Sultan of
Kedah viewed it as part of Kedah, Burney convinced the Thai to permit
Fullerton to examine the evidence and determine the question as mediator
between Kedah and Perak, which (surprisingly) was done with results (not
surprisingly) favorable to Perak.
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rising seeking to restore Taju'd-din to the throne of Kedah and
Nakhoda Udin, the agent of the Thai in seeking to oust Taju'd-
din’s supporters from the Kurau-Krian area, had been forced
to flee to Ligor and disappeared from peninsular politics soon
after %0

The struggle to define the authority of British officials in the
Straits Settlements to act o suppress ‘“‘piracy” reached a
climax during the last years of the decade of the 1830s and
first of the 1840's as the Kedah succession was again fought
over, Only this time the courts in the British colony had
admiralty jurisdiction, so the clash between political and legal
officers of Government could be fought out close to the scene
of action.

Kenneth Murchison succeeded Tbbetson as Governor of the
Straits Settlements in 1833. In 1836 Murchison reported to
Bengal that Taju'd-din, now near 70 years old, had got a two
months advance on his stipend and left British territory for
Bruas in Perak, where he was attempting to stir up fresh in-
trigues against the Thai in Kedah.4! Taju’d-din’s immediate
plans to stir up a concerted Malay effort against the Thai fell
through, largely for lack of Perak's support as the British
convinced the Sultan of Perak to withhold active help. The
British determined to withhold his annuity from Taju’d-din as 2
lever to get him to leave Perak for Malacca.®? Predictably,
Taju'd-din preferred dignified misery in Perak to abandoning
his life-long aim of returning to Kedah as Sultan. Things
reached a crisis point shortly after Samuel Bonham assumed
the Government of the Straits Settlements as Murchison’s

404(2) Burney 118, James Low (now a Major) to William I. Butterworth,

Governor of the Straits Settlements, report dated 4 February 1844, at pp.
122-124.

413(2) Burney 378 ef seq., 385 et seq., letters from Murchison to the
Government at Bengal dated 28 (18 %) April and 25 June 1836.

42/d., pp. 385 at 387-388; p. 393, letter from the Government of Bengal
to Murchison dated 24 October 1836.
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successor. On 29 April 1837 Bonham reported to Bengal that
he had been:
necessitated in consequence of the conduct of the Ex Rajah of
Quedah to remove him forcibly from Bruas, and . . . he is now
in the harbour on board his own brig . . . under the guns of Her
Majesty’s Sloop Zebra. 3

In fact, it appears that Taju’d-din had issued a call for all
Muslims to invade Kedah; it had required a bloody battle with
300-400 of his Malay followers for the British to seize the ex-
Sultan.44

Despite the physical removal of ex-Sultan Taju’d-din the
situation did notstay quiet. By mid 1838 two nephews of Taju'd-
din, Tuankus Mohamed Saad and Mohamed Taib, of whom
we shali read much more in the next few pages, had established
themselves at the Merbow River in Kedah and begun to tax or
plunder {depending on whose version of legitimate sovereignty
in Kedah is accepted) the surrounding peasants. Conscious
of the Thai suspicion that the British in Penang supported
Tajw'd-din’s pretensions and efforts to recover Kedah,
Governor Bonham sent H. M. 8. Wolf to go to the area. He
instructed Captain Stanley of the Wolf to assist the Thai if he
should find Mohamed Saad or Mohamed Taib “at sea engaged
in combat with the Siamese”. %> Although Captain Stanley
reported the Thai to be in no alarm and expecting reinforce-
ments, Governor Bonham thought that some British interven-
tion was called for by Article 13 of the Burney Treaty of 1826
as well as by wise policy “to remove from our immediate

4314, pp. 396 et seq., letter from Bonham to the Bengal Government
dated 29 Aprit 1837.

4414, p. 403 for Taju'd-din’s proclamation, The battle to capture him is

described in Captain McCrea’s report 10 Sir T, Bladen Capell, Command-
r-im Chief East Indian Stetion, dated 25 April 1837, reprinted i, p-

“Id 5. 443, Instructions dated 22 July 1838; pp. 444 er seq., letter from
Bonham o the Bengal Government dated 30 July 1838,
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vicinity a confederacy injurious to our commerce which dis-
turbs the internal peace and welfare of this settlement™. Know-
ing the Admiralty’s views about piracy, however, and the Thai
sensitivity to British operations in the territory of Kedah; and
being wary of appearing to act in Kedah as an ally of the Thai
rather than merely an independent British officer discharging
British tteaty obligations, Bonham proposed to act only at sea
and not to permit a British engagement on land after the battle
commenced. To better qualify his actions against the leaders of
the ex-Sultan’s party Governor Bonham tried to classify one
of them a ““subject of the British Government”™ by virtue merely
of his holding lands in the Straits Settlements (emphasis
Bonham’s); he tried to deny the basic political motivation of
the supposed ‘‘pirates” by asserting repeatedly that their
object was just plunder.4®

To take advantage of the supposed British nationality of

some of Mohamed Saad’s people Governor Bonham issued a
proclamation on 27 July 1838 that:
All persons professing to be British subjects are hereby re-
quired to withdraw themselves from the Siamese territory . . .
otherwise they will be considered as having forfeited all claim to
protection as subjects .. .47

Clearly, the legal lever applicable to control the actions of
British subjects abroad was felt to be less powerful in action
than it was in contemplation; the threat to withhold protection
was hardly likely to influence people fighting the Thai beyond
the reach of British gunboats, particularly when the British
were known to be bound by Treaty to support the Thai.

The “pirates” whose aim was just plunder according to
Governor Bonham conquered the seat of government in Kedah
on 2 August 1838 and Bonham predicted they would disperse
after looting the state. But the plundering rebels refused to

814, pp. 444 et seq.

d.p. 455,
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confine their acts to private plunder despite Governor Bonham's
constantly calling them pirates. On 13 August [838 they pro-
claimed Tuanku Abdullah, the eldest son of Taju'd-din, Sultan
of Kedah and commerce between Kedah and Province
Wellesley seems to have been opened despite British officiat
attempts to keep the border closed. 48

Although Governor Bonham attributed the new regime's
success to the remissness of the Thai alone he asked permission
to help the Thai by fighting on land in Kedah in order to dis-
charge what he still felt were British obligations under the
Burney Treaty ‘‘not to permit” Taju’d-din’s party to disturb
Kedah.4¢

In fact the situation was far more complex than admitted by
Bonham at this time. The Thai had actually cited the Burney
Treaty in June 1838, (just before Captain Stanley had reported
there was no alarm in Kedah), requesting the Britishto drive the
irates’ from the seas, asserting them to be basing themselves
in British territory for their attacks on Kedah and asserting the
Thai inability to defeat them to be a result of the sanctuary in
Province Wellesley which the British, the Thai believed, were

4814, pp. 460-463, letter from Bonham to the Bengal Government dated
6 August 1838; proclamation pp. 470-471. Governor Bonham felt it was
legally impossible to close the border, presumably because the Burney
Treaty provided for trade between Kedah and Province Wellesley in its
Articie 13. Why the trade term was considered to apply in circumstances
certainly not envisaged by the Treaty is not clear. The Treaty of 1800-1802
between the British and Taju’d-din's uncie, by which the British first ac-
quired Province Wellesley, has no term requiting the British to permit
trade. Maxwel} and Gibson 98. Perhaps Bonham's legal view related to
Iack of an ordinance in Bengal or in the Straits Settlements closing the
border—but that should have been an easy lacuna to fill unless com-
munity sentiment in Penang was so strong that Government action along
those lines would have raised serious morale probiems; but if that were the
case, the difficulty was not legal but administrative. Closing the border was
the problem, not passing an ordinance through the appointed Council,

4914, pp, 460-463, letter from Bonham to the Bengal Government dated
6 August 1838.
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not policing effectively (1).5¢ Furthermore, as Bonham was
forced te admit later, the bulk of the British population of
Penangand Province Wellesley, European and Malay, favoured
Taju’d-din over the Thai in Kedah; the Penang merchants were
profiting greatly from selling arms to Malays.51

The British in Bengal disagreed with Governor Bonham both
as to his use of the concept of “piracy” and as to his recommen-
dation that the British commit themselves to land action in the
Peninsula. On 26 September 1838 the Secretary to Govern-
ment in Bengal told Borham®? that the proclamaticn of 27 July
was approved but recognized that no penalties were saddled on
British subjects who ignored the requirement to withdraw from
Thai territory, that there was a possibility that principles of free
movement for British subjects might make it impossible politi-
cally to have an ordinance passed in Penang (or elsewhere) to
restrict the activities of British subjects in foreign territory, and
that the international law of piracy could not supply the lack
of legal basis for compelling British subjects (or others) to
refrain from political adventures in the Peninsula. The Benga}
authorities therefore proposed that the penalty for British sub-
jects disobeying the “requirement” be to turn them over to the
Thai to be tried for offences committed in Thai territory (pre-
sumably including all of Kedah, even that part under the effec-
tive control of Mohamed Saad). The Government of Bengal
did not consider the possibility that it might violate fundamen-
tal principles of English law to extradite in this way British
subjects to a country with whom there was no extradition treaty
and concerning which no ordinance existed with effect in British

304, pp. 473 et seq., letter from Chao Phya Pra Klang in Bangkok to
Governor Bonham dated 24 June 1838.

S1d., pp. 484 et seq., 505 et seq., letters from Bonham to the Secretary
of the Bengal Government dated 31 December 1838 and 21 January 1839,
5214.,pp. 478 et seq.
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municipal law.53 In response to Governor Bonham’s comments
about the Malay who held land in the Straits Settlements,
Bengal indicated that land-holding was a sufficient basis for
him to be treated as a British subject, although no coherent
argument was given for this extraordinary view. Acknow-
ledging that the legal authority of the Straits Settlements
Government was inadequate to deal with British nationals
disobeying the decree of 27 July, Bengal indicated that
consideration was being given there to passing some sort of law
imposing sanctions for engaging in prohibited activities
“committed in the territory of our allies”. With regard to
military action, Governor Bonham was forbidden to engage in
any land-based action, but was authorized to cooperate with the
Thai at sea, even to blockading the coast of Kedah and Perlis
and accepting surrenders at sea of those fieeing the Thai, For
humanitarian reasons individuals (as opposed to places)
surrendering to the British were not to be delivered to the Thai
for barbarous treatment. Tt is a bit difficult to reconcile this
last instruction with the authorization to turn over to the Thai
British subjects who engaged in fighting against the Thai (or
British subjects who merely failed to quit Thai territory,
if the proclamation and the instructions on implementing are
read literally). It may be presumed that the extradition instruc-
tions were never intended to be carried out but were intended
merely to give Governor Bonham a threat to hold over the
heads of British subjects involved in intrigues in Kedah,

Blockade ships were made available to the Penang authori-
ties and on 7 December 1838 the Commander of the sloop
Hyacinth posted in Kedah a proclamation that “‘the whole

$3The Crown was at this time, and still is, without power at common law,
i.e., without the authority of a Pasliamentary Act, to arrest a fugitive
critminal of any nationality and turn him over to another state. The power
was first conferred on the Crown by the Extradition Act, 1870, 33 & 34
Vict. ¢. 52. See Clarke, 126 er seq. See also O'Connell, 793 esp. note 13.

Even under the Extradition Act, the extradition of * polmcal offenders™
i3 not authorized.
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coast . . . is hereby . . . under effective blockade.”5* With
regard to enacting legislation to inhibit the actions of British
subjects in the Peninsula, Governor Bonham wrote that the
legal problem was made extremely knotty by the involvement
of Europeans in the support of Mohamed Saad and his party
in Kedah. The basis for his distinguishing in law between
British subjects of European ancestry and those of other ances-
try is not clear, but it may have had something to do with his
suspicion that British subjects of European background were
fikely to call on the British courts citing Magna Carta and
other historical documents limiting the authority of the
Crown over British subjects (of whatever ancestry). Since the
trade in arms was proceeding through Province Wellesley it was
not subject to interception by the naval blockade. Bonham
suggested an enactment prohibiting any trade with insurgents,
noting that it should be drafted with excruciating care as it
“will have to undergo the ordeal of an English Court of
Justice, %%

On 7 March 1839 the Thai swooped in and reconquered all
of Kedah; on 6 April they took Perlis. Mohamed Saad and
Mohamed Taib escaped to Province Wellesley.58

While affairs in Kedah were progressing the views held by
the British political officials with regard to “‘piracy” were
undergoing a rapid evolution. It may be remembered that in

543(2) Burney 490. The declaration and the fanguage about “effective™
were legal requirements stemming from the customary international law of
war at sea as it had evolved in Europe. The applicability of these technical
rules of international law in areas unfamiliar with the European practices
dated back at least to the wars with revolutionary France, when the British
blockade of France was held notto apply to North_African vessels in
the absence of i and some ) to0 make
continved trade at least risky. See The Hurtige Haune, 3 C. Rob. 324, 165
E. R. 480 (1801); The Betsy, 1 C. Rob, 93{1798).

533(2) Burney 484 ef seq., 505 et seq.., letters dated 31 December 1838 and
21 January 1839. The quoted language is from the latter at p. 507, The Act
was eventually passed in Bengal as Act X of 1839.

281, pp. 524, 528-529, reports from the Commander of H.M. Sloop
Hyacinth to Governor Bonham dated 20 March and 11 April 1839.
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1832 Governor Ibbetson had rejected the suggestion made by
Bonham when Bonham was merely Resident Counsellor at
Singapore that a “pirate-hunting” expedition be sent to the
Trengganu coast to intimidate the Thai. Now Bonham was
Governor and in 1838 there was in fact a British patrol off
Trengganu hunting “pirates.”? But while there were in fact
depredators operating in waters near Trengganu who may in-
deed have been “pirates” by the traditional definitions of the
word,5® British naval officers in the area had real doubts about
calling the expeditions fed by Mohamed Saad by that name.
One such officer, Sherard Osborn, later to be appointed
Commander-in-Chief of the Chinese Navy that died at birth
in 1863,59 referred to Mohamed Saad’s fieet of 1838 as “styled
by us a piractical one™ and noted:
[Allthough many of the leaders were known and avowed
pirates, still the strong European party at Penang maintained
that they were lawful belligerents battling to regain their own.

The East India Company and Lord Aukland, then Governor-
General of India, took however an adverse view of the Malay
claim to Quedah, and declared them pirates, though upon what
grounds no one seemed very well able to show 88
Whether or not Osborn was correct in relating the views of
Lord Aukland (there is nothing in the official correspondence
of 1838-1839 indicating the Supreme Government to have
determined that Mohamed Saad and his men were 1o be
labelied *“pirates”), it does appear that Governor Bonham in
Singapore arranged with the Thai that all armed Malay prahus
in the Kedah area during the period of the British blockade
were to be treated as pirates. It also appears that some of the

370sborn 20, 22,

A very full rundown of British actiities in the Malay Archipelago to
suppress what seems to have been true piracy. i.e., robbery atsea by a sec-
g;gﬂ:e‘:;] without any state authority and for private ends, is in Mills,

592 Morse, Foreign Relations 35 et seq.
#0sborn 22,
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Malays captured by the British blockaders perceived the Jegal
difference between “warlike” and “piratical” character and
argued the impropriety of the British action.8!

Thus, it appears that British administrators at the highest
local levels, the Governor of the Straits Settlements and
possibly even the Governor-General of India, were willing by
1839 to return to the practice of 1827, abandoned in the early
1830's. of labelling Malay claimants to political authority in
the Peninsula as “pirates” in order to be able to justify British
intervention without running the difficult course of seeking
legislation in the British community necessary at British muni-
cipal law to authorize suppressing them. The declared policy
of non-intervention in peninsular affairs was evaded by citing
international law to authorize action that would not be author-
ized under the English law limiting the Crown’s powers,
British naval authorities, whatever their doubts, were subordi-
nate to British political officials, and therefore served as agents
in the suppression,

But British judges were (and are) not subordinate to British
administrators. On 2 July 1840 Mohamed Saad was captured
in Province Wellesley and on 26 October 1840 he was tried at
Penang on a charge of “Piracy™, Sir William Norris, Recorder,
presiding.52

A single specificact of “*piracy™ wasalleged against Mohamed
Saad and his companions: That they forcibly captured a Malay
boat of $150 value, putting the crew in terrorem, while on navi-
gable waters. This was equivalent to a charge of robbery with-
in the jurisdiction of the admiralty and outside the territorial
jurisdiction of the historical common law courts of England.

S, pp. 29, 86.

624(2) Burney 7, letter from Bonham to the Secretary to the Government
in Bengal dated 26 January 1841; R, v. Tunkoo Mahomed Saad and ors.
{Penang, 26 October 1840), 2 Ky. 18.
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Since 1536 it was the proper accusation to bring in a British
court in cases of suspected piracy 5% Mohamed Saad's princi-
pal defence was that he was not a pirate by British municipal
law or by international law but an agent of a foreign sovereign
(the Sultan of Kedah) committing an act of war. From this
premise he argued that he should be treated not as a criminal
at British municipal law, but as a prisoner of war at customary
international law. To further support his being not subject to
the municipal law of England when performing his supposed
piracies, he alleged that he was not a British subject, British
obligations under the Burney Treaty were in no way applicable
to him, either by British municipal law or international law
since Kedah, a sovereign state fully independent of both
Great Britain and Thailand, not bound by that Treaty and
the people of Kedah, of whom Mohamed Saad argued he was
one. were under no legal obligation to abide by the wishes
of the British or the Thai, Futhermore, neither British muni-
cipal law nor international law forbids revolutions in a
second state. He may have violated Thai law if Thai law
ever extended to Kedah, but not British law. In a long
and scholarly submission based squarely on international
law as perceived and applied in Europe. J. R. Logan as attorney
for the defendents citied Grotius, Milton and Vattel, and
analogized between the Malay rebels in Kedah and the Barons
rebelling against King John in thirteenth century England and
the Dutch rebelling against the Spanish Habsburgs at the end
of the sixteenth century. He pointed out that the international
law defining piracy, and exempting the agents of non-European
sovereigns from the punishments visited on pirates, had been
applied in Europe in favor of the Barbary states and their

#35ee 28 Hen. 8, ¢. 15. Later acts amended the definition of piracy but
not in ways pertinent to note in this place.
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corsairs,84

n 2 November 1840 the Recorder delivered his decision to
the preliminary, jurisdictional points raised by Mohamed
Saad, Brushing over the subject of nationality and not even
mentioning that any of the defendents might own land in
Penang, he conceded Mohamed Saad to have been an alien;
but while being an alien might mean that he was not within the
reach of British legislation it did not mean that he was outside
the territorial jurisdiction of a British court to hear argument
on the issue. Since no other court existed which could more
conveniently hear the evidence, and since the legal implications
of the facts must be considered somewhere, according to his
reasoning there was prima facie jurisdiction in a British court,
Sir William’s reasoning seems weak in this argument, since
it is by no means self-evident that all supposed infractions of
law, even of international law, must be heard before the court
of some specific sovereign. More than evidence of a sound
legal position his argument seems evidence of the European
penchant at this time to spread order through the interstices of
state jurisdiction, to fili with Europzan concepts of law the lacu-
nae in the pattern of world order the better to accommodate the
new phenomenon of world trade 85 Since the commission of a
state can be ded, and the ission may open
a privateer to a charge of piracy according to sound prece-

#4[n this Logan was disingenuous. Views in Europe differed from time
to time and from author to author and state to state as to whether the
state anthority of the Barbary states could be legally interposed between
their agents and European powers seeking to treat those agents as pirates.
Sce Mossner 1-33, 148-166 for a summary of European views and state
practice from about 1600 to the present.

afl"hls - penchant persists. C( Lord Asqu!lh 's award in the Abu Dhabi Oil

1951), 1 Ce Law Quarterly (1952)
247, holding the municipa! law of [ngland to be the “modern law of
nature” by which a contract between a Persian Gulf Sheikhdom and a pri-
vate company was to be interpreted. Lord Asquith considered that the
contract itself provided agains the application of English law, but applied
itanyhow!
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dent,88 and, although the prosecutor’s office may withhold pro-
secution in a delicate case there are no English precedents for
a court refusing to hear a piracy case merely because the accused
alleges himself to be acting under the commission of a foreign
state, Sir William concluded that the plea to jurisdiction must
fail,

Having been defeated in the plea to jurisdiction, the defendent
submitted an amended defense. Alleging basically the same facts,
the defense denied that the facts fitted the mold of the legal con-
cept of piracy. Sir Wiiliam then formulated the issues for the
jury whose function it was (as it still is) to determine facts and
apply those facts to the law as formulated by the judge, thusto
conclude on the legal *“guilt” or “innocence” of the defendent.

As formulated by Sir William the central issue was whether
Mohamed Saad and his friends acted as agents of a govern-
ment; he accepted the postulate that public authority can
authorize the use of force against others to protect the agents
from the legal result of being considered pirates. Mohamed
Saad and his friends were found not guilty under this instruc-
tion. His confederates were all refeased. Mohamed Saad him-
self was held as a prisoner of war by the British authorities and

€88ir William Norris cited R. v. Kidd (1701), 14 How St. Tr. 145, and R
v. Potts (1781), Russ.and Ry. 353, on this point. The citations are reversed
in the report and the Potls case is clearly irrelevant and misdated. The re-
porter used by Norton Kyshe seems to have confused the Potts case with
some other. R. v. Kidd is relevant, although also miscited. Captain William
Kidd relied on two commissions from King William 111 to justify his
supposed piracies and the court rejected that defense in each of the several
times it was brought up on the ground that Kidd had so far exceeded the
commissions (which were to take only French ships and *“Pirates™) that he
could not purport < have acted under them. The texts of the commissions
appear in {4 How. St. Tr. 169-173. Kidd's defense was that the ships he
plundered were aclual]y French, but he could not produce credible evidence
to support that contention. The court instructed the jury as to the law as
follnws

. Whilst men pursue their commissions they must be justified; dut
when they do things not authorized, or never acted by them, it is as if there
had been no commission at all”. /d., col. 186.

Captain Kidd was convicted for seven specific acts of piracy and one
murder {of a crewman in his own ship}, and was hanged.
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habeas corpus was denied on 5 November 1840 on the ground
that his defense to the accusation of piracy, accepted by the
jury, was that he was a public enemy of the Crown, and that it
was proper to hold public enemies in captivity at executive dis-
cretion. He was taken to India for three years and returned
to the Straits Settlements in November 1843 where he was
released.?

At this point, to understand the impact of the decision in the
Mohamed Saad case on the law of piracy as applied by British
administrators in the Malay Archipelago, a (urther detour into
legal theory is necessary.

The relation between the law applied to defendents in na-
tional courts and the law of nations is complex. On the surface
English courts apply only English municipal law. To the extent
the faw of nations has been adopted in rules of law applied by
English courts it has become part of the municipal law of
England. But there are two subtle corollaries of this basic
position. First, in some cases the municipal law of England
may claim to be silent on a substantive matter, adopting some
other law, which may be international law, to determine the
substantive rule to be applied in a case. This situation, not as
uncommon as might be supposed, is a special subject of study
by itself, called “Conflict of Laws” for convenience. The
English conflict of laws rule may be to measure some cases of
suspected piracy by international law.® Second, the municipal
law of England applied in a case with public international law
aspects becomes part of the ““practice of states” which scholars
look to to determine what is the “opinio juris sive necessitatis”,
the underlying conviction of tegal judgment that, in gross, makes
up the body of substantive rules considered to be public inter-
national law. Thus, a definition of the law of piracy applied in
English municipal law becomes evidence of what the law of

672 Ky. 71-72,74.
38E.g., In re Piracy Jure Gentium {1934] A.C. 586.
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piracy is at public international law,

In this second sense, the decision of 8ir William Norris in
R. v. Mohamed Saad and ors, had importance. In 1840
England was the dominant maritime power in the world, and
the English municipal law view of piracy was extremely influ-
ential in determining the public international law of piracy
particularly when the English judges purported to be appiying
the public international law of piracy in a conflict of laws
situation.

But to understand the impact of the decision it is necessary
to trace the parallel threads of English and public international
law concepts of piracy prior to 1840. In other writings cited
above | have traced the development of the international law ol
piracy and its application in the Malay Peninsula by British
administrators to justify political interference within the terri-
tory of Malay Sultans up to 1830. In doing so, I indicated that
the legal results of “piracy” purportedly derived from public
international law were applied to facts different from the facts
to which the label “piracy™ was attached by public interna-
tional fawyers, and that by 1827 the British authorities in
Penang had convinced the Supreme Government that political
action in the Peninsula could be legally justified in this way. 1
also pointed out that by taking this view the British deprived
the Malay Sultans of a right to interpose between their subjects
and foreign sovereigns which the British sovereign, and it may
be supposed all European sovereigns, reserved for themselves.
At the same time that British administrators were thus depri-
ving Malay Sultans of some of the international legal perguisites
of a sovereign, with a corresponding increase in the scope
for British political activity that was felt legally justifiable in the
Peninsula, the British administrators were holding the Malay
Sultans to an undiminished legal authority to cede rights and
make laws in their territories. In some cases the British (and
others) even attempted to hold the Malay chiefs to a responsi-
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bility to exercise a sovereign’s rights in his own territory which,
because of the constitution of some Malay societies, the appar-
ent “sovereign” did not possess.5®

1t may be supposed that the British lawyers trained in
English municipal law saw a distinction between the interna-
tional law of piracy, at which the British actions might be
justifiable, and the English municipal law of piracy, which
would demand different facts for a criminal conviction; ie.,
that international law authorized the British action against
accused “pirates”, but that English municipal law was deficient,
permitting some “pirates” to escape formal punishment. It is
theoretically possible that the Malay Sultans were “pirate: " at
international law, justifying suppression, but not *‘pirat
defined in the criminal law of England. In fact that was not the
case: The judges of England purported to be applying inter-
national law in defining the municipal law of piracy in England
in some cases; apparently the British statutes defining piracy
were felt to be deficient in the matter of exculpation by reason
of the deyp holding a *ci i " or in some other
way exercising state authority as in the Mohamed Saad case,
and British judges felt that international law, by a conflict
of laws logic, could supply the legal basis for the exculpation;
furthermore, to the degree that English judges thought they
were applying any law of ““piracy”, their views became a state
practice accepted as law, and therefore part of the evidence of
what the substantive international law of piracy was. But the
acts of British administrators purportedly justified as necessary
to suppress “piracy” were evidence of the necessary conviction
of right only to the extent that circumstances of political ex-
pediency did not color their judgment. As has been pointed out,
the circumstances of the Malay Peninsula in the 1820°s (and

5This was particularly true in the handling of the Menangkabau com-
(munities in the Matay Peninsula. See Rubin, Personality, Ch. I1LB.1; 1875
LI 55-183, C. 1320 at pp. 11 &7 seq.
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after) were certainly such as to color the judgment of a con-
scientious British administrator and ample evidence exists that
itdidso.

But it is not necessary to rely on these psychological prob-
abilities to determine what the law of piracy was as conceived
by British judges and administrators in the Malay Archipelago
in the nineteenth century. The key question was always one of
the power of Malay Suitans or, as in Mohamed Saad’s case,
pretenders to sovereign authority, rebels, to prey on the trade
of others. The approaches taken by British courts and admini-
strators to the legal effectiveness of commissions authorizing
depredations on trade are extraordinarily interesting and re-
vealing both of the faw and of the complex interplay of law and
policy.

The law of England has always accepted the commissions of
the King of England as sufficient to exculpate anybody from a
charge of “piracy”. Cases exist in which the holder of the
King's commission has been convicted of piracy’® but only
when the commission has been proved to be exceeded. Despite
the fact that letters of marque or reprisal were issued by
which the privateers were to profit directly from their cap-
tures, the sovereign’s permission to engage on a course of de-
predation was conceived to remove from the depredator the
risk of being considered a ‘“‘pirate”. During the eighteenth
century, under political pressures from the new world it would
even appear that the revocation of letters of marque was not
always effective to end the privateers’ rights to prize in some
Colonial Courts of Admiralty—but those cases are excep-
tional.?! When the commissions were not revoked but merely
exceeded to the detriment of neutral (but not English) shipping
there were immense pressures from the privateers, who included
some of the wealthiest and most influential colonial families, to

7R, v. Kidd (1701), 14 How, St. Tr, 145,

71Pares, 42-48.
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uphold the capture and condemn it in prize proceedings regard-
less of the excess.”

When the commission was issued by a foreign sovereign the
position was clear to British officials in most cases. Where the
foreign sovereign was fully recognized, such as the King of
France, his commission would protect a privateer from the ac-
cusation of piracy, but not from conviction for high treason if
he were an Englishman.?® Where the foreign sovereign was one
whose position was less well known in England the question
seemed important enough in the late seventeenth century for
special reference. Finally, in 1680, Sir Leoline Jenkins, Judge
in Admiralty and Privy Counselior under James I, issued a
formal opinion that “Moors and Turks” be treated as lawful
combattants in war and not as pirates,”* The commissions of
non-European sovereigns were thus acknowledged to be as
worthy of respect as commissions of the King of France.

When the holder of a commission issued by an acknowledged
sovereign was directly involved in fighting against the capturing
country political passions made the legal situation more doubt-
ful, The most well known example of this sort of problem arose
during the struggles of Dom Antonio to regain the throne of
Portugal from Philip 1I of Spain in 1580-1595. French forces
fighting for Antonio under the authority of the King of France,
captured by Spain were treated as “pirates”, despite the mur-
murings of Spanish officers who feared reciprocal mistreatment,
and against the legal opinion of Alberico Gentili, the foremost
international lawyer of the time resident in England.?®

.. pp. 82-84., Some of the first families ofnghtccmh century America
owed their fortunes to privateering and smug; Beard, 2;
Preston, 2-3, 15-18,293-294. In general, naval servxcewas highly pmﬁtab]e
to officers in England and America in time of war. Cf. X
“Captain Wentworth . . . was confident that he should soon be rich:
soonhaveaship. .. that would fead to everything he wanted.”

7R, v. Vaughan and ors. (1696}, 13 How. 5t. Tr. 485,

742 Wynn 790-791, letter dated 11 February 1680,

75Gentili 26 (Book I, Ch. IV).
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In the early 1690's in England the question was presented
with great force in connection with the attempts of King James
11 to regain his throne. He commissioned privateers and his
ally, the King of France, also commissioned privateers to sail
against the forces of William and Mary. Eight privateers hav-
ing been captured, the king’s advocate, Dr. Oldish, was in-
structed to proceed against them as pirates and refused, giving
his written opinion that they were not pirates because sailing
under a commission issued by a king, therefore not acting
“animo furandi”, for private ends. Dr. Oldish and his col-
league Dr. Pinfold maintained that as a matter of international
law none can be considered pirates who act for some public
purpose, even one which rendered them liable for penalties
under the municipal law of treason. The “felonious intent”
would be missing for the crime of piracy to be shown. In
September 1693 Dr. Oldish and his colleagues were summoned
before the Cabinet Council with the Lords of the Council and
of the Admiralty present. Two of the six learned lawyers
called refused to give opinion, and two, Dr. Littleton and Dr.
Tindall, opposed the opinions of Drs. Oldish and Pinfold. The
council thereupon discharged Dr. Oldish and replaced him as
king's advocate with Dr. Littleton, who brought action against
the privateers as “pirates” and secured their conviction. It is
noteworthy that although some held their commissions from
the King of France and not James II, ail were convicted and
“some of them, if not all,” are reported to have been executed
as pirates.?

In the heat of debate Dr. Qldish’s central point, the lack of
the requisite intention to act for private gain, was never re-
solved explicitly. Instead, the Lords focussed on the legal im-
pact asserted for King James’s commission in England. The
Lords were horrified and nearly accused Dr. Oldish of high
treason:

7812 How. 81. Tr. 1276-1280.
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Sec. [Sir John] Trenchard, and Lord Faulkland, in great heat,
I—pray, doctor, let us deal more closely with you, for your
reasons are such as amount to high treason. Pray, what do you
think of the Abdication?

Dr. Oldish. That is an odious, ensnaring question; however
it may be, I think of the Abdication as you do; for since it is
voted, it binds at least in England; but those gentlemen were in
a foreign country, and knew nothing of it .. .77

In fact, the Lords were focussing on the municipal law of
England not on the international law of piracy at all. The turn-
ing point of the debate as reported by Dr. Tindall?® appears to
have accurred in the following exchange:

One of the Lords then demanded of Him (Dr. Oldish), If any
of their majesties’ subjects, by virtue of a commission from the
late king, should by force seize the goods of their fellow-sub-
Jects by land, whether that would excuse them from being
guilty at least of robbery? if it would not from robbery, why
should it more excuse them from piracy? To which he made no
reply. Then ‘the Lords asked Sir Thomas Pinfold and him,
Whether it were not treason in their majesties' subjects, to accept
a commission from the late king, to act in a hostile manner
against their own nation? Which they both owned it was .. .
The Lords further asked them, If the seizing the ships and
goods of their Majesties’s subjects were treason, why they
would not allow it to be piracy? because piracy was nothing
else but seizing the ships and goods by no commuission; or what
was all one, by a void or null one; and said, That there could
be no commission to commit treason, but what must be so: To
which they had had nothing to reply.

Dr. Tindali summed up his view of law saying:

These two . ., I believe, are the only persons pretending to
be lawyers, that are of opinion, That a king without a kingdom,
or right to one, has, by the law of nations, a right to grant com-
missions to privateers, especially if they are subjects . . . to that
king, against whom they, by their commissions, are to act.

"Hd., col. 1271.

“81d,, note beginning in col, 1271 at col. 1272, quoting from Dr. Tindall's
Essay Concerning the Law of Nations, pp, 2530,
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But the view so forcefully presented in the name of the law of
nations seems insupportable. In the first place, some of the
“pirates” held French commissions and the Council’s reason-
ing applied only to those who held James's commissions. The
answer to the first question that Drs. Qldish and Pinfold re-
fused to answer, concerning acts done under commission on
land, was surely that the actors would indeed have been no
robbers, but pillagers possibly violating rules of belligerency,
for which their sovereign would be responsible but probably
not they. It is understandable in the dangerous atmosphere of
1693, however, that the two doctors preferred not to risk their
own necks further by seeming to allow James Il a right to legis-
late in English tersitory. Secondly, Dr. Tindall and the Lords
of the Council and Admiralty were really arguing only the
power of an English court to try as pirates by English law those
whose crime was treason. The final qualification, “‘especially if
they are subjects . . . to that king against whom . . . they are to
act”, seems to confine the view of law taken by Dr. Tindall to
one involving treason as well as “piracy”. Only by neglecting
the circumstances and giving no weight to the full context of
words used by Dr. Tindali and the Lords can one conclude that
the British view of piracy in 1693 included acts done by rebels
against a foreign sovereign and not against English subjects or
property.

Looked at another way, the question may be whether one
who acts within the terms of a commission issued by a pretend-
er to sovereignty, and not for his own personal gain (except,
perhaps the personal gain that might come from fighting along-
side one who may achieve the power to reward his friends), can
have the necessary criminal intent. The doubts raised by Dr.
Oldish in this regard had been ignored, not answered, by the
Lords and Drs. Tindall and Littleton. In fact, in 1696 Sir
Charles Hedges instructing a jury in the High Court of Ad-
miralty, the same court that tried and convicted James's pri~
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vateers not three years before, laid down that piracy was
essentially the same as robbery and that a felonious intention
was necessary to the concept of the crime of piracy punishable
in England, and said further, “'the intention will . . . appear by
considering the end for which the fact was committed.”?%
Presumably the “end for which the fact was committed™
would have to be an end of private gain, as in robbery at
English law. A political end, even if evidence of an intention to
commit treason, would defeat a charge of “‘piracy” 80

The doubt raised by the question of commissions issued by
James 11 or Louis XIV to Englishmen to seize the ships and
goods of other Englishmen at sea were resolved in the munici-
pal law of England by statute in 1700:81

That if any of His Majesty’s natural-born Subjects or Deni-
zens of this Kingdom, shall commit any Piracy or Robbery, or
any Actof Hostility, against others His Majesty’s Subjects upon
the Sea, under colour of any Commission from any Person
whatsoever, such Offender and Offenders, and every one of
them, shall be deemed, adjudged, and taken to be Pirates,
Felons and Robbers; . .. and suffer such Pains of Death, Loss
of Lands, Goods and Chattels, as Pirates, Felons and Robbers
upon the Seas ought ta have and suffer.

It appears to be more nearly consistent with the evidence, and
the simpler view, to regard this provision as creating a special
rule of English municipal law and not as merely enacting for
English courts’ guidance an existing rule of international law.
Indeed, it seems quite clear that international law has never
accepted the British municipal law view that rebels are pirates.

79R..v. Joseph Dawson and ors. (1696), 13 How. St. Tr. 451 at 454-455.

#0A commission to take a thing will defeat the accusation of “Robbery”,

but an invalid commission raises other problems in the case of robbery
than it does in the case of piracy. Legally, only one sovereign can legisiate
interritory, while any i i is subjects of for anybody

ign can legislate for hi
aboard ships flying his fiag at sea, regardless of where at sea the legislation
takes effect. It is not proposed to analyse the law of robbery any more
closely in this place.

s111&12W.3,c. 7 sec. VIIL
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Since a legal result of ‘‘piracy” at international law is that all
states are bound to help hunt the malefactors down, many
states involved in civil disturbances have attempted to convince
the international community that parties of insurgents at sea
are “‘pirates”.82 Yet, once insurgency is conceded it would be
a violation of one of the basic rules of international law for
second states to intervene on either side except as allies in war.
To do otherwise would be to interfere in an internal affair of
the state within which the rivals are struggling for power.83
Since a legal result of attaching the label “*pirate” is to submit
the accused to the justice of any nation that catches him, to
have a rule forbidding second countries to capture him is in-
consistent with attaching the label, Therefore, the label cannot
be considered appropriate for political actions. This is not to
say that some other way cannot be used to save the goods of
innocent merchants from the excesses of rebels—but only that
itis not correct to cail those rebels ““pirates”,

Sir William Norris in the Mohamed Saad case expressly
adopted this view of international law and the restrictive muni-
cipal law interpretation given here of the statute of William ITf.

The Mohamed Saad decision was not a landmark ; it did not
electrify legal thinking in Great Britain; it was barely reported.
But it was part of a larger movement defining the international
law limiting the activities of colonial administrators in foreign
territory. Holding a commissioner of a Malay Suftan not to be
a pirate because lacking animo furandi gave to Malay Sultans
at least in English municipal law a power which British ad-
ministrators had been denying them in international law.

227 more or less recent astempt along that line was in 1961, when Portu-
ﬂm political adventurers seized the Portuguese pleasure ship Santa
fariq to bring world attention to their cause. Portugal labelled the adven-
turers “pirates”, but in fact nobody, even in Portugual, treated them as such

®3There are technical qualifications to the proposition stated above con-
' cerning premature recognition and possible rights to aid the old regime,
but it is not proposed 1o examine the minutiae of this side-issue in this place.
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Worse yet for the British expansionists, Mohamed Saad was
ot even the commissioner of a Malay Sultan, but of a preten-
der to Sultanic dignity against the claims of a rival (Thailand)
recognized, indeed supported, by the British Government. If
he was not pirate, then who would be other than the utterly
nonpolitical robbers of the Straits?

The answer to this question came in two highly influential
opinions of Admiralty courts in England. The first, issued in
1845, concerned claims put in by the complement of HM.S.
Dido under Admiral (then Captain) the Hon. Sir Henry Keppel
for bounty to be paid out of public money under British legisla-
tion of 18258 for the destruction of supposed pirates. The
“pirates” involved were the entire community of Malays in the
island of Serhassan, off the coast of Borneo, who were defeated
in coastal waters and reduced to obedience to Raja Brooke on
10 May 184335 The queen’s advocate opposed the claim for
bounty on the grounds that the Malays defeated do not appear
10 have been pirates within the contemplation of the statute.
The court, in a unanimous opinion, apparently including the
voice of Dr. Lushington, the leading British judge in admiralty
of the time, decided in favor of the claimants without bothering
to define piracy or its possible relation to sovereignty or com-
missions. “It . . . is sufficient, in my view of the question, to
clothe their conduct with a piratical character if they were
armed and prepared to commence a piratical attack upon any
other persons”.38 The vagueness of this decision was resolved
to some extent ten years later by Dr. Lushington®? who, in a
case involving insurgents stopping foreign vessels, found in-
surgents to be *“pirates”, and bounty money owing to the Royal

346 Geo. 4,¢. 49,

The accounts in 2 Keppel, Expedition 10 Borneo 2-10, and Keppel, 4
Sailor’s Life 294-298, differ from the account recited by the court.

s#Serhassan (Pirates) (1845) 2 W. Rob. 354, 166 E. R. 788.

#7The Magellan Pirates (1853) 1 Spink Ecc. & Ad. 81, 164 E. R.47.
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Navy people involved in action against them :88

It is true that where the subjects of one country may rebel
against the ruling power, and commit diverse acts of violence
with regard to that ruling power, that other nations may not
think fit to consider them as acts of piracy. But . .. it does not
follow that because persons who are rebels or insurgcnls may
commit against the ruling power of their own country acts of
violence, they may not be, as well as insurgents and rebels,
pirates also; pirates for other acts committed toward other
persons . espcclally if such acts were in no degree connected
with the insurrection or rebellion.

This unexceptionable reasoning goes very far indeed.
Applied to the facts in the Mohamed Saad case it seems to say
that rebels would cross the line defining piracy when they
attacked any ship not belonging to the authority they were
seeking to overturn. A possible implication, regardless of the
last phrase beginning “‘especially”, is that British merchants
might even be immune from blockades erected by rebels along
the coast of the country they sought to rule. Since the deter-
mination of which party was the rebel and which the legitimate
sovereign was one to be made by the British administrators
on the basis of British policy alone, a powerful weapon was
available to them to influence political events in places heavily
dependent upon sea-borne trade such as the Sultanates of the
Malay Peninsula. It appeared that British courts in England
might support some significant political action taken in the
name of suppressing piracy despite the decision of Sir William
Norris.

Dr. Lushington went even farther. In oft-quoted dicta in the
same place he wrote:

Even an independent state may, in my opinion be guilty of
. gl iratical acts. What were the Barbary pirates of oldent times?
hat many of the African tribes at this moment?. .. Are they

3This was under a different statute, 13 & 14 Vic., . 26 (1850), which
Fepealed and replaced the statute 6 Geo. 4,¢.49.
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not pirates, because, perhaps, their whole livelihood may not
depend on piratical acts? | am wel} aware that it has been said
that a state cannot be piratical; but I am not disposed to assent
to such a dictum as a universal proposition.

It is doubtful in fact that the “Barbary pirates of olden
times” were considered to be pirates by their European con-
temporaries. But the effect of legal pronouncements does not
always depend on the soundness of the history relied on by
judges. Tt is the willingness of other judges and of administra-
tors to be swayed by an opinion that makes a precedent
important. Dr. Lushington’s opinion in The Magellan Pirates
was immediately approved by that generation’s most highly
thought of British publicist, Sir Robert Phillimore, whose
C ies upon Int jonal Law was first published a year
after the opinion was delivered. While defining piracy to
include “animo furandi” he cited Serhassan { Pirates) and the
fast quoted paragraph of Dr. Lushington’s opinion in The
Magellan Pirates with approval, apparently allowing for the
legal possibility that some political communities need not be
considered “states”, i.e., might have no legal power to issue

issi if British ini chose to treat with them
differently. If not considered states, a politically organized
community could be considered a rather elaborate pirate band,
and suppressed accordingly. In contradistinction to this
treatment which Phillimore scems to allow to be meted out to
Africans and Asians, he absolves European privateers of the
imputation of “piracy” even when exceeding their commissions.
To Phillimore, the key appears to have been whether there was
a state standing behind the depredators to which a European
power could look for recompense. He did not feel that a Malay
Sultanate could be considered such a state.8®

%} Phillimore, Ch. XX, pp. 379-381, 392-393. The second edition of this
work, dated 1871, contains identical language beginning on p. 411 of Vol. L.

o
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These legal opinions of the mid-nineteenth century are not
outrageous if taken in context. The Malay Archipelago was
unsafe for commercial navigation. The political organization
of the Malay Sultanates was insufficient for them to be able to
deal with European powers on equal terms. Furthermore, it
cannot be said that any abstract value would have been preserv-
ed by European states abstaining from commercial traffic in
areas in which the politically organized societies with whom
they dealt (willingly on both sides) were unable to adjust their
habits to the commercial needs of a rapidly changing world.

In Penang the opinions of Sir William Norris were more
important than the opinions of Dr. Lushington. The Mohamed
Saad case was the precedent on which people would rely in the
Straits Settlements whatever opinions were held in England.
The result was that British administrators coming from other
parts of the Empire could honestly feel that they were suppress-
ing the evils of piracy, while the Malays of the Peninsula and
the long-term British residents of the Straits Settlements would
hold a different view. It became important to the administra-
tors to act on their convictions politicaily, but to keep the cases
out of the courts. Even if 2 British judge in the Straits Settle-
ments should take Dr. Lushington’s views and Sir Robert
Phillimore’s, the political results in the colony of appearing to
change the law in such a sensitive matter could be expected to
be enormous. Furthermore, common law judges being what
they are when confronted with inconsistent precedents, it was
clearly highly desirable to the administrators to avoid the
uncertainty that must surround a prosecution of a Malay
political figure for “piracy”.

The interplay between law and policy was most dramatically
evidenced at the time of the British advance of the 1870's. The
informal legal view of the chief judicial officer of the Straits
Settlements, Sir P. Benson Maxwell, asserting British actions
off Selangore in 1871 to involve *‘war” rather than the suppres-
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sion of “piracy”, was disputed by Lt. Col. A. E. H. Anson,
then chief administrator pro tem. of the colony.?® Anson had
served as Chief Justice pro tem. in Penang for a short time but
reported candidly years later that “as T had received no legal
education, [it] was a duty which T was not well qualified to
perform, and one I found very irksome”. He also noted that
“Much jealousy existed on the part of the judges of the Su-
preme Court towards the new [1867] Government of the
colony™.%! More to the point was the correspondence between
David Logan, Solicitor-General, and Sir Harry Ord, Governor
of the Straits Settlements in December 1872.92 On 22
December Logan signed an opinion formally advising Ord that
in order for an act to be considered piracy at international law
it must be committed by persons without lawful authority, and
be committed on the high seas, He strongly implied that a
firing on a British ship by a “piratical” junk *at the mouth of
the Perak River” was not piracy because committed within
the territory of Perak.?® The next day Governor Ord wrote
asking Logan to reconsider. His reasoning seems uscful as a
statement of the view of law on which the British expansion
was based:

Passing over for the moment the question whether the law of
civilized nations must be held to apply in its integrity to the
acts of peaple such as the Malays and Chinese . . . I should sub-
mit that the lawful authority of the Rajah of Laroot had been
forcibly superseded by no recognized Power, and that the eleven
junks which at a mile distant from the mouth of the river, fired
at the ‘Fair Malacca’ did not do so without a shadow of legal
right or authority? and, if this be so, does not this constitute

901872 LXX 661, C. 466 at pp. 38-40. Maxwell's letter appeared in
The Times 9 September 1871. Anson’s principal memorandum answering it
was dated 24 October 1871 and was addressed to the Earl of Kimberly,
Gladstone's Secretary of State for the Colonies.

*1Anson 288.

#1874 XLV 611, C. 1111, pp. 24-25.

9374, pp. 26-27. See also the similar advice given by Logan to Col. Anson
in September 1873, id., pp. 64-65.
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piracy, or at all events, furnish sufficient grounds for the inter-
vention of a man-of-war to remove them from their position,
and bring them into some . . . place where they may be afforded
an opportunity to establish their claim to have acted legally ?

The right of the British administrators to determine legal
authority by granting or withholding recognition was impliedly
asserted as well as the explicit extension of British law to an
area of water too close to land to constitute high seas. This
extension of British policing authority was, of course, a radical
departure from concepts of the inviolability of territory (includ-
ing territorial waters) held in Europe at the time. Also note-
worthy is the undercurrent, stated but carefully removed from
the logic of Governor Ord’s legal views, of the proper legal
relation between Europeans and non-Europeans being one of
rulers and ruled because of the different degree of “civilization”
in the two.

Logan’s reply accepted as a postulate Qrd’s statement that

the attacking junks had no lawful authority or right to commit
the attack on the **Fair Malacca™; he concluded from that that
it was “the duty of Government to send a man-of-war to en-
quire into the matter” and possibly even bring the junks into a
British port. But, he remained adamant about labeling them
“piratical”. He wrote that their character should be “judicially
inguired into™ before that conclusion could be reached. He
allowed that there may not have been time for such an enquiry,
but stated:
1 am not disposed, without more reliable evidence, to decide
that these junks were piratical, as such a conclusion, if correct,
might justify any man-of-war in dealing with them in the most
summary manner on the spot.

The implication in the word “any” was enough to frighten
any ioni inistrator. British - were not
the only ones on the seas, and Thai, German or other warships
might want to use reckless accusations of “piracy” to bring
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order to the Malay Peninsula.

Ord acted on Logan’s opinion. He ordered the naval arm to
ascertain the authority on which the accused junks acted, if any,
and in the absence of a satisfactory reply to bring them into
port for enquiry. The Solicitor-General’s opinion was given
to the commander of the British naval vessel ordered nor to
proceed to suppress piracy, but only to enquire into alleged
piracy and to bring in to a British port the “piratical junks™
if he were satisfied of the commission of the offense and the
identity of the junks.

When Sir Andrew Clarke succeeded Sir Harry Ord as
Governor of the Straits Settlements in 1873 a different view
of the legalities of British activities in the Peninsula soon be-
came apparent. Instead of foliowing the carefully phrased
views of Solicitor-General Logan, Sir Andrew relied on the
more aggressively permissive views of law taken by his
Attorney-General, Thomas Braddeil. J. W. W. Birch, Ord’s
Colonial Secretary, had written to the Secretary of the Singa-
pore Chamber of Commerce on 21 August 1872 in response to
a petition:

(1)t is the policy of Her Majesty’s Government not to inter-
fere in the affairs of these countries unless where it becomes
necessary for the suppression of piracy or the punishment of
aggression on our people or territories .. ¥

and expressly refused to commit the Government to defend the
person or property of traders venturing into the Peninsula at
that time, thus leaving suppression of “piracy” the only justifi-
cation that might persuade the colonial government to act
there. The Colonial Office in London approved this position. %
Thomas Braddell now had no difficulty justifying action in the
Peninsula on the very ground withheld by David Logan:
Piracy. Early in 1874 he wrote a long report on the proceed-

%444, p. 6.
9%d,, p. 7, letter dated 28 December 1872 from Lord Kimberley to Ord.
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ings of January of that year at Perak and Larut in which he
argued against the British policy of non-intervention and called
the forces of one of the contending Malay parties:

the sea forces, which had long overstepped the limits of war,
and . . . become piratical . . . On some occasions lately, the
pirates, after committing atrocious acts of piracy, . . . had es-
caped through the net-work of intersecting creeks and rivers in
this district; to enable Her Majesty’s Government, therefore,
effectually to protect the trade of Perak against these pirates, it
was necessary that the Government should now take over the
territory ceded in 826,98

But despite Bradell's advice, Governor Clarke was aware
that he was using the term “piracy” in a way that was legally
incorrect. When Braddell urged the propriety of trying the
captured Malays for piracy in Malacca, the Governor inter-
posed and set up Tunku Dia Oodin, a British-favoured Malay
claimant to political authority in Selangore, to try them in
Selangore. Amusingly, the British supported claimant's formal
Ietter seemed to imply that the justice to be done was the justice
of the British Government—and this misapprehension was
corrected in an exchange of further correspondence making it
clear that legaily (if not politically) it was Selangore’s justice
that was to be meted out to the *“pirates”.87 The “pirates” were

*0/d., p. 160 at pp. 161, 165 and 174. The territory ceded in 1826 was the
Dindings and Pangkor Islands-which the British had refused to accept ; the
treaty ceding the islands was never ratified and the transactions of which
the cession was a part strongly criticised by the Supreme Government, See
Rubin, Personatity, Ch. IX.A, On the events of January 1874, and indeed
the entire political circumstances of the British advance of the 1870's, see
Parkinson, passim.,

#°C. 1111 at pp. 181 e¢ seq. Tunku Dia Godin was a Kedah noble and
may ironically have been the very Tunku Udin so active against British
interests 35 years before. See Cowan 71 ef seq. He was Regent of Kedah
during the interregnum between the death of Sultan Ahmad Taju'd-din
Makarram Shah (1879) and the ascension of Sultan ‘Abdu'l-Hamid Halim
Shah (1882), See Lovat 306 ef seq.
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politicaily d with a faction istic to the political
ambitions of Tunku Dia Oodin in Selangore.?

Further evidence that Governor Clarke was consciously
using the law of piracy in a way he knew not to be proper lies
in the contrast between his internal memoranda in the Straits
Settlements and his reportage to Lord Kimberley. Internally,
he referred constantly to piracies. In his report to Lord
Kimberley dated 24 February 1874,% while he afleged that
there had been clear piracy he indicated that he was confused
on the legal question by saying “it was not clear that the crime
had been committed on the high seas”.100 As noted above, if
not committed on the high seas the crime could not have been
“piracy” either at British municipal law or at international law
as conceived in Europe at this time.

Braddell’s views on “piracy” were never reduced to strict
legal terms and his obvious intention to use the label to justify
British action within Colonial Office guidelines regardless of
the true intentions of his political superiors is too clear to
warrant further analysis. Underlying his legal language was
the assumption expressly disregarded by Governor Ord about
two years before concerning the fundamental relations inter-
national law imposed between European and non-European
states. In an undated memorandum written probably in March
1874 Braddell wrote:

The innate superiority of the ordinary Englishman, in his
sense of honour and justice, is sufficient to dominate the in-
ferior character of the Malay . . .19

38C.1111, Continuation of Braddell’s Report, p. 184 at p. 188,

99Actuaily Lord Carnarvon replaced Lord Kimberley as Secretary of
State for the Colonies on 18 February 1874, when Disraeli succeeded
Gladstone, but word of this did not reach the Straits Settlements until
somewhat later. Events in the area having become politically sigaificant in
England, direct reporting was maintained for some time after.
100C. 1111, p. 180 a¢ p. 181
19144, p. 2208t p. 221,
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Braddell saw no way to stop European merchants and ad-
venturers making a game of peninsular politics than the British
Government frankly to take over complete control of the
politics of the Peninsula. The possibility that the very acts of
Englishmen he considered to be improper were themselves
indicative of character and a sense of honour and justice not of
the highest, and that the Malay actors may have had similar
motives less eloquently expressed, and used British advisers
only because hopeful (or fearful) of British Governmental
pressures being used to further the interests espoused by British
adventurers and merchants, does not seem to have occurred to
him.



1. Piracy, Paramountcy and Protectorates

A. THEORY AND TRENGGANU IN THE 1860°s

While the Jaw of “‘piracy” was losing its usefulness to British
administrators trying to bring their idea of order to the Malay
Peninsula and the existence of Admiralty jurisdiction in the
British court in Penang turned out to be the end of the flexibi-
lity found in using the label “piracy”, instead of the help that
Governor Fullerton had thought it would be, a second legal
theory was being tried for the same purpose. This was the
theory that the strongest had a legal duty to keep its weaker
neighbors in sufficient order to permit trade. The legal roots
of the authority claimed for police actions to keep order seem
to have been rationalized in India as a succession to rights of
Grand Moghul, but in the Malay Peninsula, where no such
historical basis for authority was available the theory, called
“‘paramountcy”, flourished nonetheless. The roots really lay
in a concept of world order that exalted rights of property, of
goods in transit or in warehouses, to be free from interference.
Since rival claims to sovereign, law-making, authority might
interfere with rights of property, the “‘paramount” power as-
sumed the right, even the “duty” to oversee questions of
dynastic succession.

To iilustrate let us look briefly at the events of 1862 and
analyze the views of right held by the British in the East Coast
intrigues leading up to the bombardment of Kuala Trengganu
in that year.

In November 1862 the British authorities in Singapore
ordered a naval bombardment of a Malay fort just outside
the town of Kuala Trengganu!. One immediate reaction in

11863 XLHI 299 at pp. 31, 34-37,40.
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London to the news of this bombardment was a series of ques-
tions in Parliament and the publication of the British Govern-
ment’s internal correspondence dealing with that sorry affair.2
Less than a year later Admiral Kuper bombarded Kagoshima
in Japan and the Parliamentry reaction left the Liberal Govern-
ment of Viscount Palmerston in little doubtas to the need to
keep British officials at the periphery of empire under closer
control. Sir John Hay, Conservative, indicated in Commons
on 9 February 1864 thathe saw a parallel between the Treng-
ganu incident and the Kagoshima incident, stating that
continued Government policy seemed to be involved. This
threatened to raise to major political proportions in England
the issue that was phrased in Parliament by Mr. Buxton in
terms of international law: Citing the nineteenth century inter-
national law scholars Martens, Travers Twiss, Hefiter,
Wheaton, Kliber, Phillimore, the eighteenth century's Kent
and even the seventeenth century Dutch publicist Grotius, Mr.
Buxton accused the Government of violating the usages of
civilised nations in the bombardments.3 Viscount Palmerston,
responding himself for his Government, denied the proposition
that the bombarbment of towns is at variance with the practice
of civilized nations in time of war, but agreed that “itis a prac-
tice which we disapprove.”*

The Parliamentary debates focussed not on any purported
illegality of extending the Empire by means of force, but only
on the need to spare “private property” while doing so. The
illegality adverted to by Mr. Buxton was that of the British
risking damage to private property in Kuvala Trengganu during
the bombardment, The bombardment was not as such con-
demned by either side in the discussions in Parliament. It
appears to have been generally felt by British statesmen in

®Hansard, 3rd ser., vol. 172, col. 586-593 (H.C. Deb. 10 July 1863).

34d., vol. 173, col. 335-424 (H. C. Deb. § February 1864).

4., col. 421,
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London in the 1860's that the use of force to safeguard or
expand imperial interests was at least legally justifiable (whether
it was wise policy is another matter). But rights of private pro-
perty were felt somehow superior to interests of non-European
sovereigns or the interests of non-European peoples in being
left alone,

To understand later British actions in the Northern Malay
States it is necessary to understand why in 1862 a bombardment
of Trengganu had been decided on; what factors had been
considered sufficient by local British authorities in the Malay
Peninsula to justify such a serious (and expensive) step.

In 1824 the British and Dutch had agreed to abstain from
political activity among the Malay Sultanates South and North
of the Straits of Singapore respectively.® The British in Sin-
gapore proceeded to consolidate their authority there by se-
curing from Malay magnates with a claim to legal authority
in the territory of Singapore and the Peninsula an agreement
by which the Temenggong of Johore and the British-recognized
Sultan of Riau-Lingga-Johore agreed among other things that
as long as they resided in Singapore “they shall enter into no
alliance, and maintain no correspondence with any foreign
Power or Potentate whatsoever without the knowledge and con-
sent of the British authorities.® The Dutch concluded a simi-
lar arrangement with the Sultan’s brother, whom the Dutch
bad recognized as Sultan of Riau-Lingga-Johore. The effect
of these arrangements was to split the old Sultanate of Riau-
Lingga-Johore into two parts with lesser Malay magnates in
each free to deny the authority of the “Sultan”™ supported by
the only European power acting politically in his neighbors -

5The best comprehensive analysis of this treaty's negotiation is Marks.
This book is volume 27 of the Verhandelingen van het Koninklijk Instituut
voor Taal- Land- en Volkenkunde. The Treaty, dated 17 March 1824, is
reproduced in Marks at pp. 252 ef seq. See also 11 BFSP 194; Maxwell and
Gibson 8. Marks points out {p. 235 note 2) that the text in Maxwell and
Gibson is inaccurate,

*Maxweli and Gibson 122;23 BFSP 1146.
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hood, and claiming to be subordinate to the other “Sultan.”
The European powers, by preventing the “other Sultan” from
communicating outside its area, contributed to the effective
independence of the lesser magnates in the other area.”

In 1857 Mahmud, the descendent of the Dutch-supported
Suitan, was deposed by the Dutch. To recoup at least part of
his patrimony he went to Trengganu and began to take an
active part in Malay politics in the Peninsula. In 1859, the
decendent of the Temenggong of Jehore had secured an agree-
ment from the British-recognized Sultan exchanging the Sultan’s
claims to authority in Johore for an annuity to be paid by the
Temenggong. Meanwhile, in Pahang, the old Bendahara, Ali,
had died in 1857 and the new Beandahara, Tun Mutahir, was
faced with a revolt when his younger brother, Wan Ahmed,
disputed the succession. Mahmud and the Sultan of Trengganu
sided with Wan Ahmed; The Temenggongs of Johore, Ibrahim
and his son Abu Bakar, who succeeded his father in 1862, sided
with Tun Mutahir, The struggle in Pahang thus had the ingre-
dients of a major upheaval in Malay political alignments.®

But to the British officials the desirabiity of calming the
dynastic struggle in Pahang was less important than the fear
that British commercial and political interests in the Malay
Peninsula would be jeopardized by the instrusion of non-Malay
rivals of the British. The British-Dutch settlement of 1824 was
proving stable as the Dutch turned their ambitions to develop-
ing their empire in the islands of the Malay Archipelago,
leaving the Malay Peninsula and Singapore to British care.
The Dutch interest was in fact that the British clearly assert
their dominance to keep the Malay magnates of the Peninsula

?See Rubin, Personality, Ch. IX.B.

2A contemporary account of this Malay power-struggle by a highly in-
terested British official is Cavenagh 273-274, 300-309. A more balanced
account, one of several, is Linehan at pp. 66 et seq. A more recent analysis

emphasizing the economic interests at play and the involvement of Singa-
pore merchants is Turnbull at pp. 171 et seq.
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from blowing storms in the political waters in which the Dutch
were sailing and to help keep other non-Malay powers out of
the Malay Archipelago.? In 1861 the principal non-Malay
power interested in the Malay Peninsula was Thailand.

The British had nearly clashed with Thailand in the carly
1820°s when British commercial and political interests began to
encroach on Thai tributaries in Perak and Kedah. In 1826 the
Burney Treaty was concluded in Bangkok. That treaty con-
firmed Thai sovereignty in Kedah, permitted the British to
manipulate affairs in Perak to pull that tin-rich territory out of
the Thai shadow, and provided. in the case of Kelantan and
Trengganu:

Siam shall not go and obstruct or interrupt commerce in the
States of Tringano and Calantan. English merchants, and sub-
jects shall have trade and intercourse in future with the same
facility and freedom as they have heretofore had, and the
English shall not go and molest, attack, or disturb those States
upon any pretence whatever.!?

The British negotiator on his returning to Penang from
Bangkok at the conclusion of the negotiations stopped at
Trengganu and told the Sultan that the British regarded his
country as under Thai authority. His report of this transaction
leaves no doubt that as of 1826 the British and Thai were agreed
that Thai authority extended to Kelantan and Trengganu.t

But, as is so often the case, the yearning for justification led
British statesmen to interpret history to give them legal basis
for action where history interpreted from greater distance gave
no such justification. Sir Orfeur Cavenagh, British Governor
of the Straits Settlements, in his anxiety to keep the Thai out of

91863 XLil[ 299 at pp. 3-4, letter from Governor Cavenagh to the
Government of India dated 19 July 1861. CF. correspondence from E. Net-
scher, Dutch Resident in Riau. to Cavenagh dated 16 July 1861 warning of
Thai intentions in Trengganu. Id., p. 5.

19Article 12. The Treaty is discussed in Part I above.

112(S) Burney 173-174; 1{3) Burney 329; Rubin, Personality, Ch. VIl




PIRACY, PARAMOUNTCY AND PROTECTORATES 59

peninsular affairs, came to the conviction that the Treaty of
1826 indicated Kelantan and Trengganu to be independent of
Thailand, not subordinate.!? He interpreted the intrusion of
the ex-Sultan of Lingga into peninsular affairs as part of a Thai
plot to expand non-Malay authority in the Peninsula at the
expense of British traders, whose interest lay with theexpand-
ing powcr ol the friendly Temenggung of Johore or the Singa-

i of the British-supported Sultan of
Riau»Lingga-Johnre.‘-’

In 1862 the British had not extended any formal authority
beyond the Straits Settlements of Prince of Wales's Island
(Penang), Malacca and Singapore. The terms of the Anglo-
Dutch Treaty of 1824 had required the British to abstain from
political activity West or South of the Straits of Malaca and
the Straits of Singapore and from that time on it had been
British formal policy to abstain from peninsular entanglements.
But the formal British policy requiring local officials to refrain
from peninsular adventures had never in fact been fully ob-
served. Indeed, as a result of blatant violations of that policy
Governor Fullerton had beenseverely censured by his superiors
in India in 1827.14 While the British authorities in India
eventually acknowledged that the British had a right to act in
the Peninsula in some circumstances involving “piracy”, the
garrison at Penang was cut to the bare minimum necessary to
keep internal order and Governor Fullerton had retreated into
petulence.’® Even after the rebuff to Governor Fullerton, the

121863 XL.ITF 299 at p. 56; Cavenagh 305-306.

13Cavenagh 273.

242(4) Burney 205, esp. pp. 209-215.

158ee Rubin, Personality, Ch. IX.A. Governor Fullerton’s petulence

t00k the peculiar form of seizing on a purported legal technicality (against

the legal opinion of the British law officers in India) to close the British

ourts in the Straits Settlements. The British view of the international law

. iracy” and what cuunlermeasurcs purported piracy would justify at

. this time were heavily colored by cal desires. See Rubin, Personaliry,
Chs.IV.A, VL.B. and IX.A.; Rubin, Plrncy.



60 PIRACY, PARAMOUNTCY AND PROTECTORATES

British continued to intervene from time to time in dynastic
affairs in the Peninsula and to settle border questions.18 Tn-
deed, by 1862 Governor Cavenagh himself had attempted to
settle the Johore-Pahang boundary and was writing to his

superiors in India that “should ... Ahmet attempt to create
any disturbance in Pahang, | should . . . consider it my
duty to adopt measures for ensuring his expulsion from the
country.”17

It is not clear whence came this sense of “duty”, to whom
Governor Cavenagh fancied he owed the duty, or why any
British official shoutd have felt obliged to take ahand in the
dynastic affairs of territories with which the British had no
formal relations. I have suggested above and elsewhere!® that
the concept of “paramountcy’ was developing at this time as a
legal rationalization for imperial policy. There were un-
doubtedly elements of that mode of thought in Governor
Cavenagh's approach to peninsular affairs. There were prob-
ably also elements of the duty he felt to the residents of the
Straits Settlements and the merchants based there to safeguard
their security and commercial interests by keeping the Malay
communities in the Peninsula as orderly as possible without
ordering actual armed British intervention. But to preserve
foreign commercial opportunities and remove distant threats to
the security of an official’s constituency is to involve the official
necessarily in foreign adventures, If the “duty” of maintaining
security is seen broadly emough, the “duty” to intervene in
foreign dynastic struggles and boundary disputes is necessarily
involved.

18§0me of the Kedah involvements are analysed in Part I of this study,
Maxwell and Gibson contains treaties involving the British in the Malay
States between 1830 and 1860 on pp. 43, 45, 126, 127, 206, 207 and 208.
There were, of course, many British actions to affect political affairs in the
Peninsula that did not result in treaties being concluded. Cf. Cowan 12, 17;
Skinner.

1Cavenagh 303-304; 1863 XLIIE 299 at p. 16, tetter dated 26 July 1862.

12Rubin, Personality, Ch. VII1.B.
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Governor Cavenagh felt his duty to extend to safeguarding
the peace in Pahang. The peace of Pahang was threatened not
only by the disputed succession involving Tun Mutahir and
Wan Ahmed and their allies, but also by the greater threat of
Thai involvement. Regardless of the friendly attitude of the
Thai in their official relations with the British!®, the local offi-
cials in the Straits Settlements had a deep mistrust of Thai
intentions.?® Sultan Mahmud of Lingga was willing to play
on this mistrust for his own purposes by asserting that his
taking up residence with his father-in-law in Trengganu was
“by the desire of the King of Siam”. Presumably Mahmud was
seeking to involve the Thai on his side in his intrigues in
Pahang; the letter telling Governor Cavenagh about Thai
interest in his residing in Trengganu is less evidence of actual
Thai involvement in Pahang than of Mahmud's wish.?! It is
perfectly possible, of course, that the Thai were in fact willing
to support Mahmud's pretensions if they should prove en-
forceable, since the Thai must have seen British control in
Pahang as a threat to Thai security in Trengganu.

Governor Cavenagh’s first approach to the problem of a
rival Malay authority in Pahang was to imply that no Malay
could have political authority in the Peninsula without the
approval of the British. In replying to Mahmud's letter men-
tioning the King of Siam, Cavenagh wrote!

... as his claims to exercise any control over the affairs of
Johore and Pahang have never been recognized by the British
Government, he will not be allowed to interfere in the Govern-
ment of those states . . .22

93ir John Bowring's treaty and regulations opening Thailand to trade
on a formal basis were concluded in {855 and 1856, Aitchison 124 ef seq.

. Leonowens was engaged to be (he Governess of Prince Chulalong-

korn in 1862. See D. G. E. Hall 579-583.

The bases for this mistrust are examined in some detail in Rubin,
Personality, Chs. VI1I and IX.
11863 XLI11 209 at p. 24, letter dated 30 September 1862.
2274, p. 25, letter dated 13 October 1862.
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There is some conflict of evidence as to the Thai views. On
the one side, Governor Cavenagh apparently heard that the
Thai had yielded to his anxieties and ordered the Sultan of
Trengganu, Baginda Omar. to ship Mahmud to Thailand.23
Governor Cavenagh used this information in his ultimatum to
Sultan Omar:

... we have learnt that our friend has received orders to send
back the ex-Sultan of Lingga to Siam . .. Unless within twenty-
four hours from the receipt of this letter the ex-Sultan embarks
on beard the steamer which . . . we have despatched for his
conveyance to Bangkok and the grant of all aid to [Wan
Ahmed] . . . strictly prohibited. the officer in command of the
naval forces has received instructions . . . to bombard our
friend’s fort, to seize his boats, and to establish a blockade of
his coast .. .

We have now given our friend fair warning of the consequen-
ces likely to ensue in case of his neglecting to act upon our
advice, which has always been tendered in a friendly spirit, and
solely with a view of preserving the general peace and tran-
quility .. .24
On the other hand, in a letter dated 27 November 1862 (thus,
immediately after the Thai had learned of the bombardment)
the Thai wrote to the British Principal Secretary for Foreign
Affairs in London their view, surely inconsistent with the issu-
ance of orders for the removal of Sultan Mahmud from Treng-
ganu, that

the demand {of Governor Cavenagh) that the Siamese should

. take charge of him [Sultan Mahmud] because of the un-
settled condition of the small State of Pahang, which is not a
British territory, is, to say the least, most unjust . . .2%

23At Jeast so Ca»enagh asserted in a letter to “Sultan Omer” dated 3
November & .p. 3

23Jd. “Our friend” was Ahc usual form of address between British Gover-
nors and Malay Sultans at this time. With such “friends™ Sultan Omar
may have felt he had no need of enemies.

257 BFSP1107. Theword of the bombardment had reached Bangkok by
25 November 1862, 1863 XLII1299at p. 46, letter frorn Chow Phya Sri Sury
Wongs to Sir Robert Schomburgk (British Consul in Bangkok) of that date.
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1In the correspondence foliowing the bombardment the Thai
gttempted 1o twist to their own advantage the British emphasis
on ordering the world to British wishes by granting or refusing
recognition to awkward forcign claims to authority. The Thai
gited two incidents to imply British recognition of Thai rights
jn Trengganu and Kelantan.2® Governor Cavenagh's reaction
assumed the same view of law: He merely denied that British
‘actionsimplied recognition of Thai pretensions in Kelantan and
Trengganu in the incidents cited.2?

.. The British authorities in India did not rest on *“recognition™,
however, but asserted to their London superiors that “there is
fnothing to show that Siam has ever exercised any sovereign
rights either in Tringanu or Kalantan™. The British authori-
ties in India also defended the bombardment on the ground
that Thai “'promises” to remove ex-Sultan Mahmud from
Trengganu had been broken. Faced with a disagreement as
1o amatter of legal rights between the highest officials of India
and the highest officials of a foreign government, the British
Foreign Office had to decide whether the issues were to be pur-
sued further with the foreigners. Rather than taking the views
of the India Office as conclusive, the Foreign Office made its
own investigation into the status of Thai authority in Kefantan
and Trengganu. That investigation was memorialized by Mr.
T. G. Knox in an undated paper apparently written in Decem-
74, p. 48.

274d., letter to Sir Robert Schomburgk dated 26 December 1862. In the
motcsxgmﬁmnl of the two incidents mentioned, the Resident Counsellor of
Singapore had written a letter to the British Consul in Bangkok dalcd 16
J\me 1858 mentioning 'Siam to which Kalantan is subordinate™. Id,, p. 56,
As a result the British had successfully remonstrated with the Thai Dv:r an
incident occurring at sea near Kelantan. While the Thai knew nothing of
the internal British correspondence they cited the British remonstrance as a
Tecognition of Thai authority in Kelantan. Governor Cavenagh's view of
the incident was basically different. He denied Kelantan territory was the
place of the significant events and construed it as a simple matter between
Thailand aml Greal Britain with no implications for the northern Malay
States, /d., p. 4

14 pp. 25-: 26 $7 BFSP 1107, letter dated 21 February 1863,
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ber of 1862 (it was amended by Mr. Knox in a memorandum
dated 8 January 1863) in which it was noted that Kelantan and
Trengganu were “‘provinces . . . tributary to Siam™. “Tringanu
... was never conquered by the Siamese,” the memo points out,
“but put itself under the protection of Siam about 100 years
ago.” The passage of bunga emas, a gold and silver tree sent by
the Sultan of Trengganu to Bangkok every two and a half years
along with other gifts worth totally about $3500 in return for
which presents of equivalent value were sent to him by the
King of Thailand, Knox mentions as a “‘token” of Thai
“suzerainty”.2? The British Counsul in Bangkok had also
advised his superiors that “The King of Siam . . . is suzerain of
Tringanu and Kalantan™.3¢

Leaving aside for a moment the question of what “suzerain-
ty” may be, or more precisely, what the word may have meant
in a Foreign Office context in the early 1860’s, the Foreign
Office decided that no further action should be taken against
Bangkok. The strongest evidence the British administrators in
the Straits Settlements and India had been able to furnish of
Thai wrongdoing to justify the bombard, was a very doubt-
ful interpretation of the Treaty of 1826, a possible confutation
of an affirmative Thai argument which was not regarded as
dispositive, and some self-serving correspondence dating back
to 1787 and 1792 in which the then Sultan of Trengganu had
asserted to a British frontier official his independence of Thai-
land.3! On the other side of the balance, to be considered
before making a formal argument to the alert and perceptive
Thai officials, was the passage of bunga emas (a clear token of
something, even if not complete Thai authority),* the evasive-

381863 XLIIT 299 at pp. 67, 74-76; Cavenagh 300-301.

361863 XLI11 299 at p. 57, letter to Ear! Russel dated 30 July 1862,

314d., p. 53. The British official was Francis Light, first British admini-
strator of Penang,

32King Mongkut {Rama IV} of Thailand had himself sent bunga emas to

the British in 1851 on his accession, apparently intending merely  diplo-
maticcourtesy. G. Ceedés 4.
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ness of the Sultan of Trengganu in discussing his relations with
the Thai, and, although this is not mentioned in the correspond-
ence, the apparent inconsistency of British action in holding
correspondence with the ex-Sultan of Lingga while formally
regarding him as a dependent of the Thai; the British had often
expressed indignation at other powers addressing their stipen-
diary Sultans without addressing the correspondence through
British officials.??

One implication of the internal British handling of the dis-
pute between the Thai and British officials in the Straits
Settlements is the degree to which it illustrates the primacy of
international relations over constitutional relations in the
British Government in the nineteenth century, In the 1860’s the
British legal specialists were still analysing the relations be-
tween the British Government and local rulers in India and the
Malay States as basically international relations with rights and
obligations determined by the special facts of each case. Much
effort was spent in determining if the British, as *“paramount”
power in an area, had rights beyond those granted in written
documents by the local “sovereigns” in whose territorjes those
supposed rights were to be asserted.®* Although the British
at that time did not assert rights beyond the demonstrable
donation of the local sovereign, the demands of the empire
builders and the examples of French and German lawyers had
aiready begun to make it difficult for the British to maintain
a strict legal position against expanded assertions of their
authority.

330n the evasiveness of the Sultan of Trengganu see Cavenagh 301, 303.
British sensitivity 10 the international contacts of the Southeast Asian
nobles with whom they had dealings is discussed briefly in Rubin, Per-
mnaluy. Chs. VIIL. Bdnd IX.B.

%See, e.g., Sit Henry Maine’s opinions on the sovereignty of the
Kithidwdr States dated 22 March 1864, on British rights to transfer l:rn-
tory from one Indian Prince's JUIISdlC“(\T\ to another’s dated 11 August
1868, and on the power of Indian Princes to subject European British wb-
)eCth to the){ﬂcnmmal procedures dated 19 April 1869. All are reproduced
in Grant
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As a practical matter. in areas where the British acquired
responsibility for foreign relations in a petty state foreign
powers aggrieved by some incident there would have to corres-
pond with the local officials through the intermediacy of the
British. Instead of merely serving as a conduit for communica-
tions and saleguarding their minimal interests, the British felt
forced by the pace of history and example to assert rights in the
territory involved sufficient to eliminate the tension. Thus, a
progression from mere interest to political interest, to interest
in foreign relations, to control over foreign correspondence, to
control over internal affairs, was set in motion.% By 1890 the
progression was complete and in 1894 W. E. Hall, the foremost
British authority on international law, in his very influential
treatise on the foreign jurisdiction of the British Crown, was
able to write:

The mark of a protected state or people . . . is that it cannot
maintain pol intercourse with foreign powers except
through or by permission of the protecting state . . [1}t be-
comes at once evident that the interposition of the protectmg
state between the protected country and foreign powers de-
prives the latter of the means of exacting redress for themselves
for wrongs which their subjects may suffer at the hands of the
native rulers or people; and that, as the protecting state inter-
poses voluntarily and for its own selfish objects, it is not mor-
ally in a position to demand that foreign governments shall
patiently submit to wreng-doing from persons whose natural
responsibility it covers with the shield of its own sovereign in-
dependence. A state must be bound to see that a reasonable

=R

#5The British actually did not until 1895 formaily conclude as a matter of
Taw that control over foreign correspondence necessarily implied complete
jurisdiction within Asian territory over at least the conduct of all Euro-
peans regardless of that jurisdiction not being ceded by the local ruler. See
1 McNair, 50-52, 54-35; W. E. Hall International Law [1880], pp. 127-29.
in the 4th edition of Hall's treatise he pointed out {p. 132} that British
authority in the Malay Peninsula “at the present moment {1895] is vastly
greater than would have been possible in the early years of the protector-
ates exercised there”. The matter is treated in some detail in W.E. Hall,
Foreign Powers, 210 ¢f seq.

SR
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measure of security is afforded to foreign subjects and property
within the protected territory . . . It must consequently exer-
cize whatever amount of control may be found necessary for
the purpose,3¢

Even more, in analysing the legal process of European political
expansion Hall noted that the “sphere of influence™, the staking
of a claim as against other European powers to seek closer
connection with the non-European governments of a particular
area to the exclusion of other European political involvements,
is mecessarily a transitory phase followed inevitably by the
establishment of a protectorate or an annexation or by a
relinquishment of influence, “and probably before long spheres
of influence are destined to be merged into some unorganized
form of protectorate analagous to that which exists in the
Malay Peninsuala™.37

This analysis preceded by one year the establishment of the
Federated Malay States. It was thirty years after the bombard-
ment of Trengganu. The progression seen so clearly in retros-
pect was yet some thirty years ahead of our story.

In the 1860’s the words of art used in international law to
translate the political relationship growing out of “‘paramount~
cy™ into legal relationships were not “spheres of influence”
and “'protectorates.”” Rather the key word was “‘suzerainty”.
There has never been a precise legal definition of the word
“suzerainty” agreed to by all who use the word. In 1882
General Sir Evelyn Wood indicated that the British defined
the word as referring to a country that “has entire self-govern-

“SHall, Foreign Powers, 218-219,

971d., pp. 229-230. An interesting essay of this period in effect finding
the British to be sovereign in [ndia by virtue of the mere existence of an
“unequal treaty™ is Shepheard. The lacuna in logic in this purportedly
scholarly work are filled with patently self-serving assertions that must
have seemed incontestable to the author and the editors of the Journal
The international Jaw situation in the Malay Peninsula was essentiaily
the same as in India from the time the Moghul was deposed (1858) until

India became a member of The League of Nations in its own right (1919)
oreven later,
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ment as regards its own internal affairs, but that it cannot take
action against, or with, an outside Power without the
permission of the suzerain™.® Clearly, by the preceding
analysis this position taken in 1882 had become untenable by
1890 since the distinction between internal and external
sovereignty was not logically viable and the power exercising
international competence for a state was conceived by then to
be necessarily the dominant power in all affairs of the state,
therefore the sovereign, By 1914 the British were using the
word “suzerain’ as a meaningless honorific.3* But in the [860's
the definition of “suzerainty” was embodied in Sir Henry
Maine's legal Minutes: Basically a term with varying content
depending on the specific relations between the two states
sharing the responsibilities for the admini ation of a particular
bit of territory over which the weaker of the two had historical
“sovereignty”. The point at which the “'sovereignty” passed
from the historical “sovereign” fo the encroaching “'suzerain™
was a matter for analysis in each particular case.

Thus, when the Foreign Office used the word “‘suzerainty” to
describe the subordination of Kelantan to Thailand in 1862,
it seems likely that Thai claims were being supported, There is
also implied an analogy to British legal rights in the southern
Malay States.

in the East coast of the Malay Peninsula in the mid-1860’s
it may be concluded that the effect of the conduct of British
administrators in the Straits Settlements, attempting to secure
political influence over the Malay Suitanates under pressure
from the ruler of Johore and the European mercantile com-
munity, was to create a boundary between British and Thai
*protected states”. The British had ousted all unwanted
political influence from Pahang and in turn had been forced to

381 McNair 38.

36Westlake, Jnrernational Law (1904), pp. 25-26, 120, 123 et seq.; Rubin,
Tibet 120, 124-126, 137. An excellent scholarly analysis of the changing
meaning of “suzerainty” is Kelke.
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withdraw from Trengganu and Kelantan whatever claims had
been immanent in British attitudes. This adjustment had come
about as a resuit of legal analysis resulting from the British
bombardment of Trengganu and, thus, indirectly from British
respect for property rights.

On 31 December 1862 the Admiralty in London instructed
British Naval commanders in Singapore to refer all
“‘requisitions from British authority for interference on the part
of men-of-war in territories not under the protection of Great
Britain” to the Commodore in India except in most urgent and
unusual cases—clearly intending to prohibit future incidents
comparable to the bombardment of Trengganu.s® Sultan
Mahmud, the ex-Sultan of Lingga, was finally lodged in
Bangkok?! never to appear again as a significant actor in
peninsular affairs. On 25 July 1863 Sir Charles Wood, the
Secretary of State for India in the Liberal Palmerston cabinet
of 1859-1865, ended the internal British correspondence over
the incident by telling the Governor-General of India that the
bombardment of Trengganu seemed unjustifiable: L still
cannot see that the crisis was of such urgency as to have justi-
fied a subordinate Governor . . . in attacking a friendly port,
without . . . instructions .. .”.42 The British Consul in Bangkok
informed the Foreign Minister, Earl Russell, that the
Trengganu incident *“*has not produced on the part of . . . the
Siamese Government . . . any change in the friendly feelings
they profess toward Her Majesty and Her Government.”43
The situation seemed settled.

But the underlying tensions that had produced the violent
incident at Kuala Trengganu were not settled; only the im-
mediate occasion for that violence. The British still confronted
the Thai in the Malay Peninsula; Malay Sultans still fought for

4031863 XLIII 299 at p. 88,

aipd., p 78, Schomburgk ‘s report dated 6 April 1863,
4214, p)

8., pp 69— 70 fetter dated 16 December 1862.
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taxable territory and prestige, calling on outsiders for help;
European commercial adventurers still sought profit in the ex-
ploitation of the resources of the Peninsula and felt the need
for the protection of a European armed power for their prop-
erty rights however acquired; British administrators in the
Straits Settlements were stili closer to the urgings of their Malay
and European friends than to the commands of their political
superiors in London, and were still subject to the anxieties that
seem part of the hazards of accepting responsibility for the
security of others, The concepts of justifiable behaviour in
international affairs, international law, continued to evolve
towards holding unstable any exercise of external competence
by non-European states and justifying measured action by
European powers to reduce the number of “sovereignties” in
the world to those sharing Europe-rooted culture,

B. BRITISH IMPERIAL LAW AND RECOGNITION

While “piracy” was losing its effectiveness as a legal theory
1o justify British political action in the Malay Peninsula due to
the doubts sewed by the Mohamed Saad case, it was still in-
fluential for some years. In Part 1.B above it was noted that Sir
Andrew Clarke and Thomas Braddell differed as to the use of
the legal concept of “piracy” to justify British action in the
Peninsula. Through Braddell and, it may be supposed, the
mercantile community of the Straits Settlements the idea that
“piracy” could justify the British political advance had a brief
resurrection in 1873-1874. But in the reapperance of the justi-
fication of suppressing supposed piracy the accusation carried
more polemical than legal guiding force. At the same time,
while concepts of race or cultural superiority were less spoken
of they became gradually more and more influential in justify-
ing the British expansion.

It is most enlightening to note the degree to which the
opinions of their legal advisers influenced the successive
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Governors of the Straits Settlements in the 1870's, and parti-
cularly to note how even when the legal officer of Government
spoke of “piracy”’he was not paid serious attention when the
Governor did not share the opinio juris. International law was
not made by publicists or legal advisers, but by the convic-
tions of right on the basis of which the political officers of
Government were actually willing to commit themselves and
their constituents to action.

A second major thread to be noted in the story of the British
expansion of the 1870's was the self-policing nature of inter-
national law in major political affairs. When the British acted
under a “justification” that was unconvincing their acts resulted
in political disaster. Despite the talk of suppressing piracy the
Malay nobility, which had suffered pirate-hunting expeditions
before, resisted the British advance when the purported ration-
ale ceased to bear a clear relation to shared convictions of right.
Instead of extending international law to the Peninsula, where
all concerned had long regarded it as extending anyhow, the
British found that they could not disguise with words the
reality: They werc extending British municipal law to the
Peninsula. The forms of international relations remained, but
the substance of British actions in the 1870’s was the forcible
conquest of Perak, Selangore and the territories reorganized
eventually to form the Negri Sembilan. The use of international
law forms rather than openly acknowledging the forcible ex-
pansion of British jurisdiction appears to have been a com-
pound of attempts to minimize the political repercussions of
the expansion, particularly among the political opposition in
London, and the evolution of legal theory to give British ad-
ministrators the feeling that they were somehow gaining
authority without actually having to shoulder the responsibility
for internal administration. In a sense it was an attempt by the
British to avoid the progression from interest to domination
that marked European political progress in Asia until the high
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tide of empire in the 1890’s. Their punishment for twisting the
concepts of international law to justify the unjustifiable was to
have their jobs made extraordinarily difficult and the unwanted
burdens were thrust upon them anyhow.

A third thread was the conflict between frontier officials and
London. If the international law arguments could not con-
vince the Malay Sultans of the rightness of British advance, at
ieast it could be tried as argument with the chief British officers
of government in London to justify the political advances
urged by mercantile interests in the far reaches of the Empire.
1tis on this level that international law developed a language to
translate the polemics of insecure, nouveaux riches, race-proud
merchants to the gentler councils of European statesmen.

Let us look at the legal mechanics of the British advance,

By the Pangkor Agreement of 20 January 1874 the chief
nobles of Perak agreed that a Britisk “Resident” should be
“accredited” to the court of a Sultan “‘recognized” by the
British, and that the Resident's “‘advice must be asked and
acted upon on all questions other than those touching Malay
Religion and Custom".

Sir William Jervois, who became Governor of the Straits
Settlements in the Spring of 1875, interpreted the Pangkor
Agreement as giving him the sort of ultimate authority that
nineteenth century lawyers would not have hesitated to calt
“‘sovereignty” in Perak. To explain his having J. W. W. Birch,
the British Resident, require Sultan Abdullah of Perak, the
“r ized” ign, issue orders ding Birch’s direct
authority in Perak to act without the intermediacy of Malay
officials in some cases, Governor Jervois wrote to the Colonial
Secretary, Lord Carnarvon:

The idea of some is, that the states where we have our Resi-
dents are ‘independent,” and that we are exercising an undue
influence over them, by the action we are taking with respect
to them.,
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My Lord, they are really not independent states, and I
submit that they cannot be independent.

If we left them to themselves, the state of things which neces-
sitated our intervention would again take place, and we should
then be obliged to take matters again into our own hands.
Given this view of the legal situation, it is not surprising that
Governor Jervois could regard the expansion of Birch’s explicit
powers in Perak as a matter merely of political opportunity:

In the desire expressed by some of the most influential of the
Perak Chiefs, that the British Government should undertake
the Government of that State [ saw an opportunity for dealing
with difficulties of no ordinary character, and it appcared tome
most desirable not to let the opportunity slip . .

This letter was dated 18 October 1875. Birch was killed just
two weeks later by Malay chiefs, including Sultan Abdullah,
who did not share Jervois's view of either the law or politics of
the Peninsula. In the original text of the last quoted paragraph
the words “some™ and “*British Government should undertake
the Government™ are underlined in blue; the words “saw an
opportunity”” are underlined in red. In the margin is written:
“cause of . . . war” with the word “war” underlined in blue.4¢

Sir Andrew Clarke’s doubts about using the concept of
*“piracy” to justify continued British assumption of power had
not left him or his successors without arguments to justify
continued British expansion to themselves and perhaps their
political superiors. The alternative was to conclude agreements

#C. 0. 306 vol. 40, ““Correspondence with the Governors of the Straits
Settlements, 874-1875", filed in the Public Records Office in London as
The Carnarvon Papers. The letter is marked *“Private”; and the red and
blue underlinings and comment are apparently those of Lord Carnarvon
or his private secretary. For historical perspective on the situation in the
Peninsula at the time this letter was written see Parkinson 207 er seq.
Parkinson's apt comments on the truc meaning of the Pangkor Agreement
1o the Malay parties to it are on pp. 136 et seq. It should be remembered
that an international agreement, like a contract at British municipal law,
means only what the parties intend it to mean; where there is a problem of
translation there is no agreement and he whose rights rest on the consent
given in the purported agreement has therefore no right.
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insinuating British authority as the ultimate authority in a
Malay Sultanate; as the authority which even the Sultan, the
nominal sovereign, had to obey. in future, the British Resident
in a Malay Sultanate concluding a Pangkor-like agreement
with the British Government was the one whose “advice™ must
be *‘acted upon”, the Sultan was merely the conduit through
which British policies were legislated and administered in the
Sultanate.

To ensure the compliance of the Malay Sultans with British
wishes there werc two possibilities: One was to use military
force. This possibility was used in the 1870s and after with
great reluctance. The experience of Governor Cavenagh in
bombarding Trengganu and the reaction of the British elector-
ate to military adventures in Southeast Asia was enough to
make the direct use of military force a last resort to responsible
officials.#> The second was to manipulate the facts to fit an
acceptable legal framework that would justify British authority
as a matter of right, not might. The technique used was derived
from the international practice of formally “recognizing” the
elemental legal facts of statehood and sovercignty. To a
nineteenth century {or a twentieth century) international
lawyer, an entity is not entitled to be treated as a “‘sovereign
equal’ merely because it bears the marks of sovereignty. The
international society of states can be analogized to a club to
which sovereigns gain admittance by being “recognized”.?® To

45Parkinson 106-109, 112-114, outlines some of the political implica-
tions in London of the complications in the Straits of Malacea.
46There is, of course, much dispute about the theory of recognition, and
wh:!her (herc is not a duty in the international community of states to
“recognize” alt whn bear the burdens of sovereignty regardiess of pcl)]mcal
of th 3 ective
recognition, is still so widely practiced by states as different in phllosophy
of law and government as the United States {which doesn’t “recognize™
e Communist Government of China o1, of Mongolia) and the United
Arah Republic (which doesn't “recognize™ Israel, with whom it claims to
be at war—also a contradiction in legal logic), that the analogy 1o a club
still seems to hold today as a practical matter,
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withhold “recognition” from a Sultan not sufficiently con-
vinced of the desirability of concluding a Pangkor-type agree-
ment, or not willing to live up to such an agreement, would be a
way of covering with an international law label a coup d" etat
that would be an illegal interference in internal affairs at inter-
national Jaw, but which British administrators could consider
merely a constitutional adjustment. To use international law
labels to justify British coups meant the creation of techniques
at law not proper to either British constitutional law or inter-
national law, but which now could be subsumed under the
name “British imperial law” when a reference to these anoma-
lous practices was unavoidable. Under British imperial law a
Malay Sultan could be installed or deposed by the simple
process of granting or rescinding “‘recognition”, thus assuring
a li gurehead to impl British policy in the
Sultanate.*?

The system was explicitly extended to Johore and Pahang in
1885 and 1887 respectively by the conclusion of Pangkor-type
agreements.® It was exiended to the other Malay States as
British replaced Thai authority in them. 1t was used, to the
confusion of those who have been unable to grasp the essential
facts of British imperial Jaw as seen by Sit William Jervois in
1875, as recently as 1946, when the threat of changing recog-
nized Sultans was authorized to assure the Sultans’ compliance
with legal forms accompanying the constitutional changes
involved in the creation of the Malayan Union. At that time

“The Iabels used here, ordering the legal adjustments of acquiring
British dominion in the Malay Peninsula in conflict of law terms, caused
difficulties to British fawyers well into the twenticth century. Cf. Westlake,
Native States; Cmd. 3302, Report of the Indian States Commission, 1928-
1929, passim.

48Maxwell and Gibson 132 and 66 respectively. The 1885 Johore Agree-
ment did not contain the full Pangkor undertaking by the Maharajah of
Johore; the formal arrangements were not concluded untit 1914, but that is
2 long story not directly relevant to this study.
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the instructions to the British official charged with accom-
plishing the legal adjustments, Sir Harold MacMichael, were:

In any Malay State where the Ruler recognised by H.M.G.
before the outbreak of war with Japan is either no longer in
office or has so compromised himself in relations with the
enemy as to be no longer prima facie worthy of being recog-
nized as Ruler by H.M.G., you should telegraph ... the name and
credentials of the Malay personage whom you recommend as
competent and responsible to undertake such a commitment
in respect of the State concerned.4®

Under these instructions, although there is no authority for
making an explicit threat to depose a Sultan solely for failure
to sign the agreement felt necessary by British lawyers, at least
some Sultans felt that threat to be present, 0

As a means of acquiring legal rights in Kedah, Perlis,
Kelantan and Trengganu, however, for the British to “recog-
nize” a compliant Sultan and depose a rival through refusing
to recognize his authority would be to run afoul of Thai claims.
As was clear in the history of the Kedah succession in the 1830's
and 1840s recited above, the Thai themselves used the techni-
que of granting or withholding “‘recognition” in a sense, by
granting or withholding “‘installation”, to assure a ruler in
Kedah (of which Perlis was a part) amenable to their policies.
The precise arrangements used by Thailand to maintain ulti-
mate policy controf in Kelantan and Trengganu are less clear
due inlarge part to the desire of Colonial Office officials report-
ing on the status of those territories to find them legally free of
Thai entangl and the corresponding desire of the Foreign
Office officials to discourage British expansion at the expense

4*MacMichael 4.

S0Cf. 429 H. C. Deb. 5 s. 321-323 (oral answers to questions in Parlia«
ment 6 March 1946). It is not proposed in this place to analyse the very
complex politicat and legal ion of
the Malay States from being provinces of the British Empire to being con-
stitutionally protected provinces of the Malayan state, 1945-1957.
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of even mere claims to authority put about by Thailand. Thus
the Colonial Office peopie tended to find Kelantan and Treng-
ganu anxious to be annexed by the British, and the Foreign
Office people tended to find them happily prosperous under
full Thai control®! At least one Governor of the Straits
Settlements tried to compromise by proposing the British not
dispute Thai claims, but take over administration of Kelantan
and Trengganu with Thai permission.®?

Furthermore, whatever tendencies might have existed for
using military measures to bring about a situation in the
northern states that could be manipulated to British advantage
were ended by the reaction to the bombardment of Trengganu
analysed above. Even reference to “piracy” was impossibie,
for the Thai were advised by Europeans seconded to Thai
service as to questions of international law and it could no
longer be seriously argued to justify British action that “piracy”
could legally be suppressed in a foreign sovereign's land
territory or could be committed any place but the high seas.
In one known case (in 1894) a British expedition based in
Pahang did penctrate Kelantan and Trengganu without any
permission either from the Sultans or the Thai, but that pene-
tration was in violation of peremptory instructions (which did
not reach the expedition until after it had departed—it returned
to Pahang at once) and was not repeated; when a second ex-
pedition was felt necessary as part of suppressing the 1894-5

3!Many citations could be contrasted here. Clear examples of Colonial
Office perceptions may be seen in Sir Frank Swettenham's memoranda of
the 1890's cited in Part H1 below and Sheppard 30-31, 4044, 50-53. The
Foreign Office view is maintained in many historical records from the
negouauon of the Burney Treaty in 1825-1826 through the correspondence

f the 1890’s cited below. A persuasive, albeit not wholly disinterested,
accounl of Kelantan’s probable ultimate legal subordination to Thailand
is in Graham 47-54. Graham was a British adviser in Kelantan under the
Thai. See Part IV befow.

52See Lovat 383 ef seq., correspondence of 1886 between Sir Frederick

Weld, Governor of the Sitaits Settlements, and the Secretary of State for
the Colonies, and between Weld and the British Minister in Bangkok.
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insurrection in Pahang, permission was obtained and the
expedition was accompanied by two Thai Commissioners.5?

In general there was no lawlessness in the northern Malay
Peninsula sufficient to justify even a clamor for suppressing
“piracy” on the part of the British mercantile community in
the Straits Settlements in the Jast years of the nineteenth century.
What clamor existed was for the British to shoulder the burdens
of government in territory where the populace was supposed
to live in misery under oppressive Sultans. That rationale
was never seriously argued by responsible policy-makers. To
send force to bring order to Thai territory was as unthinkable
to moderate British officers as sending armed force to suppress
the Paris Commune of 1871 had seemed to moderate English-
men in Europe.

The irrepressible drive to expand was instead based quite
explicitly upon racial pride. It scemed natural to Lord Rose-
bery, Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs in Gladstone’s
Liberal Governments of 1886 and 1892-1894, Prime Minister
himself in 1894-1895, to say on 29 May 1889 that he looked
forward “to the absolute predominance of the Anglo-Saxon
race throughout the world.”3 An elaborate system of inter-
national law was perceived by James Lorimer, Professor at
the University of Edinburgh and considered by most of his
contemporaries to be one of the great international lawyers
of the late nineteenth century, by which “aggression” could be
called “a natural right, the extent of which is measured by the
power which God has bestowed on the aggressor, or permitted
him to develop™, and the “*Aryan race”, as distinguished from
the *‘Shemitic races” (with the ““Anglo-Saxons” predominant
among “Aryans”), deriving from the right of aggression a

e3Clifford 38-42; 1895 LXX 695, C. 7877, Administration Report on
Pakang, 1894, at pp. 61-76; 1896 LVINL 303, C. 8257, Administrarion Report
on Pahang, 1895, at pp. 62, 70.

B4Lovat 409.
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right of war,5 Other, perhaps less forthright, lawyers justified
unlimited European expansion in Asia on the supposed need
to “‘civilize” what was regarded as barbaric society.?® A second
variation on the basic racial theme was not based on pride of
“civilization” but on what were called “‘humanitarian” princi-
ples. Scholars justifying European conquests in Asia on
“humanitarian” grounds referred only superficially to the
supposed benefits of enlightened European rule over the rule
of local despots (as all non-European rulers were on occasion
regarded by some)—that would have been merely a type of
pride based on European “civilization”—but to the needs of
all humanity to have access to the resources of Asia which were
$SLorimer, Institutes, 332, 334-335. 1t is not proposed to dwell in this
place on the theories of Professor Lorimer. To an American observer in
1971 the elaboration of his views seems a combination of ignorance,
arrogance and fantasy ; but the faults are in his premises, not his logic. To
his European ies other then the ilds, Disraeli and the
many others of non-Aryan “race” who did not fit the form, the premises
seemed self-evident and the logic subtle and very persuasive. Modern pro-
ponents of grand theories of world order might well learn a lesson in
humility from the fate of Lorimer’s ideas.
f., among many examples of this line of thought, Piliet. The American
et “e.e. cummings” published an ironic comment on the “civilizing
mission” in 1944, during the war between the United States and Japan;

ygUDuh

ydoan
yunnuhstan
ydoano
yunnuhstan dem
yeuduh ged
yunnuhstan dem doidee
Yauduh ged riduh
ydoan o nudn
LISN bud LISN
dem
gud
am
fid] yelluh bas
tuds weer goin
duh SIVILEYEzum
e.e.cummings 393,
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regarded as being jealously hoarded by selfish Suitans.? The
degree to which the resources to be exploited by European
entrepreneurs were in fact to be shared with non-Europeans
was not apparently considered. But lest sight be lost of the
many scholars who neither approved of the actions of European
nor agreed with the premi; nwhichthoseactions were
justified, it is well to point out that at no time were advocates of
the fundamental principle of sovereign equality wholly silent.58
Although the drive to dominion was based largely on what
seems today like a grotesque sense of racial pride or smugness
about a supposed state of “civilization”, or ability to allot the
world's resources equitably, those motivations were not taken
in practice to authorize conguest in the Malay Peninsula. The
Thai, neither Aryans nor Shemites to Lorimer, but something
between entitled to “partial recognition”,3® not only had the
power to resist British aggression with some success, at least
making it doubtful that God had intended British dominion to
be gained easily over lands claimed by the Thai, but other
European powers were seeking to expand their territorial bases
in Southeast Asia at the expense of Thailand. To preserve
peace in Europe and to keep aggressive Europeans from con-
fronting each other directly in Southeast Asia it was an impor-
tant part of British diplomacy to avoid the partition of Thai-
fand among Furopean powers. The British were willing to
forego the prospect of a share of Thailand that should include
some desirable parts of the Malay Peninsula in return for avoid-
ing European neighbors in Southeast Asia.

$7CY, Rolin-Jaequemyns. An interesting variation on the same thought
was expressed as recently as 8 March 1946 in the Parliamentary debate on
the Straits Settlements (Repeal) Bill by Kenneth Younger, Labour Party
member for Grimsby. Mr. Younger cited Articles 73 and 74 of the United
Nations Charter and observed that ', . . the fact remains— and I am sure
history proves it—that a smali people in a large territory full of resources
cannot keep that territory to themselves undeveloped. . .. The resources of
the world do not belong to any small group of men, whatever their race™.
420 H.C. Deb. 55, col, 668,

18CY,, among many, Field and Hornung. Lorimer, Doctrine, 336,




III. The Further Advance to the North; Law and
Diplomacy

From the founding of Penang to the Mohamed Saad case the
policy of imperial expansion sought legal justification in a
concept of piracy that eventually became impossible to carry
furlher The search for new justifications for political action

dered upon rocks of i as they proved
mcapablc of bearing the weight in a world community that they
apparently could bear in the narrower community of Europe;
rationales based on race or culture might justify action, but
action so justified brought war. To avoid war diplomacy be-
came more important and justifications within the aggressive
community began to take account of the desirability of diplo-
macy. The sovereign equality of states became, thus, a fact of
practical life even while legal raticnales were available to ignore
it.

The interplay of law and diplomacy is very complex. Diplo-
macy must take account of the interests of third and fourth
parties that may be excluded from consideration by pure legal
logic; thus the spectre of third party interest can be a very
important bargaining tool in the hands of a trained diplomatist
and improve the bargaining position of an otherwise weak
power. In these circumstances it is difficult to say that the logic
of international law can realistically be said to adhere to the
oft-cited maxims res inter alios acta or pacta tertiis nec nocent
nec prosunt. They apply only as technical rules and are normal-
Iy restricted to cases of strict treaty interpretation. Internation-
al law-as-the-language-of-diplomacy began in the 1890’s in
Southeast Asia to supplement, perhaps in part even to replace,
international law-as-the-justification-for-direct-action,
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To illustrate the interplay between law and diplomacy, and
the relations between municipal law, British imperial law and
international law as the high tide of empire was reached two
case studies follow. The first is the story of the British acquisi-
tion of Reman from Thailand and the second traces the history
of the Duff Development Company in Kelantan.

A. REMAN

The British Foreign Office was committed in the 1870's as it
had been in the 1860’s to peaceful relations with Thailand. The
Colonial Office was not. A synthesis of views was achieved in
London by which the Colonial Office was to keep its admini-
strators from pressing too hard on the northern Malay Sultan-
ates while Thai links to those territories were to be kept as weak
as possible. The British Minister in Bangkok, Sir Ernest Satow,
in a briltiant minute analysed British policy as taking the very
same direction as French policy—to which the British were
ostensibly opposed for good imperial reasons. As he saw the
situation in the early 1880's the choice was either to support
Thai power and the integrity of Thai authority throughout the
Thai dominions, or to see Thailand broken up by French expan-
sion based in Indochina. As British policy evelved, Satow gained
the backing of the highest levels of the Foreign Office and the
India Office who were concerned about French expansion; and
the Colonial Office supported the expansionist arguments of
the Governors of the Straits Settlements. In 1887 a com-
promise over British desires to acquire the Thai area of Reman
was apparently reached when Frank Swettenham and Satow
in London thought they had Thai concurrence in a lease
arrangement that would give Perak rights of administration in
Reman while preserving Thai “sovereignty”, At the last minute
the Thai refused to fude the ar pp
fearing that similar “'leases” favoring the French and pcrhaps
others would then be unavoidable and the result would be a
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dismembered Thailand with vestigial Jegal titles but no terri-
tory orincome.l

On 6 April 1897 the British and Thai entered into a Conven-
tion by which the King of Thailand undertook not to cede to
any third power without British consent any of his rights over
Thai territories in the Malay Peninsula:

1I1. ... His Majesty the King of Siam engages not to grant,
cede, or let any special privilege or advantage, whether as
regards land, or trade, within the above specified limits, either
to the Government or to the subjects of a third Power without
the written consent of the British Government . ..

In return the British undertook to support the Thai in resisting
any attempt by a third power to “establish its influence or
Protectorate in the territories or islands above mentioned™.?
Apparently as part of the negotiation the British had acknow-
ledged Thai sovereignty over Kelantan and Trengganu
although neither name appears in the text of the Convention.?
Until at least October 1899 the chief British administrators in
the Straits Settlements were kept uninformed of this Conven-
tion.* Thus the correspondence concerning the Perak-Kedah
boundary, i.e., sovereignty over the district of Reman, proceded
on two levels: On one the Colonial Office officials proposing
policy tied the Reman sovereignty question to British possibili-
ties for expanding their control to Kelantan and Trengganu,

Kiernan, passim. See also Thio.

Aitchisen 172; F.O. 93/95-13.

3This is not explicit in the Convention, but in later internal British
correspondence is clearly stated. See, €.g., F.O. 69/204, confidential letter
dated 4 September 1897 from George Greville {British Minister in Bang-
kok) to Lord Salisbury (Prime Minister and Foreign Minister).

4F.0. 69/204, letter from H. Bertram-Cox, Undersecretary of State for
the Colonies, 10 the Undersecretary of State for Foreign Affairs dated 26
October 1899. In the same file there is evidence in a letter from Sir Charles
B. H. Mitchell, High Commissioner of the Federated Malay States and
Governor of the Straits Settlements, to his Colonial Office superiors dated
7g.0clober 1899 that rumors of the Convention had in fact reached him at
that time.
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on the other the Foreign Office officials insisted on treating the
Reman question in isolation.

After the faifure of the negotiations of 1887 to reach a
conclusion favorable to British interest in Reman there was no
correspondence for twelve years over the issue of sovereignty
in that small area. Although the issu¢ was referred to by
British officials as a mere border problem, implying that
surveyers could resolve it, the Colonial officials were pressing
for full British sovereignty over a relatively well-defined area.
Foreign Office officials were apparently not fully aware of the
extent of Colonial claims.

When the Convention of April 1897 was concluded, without
revealing that the issue of sovercignty in Trengganu and
Kelantan was already decided Sir Charles B. H. Mitchell,
High Commissioner of the Federated Malay States, asked Sir
Frank Swettenham, the Resident General, for rumors of any

ial concessions to foreign i in *‘the Malay
States which are recognized as appertaining to Siam”. Swetten-
ham reported some intrigues in Kelantan involving a Malay
noble who hoped for British support in his attempt to seize
the throne, but raised the Reman *‘boundary” question as the
issue upper-most in his mind.5 The questions raised by
Swettenham were apparently sent on to the British Minister in
Bangkok, George Greville, who wrote to Lord Salisbury,
acting as his own Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs while
Prime Minister also:

Siam has gained important advantages by the Secret Con-
ventjon recently signed with Great Britain and H.M. Govern-
ment have waived their objections in regard to Siamese rights
over Kelantan and Trengganu. It is not unreasonable to expect
that the Siamese Government should put such pressure as may
be requisite on the Sultan of Reman to induce him to give way

5/d., letter dated 25 June 1897,
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on the points in question so that an end may be put to ali
frontier disputes in that region.®

As always in international affairs, as was the case when Chao
Phya Ligor conceded territory to the British in 1831, gratitude
did not extend to questions of territory; indeed it is difficult
to say why Greville thought the Thai should have acquiesced
in British wishes at all since the Secret Convention was clearly
as much to British interest as to Thai. The Thai might with
equal logic have asked the British to give up their pretentions
in Reman. Greville found the Thai, Prince Devawongse,
Minister for Foreign Affairs, temporizing.”

The Colonial Office would not let the matter drop, A killing
occurred in Reman according to the British officer administer-
ing the Straits Settlements (C. W. 8. Kynnersley) on 18 January
1898, and the administration of justice was alleged to require
an agreement with the Thai as to which of the two Empires’
provinces, British Perak or Thai Kedah, had jurisdiction in
Reman. Kynnersley suggested an artificial boundary be fixed
for purposes of criminal jurisdiction pending a final settlement
of the issue® Lord Salisbury concurred in Kynnersley's
suggestion® and appropriate instructions were apparently sent
to George Greville in Bangkok.

In response to Greville's arguments Prince Devawongse
rejected the British legal position and pressed for the accused
murderer to be sent to Bangkok or Kedah for trial.l® Not
surprisingly, James Alexander Swettenham (Frank’s brother
and the senior British official in the Straits Settiements at the
time}) did not feel that the need to do justice outweighed the

#1d., letter dated 4 September 1897,

1d., Greville to Salisbury 8 December 1897.

®1d. See also letter from the Undersecretary of State for the Colonies to
the Undersecretary of State for Foreign Affairs dated 23 February 1898.

*Id., reply dated 2 March 1898 to the letter of 23 February.

19/d,, Devawongse to Greville 23 April 1898; Greville to Kynnersley 30
S:plember 1898.
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need to maintain the integrity of the British claim to Reman:
“The scene of the murder and the residence of the accused
persons are both within Perak territory, and therefore no cause
for extradition has arisen”.}! The “‘Perak territory” referred
ta was actually Reman.!? Both sides thus were asserting ex-
clusive jurisdiction in the same area. Since the British had
custody of the accused murderer they could try him whether
or not the Thai agreed; the Thai were obviously not going to
enter negotiations over jurisdiction with the situation clearly
enabling the British to ignore their arguments.

Thai claims to the Reman district rested on what were
asserted to be nearly fifty years of peaceful and unchatlenged
occupation by Thailand’s personal vassal, the Malay Raja of
Reman. His occupation began in 1834 and was not challenged
by the British untif 1882. Whatever the weaknesses of the
original Thai claim against Perak’s assertions of right in Reman
were cured, according to the legal views put forth by Prince
Devawongse, by “prescription”: long continued, peaceful and
unchallenged occupation.!3 It may be mentioned in passing
that this Thai claim was similar to the legal basis that had been
claimed by the British in 1821 to perfect their rights in Penang
against the Thai themselves after thirty-five years of occupation
that was far from peaceful.14

1114, Swettenham to Greville 1 November 1898.

12Francis Bertie, the Undersecretary of State for Foreign Affairs queried
his opposite number in the Colonial Office about this on S January 1899,
The Foreign Office obviously had its suspicions about the integrity of the
Colonial officials in the Malay Peninsula. In view of the secrecy maintained
about the Convention of April 1897 the accusations of disingenuous be-
haviour would cut both ways between Foreign Office and Colonial Office.
1f the Foreign Office wonld not tell Colonial officials a/f the facts involved
in British frontier relations, whatever the reason for concealment, the Colo-
nial officials could hardly be faulted by the Foreign Office for maintaining
intrigues.

1374, Dlevawongse to Greville 23 April 1898.

MRubin, Personality, Ch. VHILA,
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Frank Swettenham in a confidential memorandum to High
Commissioner Mitchell dated 5 January 1899 acknowledged
some force to the Thai legal position and rested his argument
for the British not on legal but primarily on policy grounds.
“[Tlhe question is one of sentiment with the Sultan of Perak
and his Chiefs, and to gain the territory would be to increase
British prestige”, he wrote. To contrast with this, he denigrated
the Thai claim saying, “The question . . . is of moment [to
Thailand] only so far that, if it [Reman] reverted to Perak, the
loss would be a blow to Siamese prestige with its Malay sub-
jects”™. With the curious one-sidedness so often encountered in
statesmen, he did not seem to realize that his own logic was
equally likely to have been used, with names reversed, by Thai
policy-makers. He thus seemed to lack ironic intent when he
wrote, “The Perak claim is good, in that it is genuine, honest,
and I think righteous. It is bad, in that it is difficult to prove,
and that the Reman people have been in possession of at least
a large part of the disputed territory for at least fifty years”.
His recommendation for action revealed Swettenham’s real
interest in the matter to extend far beyond issues of prestige.
Laheling Kelantan and Trengganu as “two independent States
within the sphere of British influence, where they [the Thai] had,
at least, no better rights than we had™, he wrote: “[TJo keep
the Siamese out of these States, which must shortly come under
British possession, was of far more importance than to recover
for Perak the territory in dispute™ {emphasis added). He con-
cluded by proposing that the British tell the Thai **. . . *If you
don’t agree to a reasonable settlement of the boundary, we
shail resume our own freedom action in Kelantan and Treng-
ganu’ . . .”, anticipating great benefits to British interests on
the east coast from a firm British reaction to Thai intransigence
in Reman.1%

15F.0. 69/204,
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Meanwhile in London the Colonial Office, resting on a
Foreign Office acceptance of the justice of Perak’s claim to
Reman in 1885 when the first negotiations over Reman had
been authorized {and foundered on the rock of Thai intransi-
gence), proposed, and the Foreign Office agreed, that Mitchelt
and Frank Swettenham should go to Bangkok to negotiate
with the Thai again.’6 But on 10 February 1899, Lord Salis-
bury rejected Swettenham’s proposals, no doubt with the
secret Convention in mind, and when Greville reported the
Thai to be absolutely adamant about any change in position
on Reman Mitchell requested that his instructions to visit
Bangkok be cancelled.}?

The issue now rose to a question of principle in the Colonial
Office. Joseph Chamberlain, Secretary of State for the Colonies,
had Lord Salisbury informed that he felt that Thailand “‘should
not be allowed to take up a ‘non possumus’ attitude”. Salis-
bury tried to soothe his Cabinet colleague by pointing out that
if the British were to withdraw the visit of Mitchell and
Swettenham, the Thai might be jollied into being more forth-
coming; the British lever to induce a settlement was not to be
threats on That territory, but the threat of a visit from Colonial
expansionists from Singapore! The two Undersecretaries,
Lucas and Bertie, exchanged letters agreeing that the visit of
Mitchell and Swettenham to Bangkok would be cancelled, but
that Greville would take up the cudgels confining negotiations
to terms agreeable to Mitchell.18

For the Thai the issue was now one of resisting European
(including French) pressures for territorial concessions. The
Thai were witling to open up the Reman area to British mining
interests if the British would drop their demands for cession or
lease of territory, From the intensity of British interest the

4]d., Lucas {Undersecretary of State for the Colonies) to Bertie secret
]cl!cr 23 Novemiber 1898; reply dated 26 November 1898.

17{d., correspondence dated 10, 18 and 19 February 1899.
84d., correspondence dated 22, 23 and 28 February, § March 1899.
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Thai had got the impression that the Reman area contained
valuable mineral deposits so they sent Henry G. Scott, a British
subject working for the Thai Government as Director of the
Royal Siamese Department of Mines, to visit the area. Since
the mineral resources of Reman were in fact believed by the
British not to be great, Greville was sanguine about the chances
of the Thai being reasonable, “unless the C.O.’s (i.e. Frank
Swettenham) {sic] exigencies are too great.”’1#

The terms for the British position were formulated by Frank
Swettenham in a memorandum for Mitchell dated 26 April
1899. He proposed presenting the full claim for “the whole
territory drained by the Perak River and its tributaries™ (which
would have included quite a large piece of central Malaya
north of Perak and east of Kedah), but indicated in three fall-
back levels the lesser slices of territory that would satisfy his
appetite for the moment. Againhe emphasized ** . . . the recti-
fication of this boundary is of small importance as compared
with the loss of British influence in Tringanu and Kelantan and
the tightening of Siamese control in those places”. Mitchell
sent the Swettenham memorandum to Greville in Bangkok a
month later and after some exchange of correspondence the
Foreign Office instructed Greville to negotiate Swettenham's
proposed territorial demand, 20

Greville’s negotiating tactic was to mix the Reman problem
in with a general negotiation concerning the extradition of
offenders between the British-controlled and Thai-controiled
areas of the Malay Peninsula and abolition or heavy revision
of the antiquated tariff and tax provisions of the Treaty between
Great Britain and Thailand concluded in 18562 Both the

189)d,, Greville to Foreign Office dated 18 February and 15 March 1899;
private letter from Greville to Salisbury dated 16 March 1899,
18’9‘;1:1., Correspondence dated 26 April, 27 May, 10 June and 7 August

B, Greville to Salisbury dated 16 August 1899. The Treaty of 1856 is
in Aitchison 132,
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extradition agreement and the tariff and tax revisions were
strongly desired by the Thai, thus Greville would have negoti-
ating leverage to gain a minor boundary revision in return for
British concessions on the larger issues,

The Reman part of the negotiation went well for the British.
In their desire to avoid legal arguments based upon prescrip-
tion, Mitchell and Swettenham had advised Greville to stay
away from discussing history but to emphasize that Reman
was more easily accessible from Perak than from Thai territory.
The argument cut both ways; it turned out that the Thai had
constructed roads into Reman. A compromise based on ac-
cessibility and the location of the houses of the Thai’s acknow-
ledged subordinate, the Raja of Reman, was reached in a few
days. The British got some territory, enough to be more than
the minimum fixed by Swettenham’s proposed instructions,
but the Thai retained the areas of concern to them,

‘When extradition was discussed the positions of the two
sides proved impossible to reconcile. The Thai asked only that
the terms of an extradition arrangement already applied bet-
ween Thailand and British-controlled Burma be extended to
apply in the Malay Peninsula. The Foreign Office found this
request difficult to refuse; if the arrangement were mutually
advantageous in the Thai-Burma boundary area, why not in the
Thai-Malay boundary areas? Nonetheless, under his instruc-
tions from London Greville was bound to get the concurrence
of his Colonial Office neighbors in the Malay Peninsula before
yielding the point and Frank Swettenham and Charles Mitchell
proved adamant. Their position was “that it is better not to
introduce Siam’s half-civilized metheds into the Malay
Peninsula”. Unable to get a united British Government
position on the guestion Greville was unable to agree to any
change in the then current situation; no new extradition
arrangement could be agreed to between Great Britain and
Thailand. Although unsupported by logic other than the logic
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of empire building, the Colonial Office was in a position under
the British constitution to block the legal changes wanted by
the Foreign Office and the Thai.

Before leaving the topic of extradition in this negotiation
and the effect Colonial Office policy had on the external face
of Great Britain, an incident is werth retailing. While the
extradition negotiations were grinding to an embarassing
silence as the Thai waited for Greville to give the answer he
could not present logically, Henry Scott, the Englishman
visiting Reman for the Thai Government, reported to Greville
in Bangkok that he found the Thai administration in Singora,
Patani, Reman, Kelantan and Trengganu, among other places
in the southern region of Thailand, to be highly enlightened.
He attributed Colonial Office expansionist aims to the British
Government in general. This seems to have shocked either
Bertie or Salisbury; a red line appears in the margin of Scott’s
report alongside some disparaging remarks about European
powers treating weak Asian nations with less than respect.
On 28 October 1899 Bertie wrote a secret memorandum to the
Undersecretary of State for the Colonies that Mr, Scott would
be disabused of his erroneous impressions of Her Majesty’s
Government's policy in the boundary question. It seems clear
that Scott’s misapprehension lay merely in attributing to the
British Government the views of its Colonial Office administra-
tors in the Malay Peninsula.??

The negotiation on tariff revisions also met with some
difficulty, but that difficulty involved the India Office and not
the Colonial Office; it is not significant to the present study.
The negotiation did progress sufficiently that the Thai felt able
to conclude the substance of the Reman negotiation containing
their territorial concessions in November 1899 together with a

RE.Q. 69204, Greville to Salisbury dated 16 August 1899 enclosing

Scott to Greville dated 5 August 1899; Greville to Satisbury dated 25
August 1899; Bertie to H. Bertram-Cox dated 28 October 1899,
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mutually b ial, non- oversial relating to
the registration of British subjects in Thailand, although the
Agreement on tariffs and taxes was not formally concluded
until 20 September 1900, almost ten months later.2? The British
consent to the tariff and tax changes was the explicit cost to the
Brmsh of the Rcman boundary adjustment. The British in-

on ined a point of Thai annoyance
until 1911.2¢

B. THE LAST FRONTIER: KELANTAN

It is clear from the story of Reman that to the Colonial
Office the prize in the Malay Peninsula was Trengganu and
Kelantan. It will, of course, come as no surprise to the readers
of this paper that the prize was won in 1909 together with
Kedah and Perlis.?* Having noted the interests at play in the
Reman negotiation, however, the story of the final expansion
of British dominion in the Malay Peninsula must have a certain
fascination. It is a story of intrigue, the flag following trade,
diplomacy, and the source of a series of decisions by British
courts which still stand as landmarks of international and
British imperial Jaw despite their anomalies.

In the British expeditions to suppress the Pahang rebellion
of 18941895 was Mr. Robert William Duff, Acting Superintend-
ent of Police in Pahang. On his return to England Mr. Duff
got the backing of British commercial interests and formed
“The Duff Syndicate, Limited” to seek commercial mining
concessions in Kelantan and Trengganu. The first word the
Foreign Office received of his plan was a formal letter dated 24

#The Agreements are copied in Aitchison 173 et seq. The originals are

in F.O. 93/95-5 and 14. A summary of the tariff problem is in Aitchison
110,
#4See the Treaty of 4 March 1911, Aitchison 193.
*The Agreement betwecn the Umted ngdom and Thailand by which
in t is in Aitchison 183;
1908 CV 905, Cd. 4646 1909 Cvol9, Tremy Series No. 19 for 1909.
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April 1900 to the Undersecretary of State for Foreign Affairs,
The Syndicate reported that it had capitalization of £10,000
and asked the Foreign Office to instruct the British Minister in
Bangkok to use his influence there to help Duff obtain “letters
of recommendation from the Government of Siam to the Rajas
of Kelantan and Trengganu”. The letter is ambiguous,
implying that Kelantan and Trengganu are independent and
that Thailand has mere influence there; in ink on the letter,
however, a Foreign Office official has noted that *In the bound-
ary Agreement recently concluded with Siam we have recog-
nized Tringganu & Kelantan as dependencies of Stam . . .,
After consulting with the Colonial Office proposing to give
Duff the help he requested if his scheme were bona fide, and
receiving a reply that *“Mr. Chamberlain concurs in the instruc~
tions which it is proposed to send to H.M. Chargé d"Affaires at
Bangkok as to the support which he should give to Mr. Duff’s
application,” the Foreign Office wrote formally to the Duff
Syndicate on 24 May 1900 that “‘all proper assistance” would
be given him.

Duff arrived in Bangkok on 7 June and went immediately to
see Mr. C. E. W. Stringer, British Chargé d’Affaires who
succeeded George Greville at the conclusion of the Reman
negotiation, Stringer directed him to Mr. Scott, the British
national who was in Thai service as Director of Mines. Mr.
Scott bluntly refused to consider a mining concession for Duff
and advised him to leave the country, Duff replied that he had
the backing of the British Government for his request, that he
“‘was asking for nothing which 1 had not the right to ask for as
a British subject”, and ¢ d diplomatic lications if
he were not given an interview with the Thai Minister of the
Interior. Scott was apparently intimidated, for on the following
day Duff had his interview and received from the Thai Minis-
ter permission to prospect for minerals in Kelantan and
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Trengganu.?® In reporting to Mr. Stringer on his activities Duff
attributed his success to the threat of British diplomatic inter-
vention on his behalf, and from this success reasoned also that
he had a right to mining concessions under the provision of the
Burney Treaty of 1826 by which the Thai undertook “not to go
and obstruct or interrupt commerce in the States of Tringano
and Calantan” and that:

English merchants, and subjects shall have trade and inter-
course in future with the same facility and freedom as they have
heretofore had.#?

The weakness of Duff’s reasoning is clear: The Burney Treaty
was never intended or interpreted by either side to open Kelan-
tan and Trengganu to unrestricted British commerce, not to
mention mining concessions of a sort and extent not known in
those states in 1826, But Duff's greatest negotiating power
with the Thai came not from his assertion of legal right, or even
from Thai apprehension of British diplomatic intervention
(although that was, probably, a very significant factor indeed).
it came from Thai apprehension that the Sultans of Kelantan
and Trengganu would seek profit and a political aily in Duff
and the British Colonial Office. with the intrigue leading to
eventual loss of those two Sultanates to the British and possibly
further French demands in Eastern Thailand as “‘compensa~
tion”. Duff was already thinking in terms of bypassing the
Thai for his mining concessions and asked Stringer “if 4 reason-
able grant of land made by one of these Malay Rulers would be
supported by the British Government in the event of the
Siamese questioning its validity.”28

26E.(. 69/224, letter from Mr. C. E. W. Stringer, British Chargé ¢’
Affaires in Bangkok, to Lord Salisbury and frem Duff to Stringer, both
dated 20 June 1900. The letter from Duff to Stringer is obviously misdated,
since it is marked as having been received by Stringer on 19 June.

27The quotation is from Article 12 of the Burney Treaty. See above.

BF.0. 65/224, letters cited in note 26 above. On * Compensallon asa
basis for territorial aggrandizement. see Dickinson
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In the negotiations over Reman, one of the pettier issues had
concerned the labels to be used in referring to Kelantan and
3 in the Ag of 29 N ber 1899: The Thai
had wanted them referred to as under Thai sovereignty while
the draft tabled by George Greville in August 1899 with the
approval of Foreign Office and the Colonial Office had re-
ferred to ‘“‘the British Dependency of the Federated Malay
States and the Siamese Dependencies of Kelantan and Tring-
ano™.#® In the course of negotiating Greville convinced Prince
Devawongse that the intention of the British wording was to
reflect that the Federated Malay States were in exactly the same
legal relation to the British Government as Kelantan and
Trengganu were to the Thai. On this understanding the King
accepted the compromise wording “Siamese province of Reman
and the Siamese dependencies of Kedah, Kelantan and
Tringanu™. But at British request at the very last moment
reference to the British “dependency”” of the Federated Malay
States was replaced with a reference to the “*States of Perak and
Pahang™.30
Governor Mitchell, kept ignorant of the secret Convention
of 1897, was very unhappy with the implied recognition of Thai
authority in Kelantan and Trengganu and had apparently been
overruled in his objections to the compromise arrangement by
the Colonial Office in London.3! Nonetheless, the Foreign
Office must have agreed that the word “dependencies” might
be interpreted to mean something less than ultimate authority
because Greville was instructed specifically that: “The ex-
pression ‘Sovereignty’ must be avoided in connection with

29F. 0. 69/204, letter from Greville to Salishury dated 16 August 1899;
Ietter from Bertie to Greville dated 17 August 1899.

304d., Tetter from Greville to Salisbury dated 25 August 1899; telegrams
from Foreign Office to Greville and Greville to Salisbury dated 27 and 29
November 1899 respectively,

3174, telegrams from Greville to Bertie and from Foreign Office to Gre-
ville dated 13 and 23 September 1899 respectively.
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relationship of Siam to Kelantan and Trengganu which should
be treated as Siamese dependencies”. 2 How much leeway this
technical haggling was intended to give the British in possible
later attempts to wrest Kelantan and Trengganu from Thailand
is not clear, The substitution of preambular language deleting
the paralle]l reference to British “dependencies” at the last
minute was less evidence of a too-subtie plot than of a still
subtler technical British reference to their constitutional re-
lations with the Malay Sultans of Pahang and Perak in whose
name British policy was promulgated. Since the Thai relation
to Kedah had been acknowledged by the British to be one of
complete dominance since at least 1826, and the language in
question put Kelantan and Trengganuinthesamedependency™
relation to Thailand as it put Kedah, the Thai were presumably
satisfied that their asserted rights in Kelantan and Trengganu
were being acknowledged also. The distinction between, the
“province” of Reman and the “dependencies” of Kedah,
Kelantan and T was p bl ionalized by the
Thai {and possibly by Greville also) to reflect Thai constitu-
tional pecularities, since Kedah, Kelantan and Trengganu each
had a Sultan issuing decrees in his own name (as the Sultans of
Pahang and Perak did also), while Reman did not.

Duff did not know this background. Furthermore, he mis-
read the Agreement of 1899 to class Kedah as a “province”
and only Kelantan and Trengganu as “dependencies”. He was
ignorant of the secret Convention of 1897 and convinced that
Kelantan and Trengganu existed in a legal limbo, with Thai
assertions of authority being rejected by the Sultans and the
British Government refraining from recognizing the ultimate
validity of Thai claims. Now, in June of 1899 he felt the Thai
were pushing forward rapidly to acquire control, but that it was
not yet too late for the British to block this Thai movement.

3234, Foreign Office to Greville, telegram dated 27 October 1899,
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“Neither state . . . is sufficiently strong to repudiate the Siamese
assumption of authority and therefore in time, both states must
become provinces {sic] of Siam unless the British Government
interfere™ 3% His proposal to seek British Government support
of concessions he might be able to get directly from the Sultans
was made in the context of his belief, thus, that his actions
might play a part in British plans to expand governmental in-
fluence into Kelantan and Trengganu before the Thai could
solidify their control.

Lord Salisbury proposed to Mr. Chamberlain that Stringer
be instructed to reply to Duff:

that the authority of Siam over Tringanu and Kelantan
having been recognized by Her Majesty’s Gov't [sic), no grant
of land by the Sultan of one of those states, to which the Siam-
ese Government objected, could be regarded as valid and that
any support which he might give to Mr. Duff, should be limited
to endeavoring to obtain the confirmation by the Siamese
Government of any such grant.

In reply, Mr. Chamberlain concurred but again wanted to
maintain a little ambiguity. He suggested that the words
“should be supported™ be substituted for “‘could be regarded
as valid”, thus implyitg that although the British Government
might not support the validity of any concession on a diplomat-
ic level, it might be supported at some other level 34

Apparently to Duff or his backers the implications of this
communication were unclear; on 3 August 1900 Major ‘Wemyss,
a Director of the Duff Syndicate, wrote to the Colonial Office
a report of an interview he had just had with an unnamed
Assistant Undersecretary of State for Foreign Affairs (prob-

3F,0. 69/224, report from Duff to Syndicate enciosed with Duff's letter
to Stringer dated 20 June 1900,

8]d., exchange of letters between the Undersecretaries of Foreign
Affairsand the Colonics dated 1/% August 1900,
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ably F. A. Campbel13%), saying that he had been assured “any
title granted by a Jocal Sultan or chief would have a legitimate
claim to Foreign Office support provided that it did not conflict
with established rights already exercised by Siam in the past”
and that although “the support of the Foreign Office was not
formal, . .. the Syndicate could depend on its being pushed
with energy so long as we made legitimate demands”.36

This was enough for Duff, who travelled to Kelantan and on
11 October 1900 obtained a concession from the Suitan of
exclusive mineral and timber rights for forty years in about
2,000 of the 5,350 square miles of the State of Kelantan {(about
37 1/2%, of the total land area of Kelantan).®?

Despite the enormous land area of the concession, the terms
could be defended as *legitimate™ in a manner of speaking.
Paragraph one gave Duff personally, and companies formed by
him for the purpose, the exclusive right to “work minerals and
timber and every other kind of work in whatever manner he
pleases” in the described area for forty years. Butan important
restriction in paragraph seven of the agreement said:

7. ... Duff or his representative may not sell or sublet or
give away the land except with the consent of the Raja of
Kelantan.

33Campbell’s initials appear under a pencilied note in the margin of a
letter by Wemyss to the Foreign Office dated 18 February 1901. The sub-
stance of the pencitled note relates to what Wesniyss was told at a later inter~
view concerning the affairs of the Syndicate. No other indication appears
in the correspondence in F.0. 69/224 to identify the Assistant Undersecre-
tary of State for Foreign Affairs having dealings with Major Wemyss.

38F 0. 69,224, letter from the Syndicate to the Undersecretary of State
for Foreign Affairs dated 28 January 1900 (clearly an error for 1901);
fetter from Wemyss to the Foreign Office dated 18 February 1901.

37The Concession Agreement is not dated but was reported by the Syndi-
cate 0 be dated 11 October 1900. It is in F.O. 69/224 as an enclosure to the
Syndicate’s letter of 28 January 1900 (1901). The size of the concession was
détermined with care and reported in official British correspondence with
Thaitand on 10 July 1901 - Report from Mr. Bourke, Acting Director of
Mines 10 the Royal Thai Government, to William Archer, British Minister
in Bangkok.
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On the other side, Duff undertook to pay $20,000 “to the
Government of Kelantan” jmmediately on entering the state
“to commence work™, and to share the profits of exploitation
with the “Government of Kelantan™ according to a complex
formula by which Kelantan was to get 4% of the stock of the
Duff Development Company and 5% of the value of any
precious stones or metals and timber or other agricultural
products exported from Kelantan,

There were no British rights of criminal or civil jurisdiction
provided for, as Paragraph 6 specifically provided :

6. ... Duff agrees in respect of any persons within the two
districts [the whole territory of the Concession] that any action
which may arise may be settled in the Police Court in Kelantan
and that no case may be taken for settlement outside Kelantan
and moreover the Police of Kelantan may arrest any evildoers
within the two aforesaid districts,

There are many ambiguities and legal uncertainties in the
Agreement. For example, in paragraph 6 quoted above, Duff’s
agreeing to the jurisdiction of a Kelantan court could not
legally derogate from rights the Thai may have had to alter the
court system in Kelantan, but could Duff aliege the Agreement
gave his people immunity from a Thai court? Did the confirm-
ing of Kelantan police authority in the two districts impliedly
negative Thai police authority there ?

At the same time the Thai, hearing of Duff’s trip to Kelan-
tan, issued ““Regulations” to the Sultans of the northern Malay
States claimed by Thailand. Regulation No. 4 provided:

If a man of any race or a Siamese wishes to make an agree-
ment with the ruler of . . . {a Malay State or territory} both the
rulers of the country and the concessionaire must report every-
thing to the . . . [Thai Commissioner] who governs the country
who will see if it is fair and if it is . . . will ratify the agreement
and it can be acted on. But if the . . . [Commissioner] whom
the country belongs to does not ratify the agreement it is in-
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validated and anythmg contained therein will not be allowed
the concessionaire .

According to the Duff Syndicate, this Thai Regulation was not
handed to the Sultan of Kelantan until six days after he had
signed the Concession Agreement with Duff.

The first format British reaction to the conclusion of the

Concession Agreement was in the form of a secret letter from
James Alexander Swettenham, Administrator of the Straits
Settlements, to Joseph Chamberlain dated 19 November 1900,
James Alexander was not as directly urgent as his brother
Frank had been about detaching Kelantan and Trengganu
from Thailand. His major concern was that the Thai Regula-
tion be supported despite the impact on Duff of requiring Thai
approval before the concession could be considered valid. He
pointed out that the Thai Government,
at our instance recently vetoed a German scheme for leasing
or obtaining extensive rights to Germans in Pulau Lang Kawi,
north of Penang . . . If Mr. Duff may receive a concession in
Kelantan without the formal consent of Siam or Great Britain,
or both, an awkward precedent may be set which may qulck]y
be utilised by Russians, French, or Germans.
The reference to possible British consent without Thai consent
also hints that the problem might be solved as far as the Colo-
nial administrators on the scene were concerned by the com-
plete British acquisition of Kelantan. But James Alexander
seems to have been prepared to see Duff lose his concession
to support Thai interests, as the notion of keeping European
rivals out of the Malay Peninsula was more important in his
view than either degrading Thai interest or expanding British
interest.3%

But there was a major inhibition to British expansion in
Kelantan that both Swettenhams ignored (whether from

B[4, attachment to the Syndicate's letter of 28 January 1900 (1901).

394, Swettenham to Chamberlain letter dated 9 November 1900.
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ignorance or policy is not clear). British and French pressures
on Thailand in the 1890's had forced the European powers to
consider whether as a matter of policy they wished to ex-
tinguish the independence of Thailand and confront each other
across a single border. On 15 January 1896 they had agreed to
maintain an independent Thai “heartland™, the valley of the
Menam Chao Phya, the central river basin of Thailand. The
map delimiting as between Great Britain and France the area
which both acknowledged to be part of the Siam whose in-
dependence they pledged each other to maintain, showed
Kelantan clearly within Thai territory; the British would have
to face complications with France if they annexed Kelantan.4®

The correspondence and agreements with France were not
secret and the officers of the Duff Syndicate, seeking Foreign
Office support, did not urge British annexation of Kelantan.
It may be doubted that they would have wanted British annexa-
tion even if there had been no legal inhibition; Duff certainly
seemed able to get the essentials of a profitable concession from
the Sultan of Kelantan and the extent to which British ad-
mtinistrators in Kelantan would have been equally obliging was
questionable. What the Duff Syndicate wanted was British
Foreign Office support to maintain the validity of the Duff
concession against anticipated Thai objection. Following the
sound principle that he who seeks the help of another should
make it as easy as possible for that heip to be given, the Syndi-
cate presented the Foreign Office with a legal argument for
possible use in Bangkok supporting the validity of the Duff
concession regardless of Thai ratification, The argument boils

10See 1894 XCVI 399, Correspondence Respecting the Afiairs of Siam, esp.
Pp. 182 et seq. The area of immediate concern in 1893 was the upper
Mekong and the Burma-Laos border, Two Protocols of 25 Novernber 1893
settled that issue between the British and French. /d,, pp. 212-213; 1893
1894 CIX, C. 7231. The 1896 Protocol is in 1896 XCV 73, C. 7976; 1896
XCV 83, C. 8010 (Treaty Series No. S, 1896). A. H. Oakes wrote 4 memo-
randum dated 23 April 1901 pointing out these complications in the
Foreign Office. That memorandum is in F. 0. 63/224.
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down to one of historic right, evidenced by the continuous
past practice of the Sultans of Kelantan, to alienate land without
Thai permission, and the absence of any treaty or agreement
between the Sultan and the Thai to derogate from that historic
right. The Syndicate alleged that the Thai officials in Kelantan
had already begun interfering with Duft’s attempts to explore
his concession. To give the Foreign Office an incentive to use
its influence in Bangkok, the letter closed with a cryptic re-
ference to European rivals—presumably intending to remind
the policy-making officials in London of the German con-
cession referred to by James Alexander Swettenham:

[M]y directors are anxious to feel assured of the support . . .
of H.M.G. against the vexatious interference of Siam in their
operations which support they have reason to know would be
granted by certain foreign Governments which are erdeavor -
ing to obtain a footing in this state . . . 41

In response to this letter, there was a meeting between the
Syndicate and the Foreign Office at which British reluctance
1o interfere with Thai assertions of right in Kelantan was made
clear. There was some question as to whether the Syndicate
was told “that England had already recognized that Siam had
obtained tand rights, rights of alienation of land, in Kelantan™
(that was the Syndicate’s impression of what it had been told),
or merely that the British “‘recognised that the 2 States were
dependencies of Siam” (which is what F. A, Campbell said he
told them in a note penciled in the margin of the Syndicate’s
letter to the Foreign Office).42 1t is overwhelmingly likely that
the Syndicate correctly interpreted what was said to them by
the Foreign Office official with whom they talked, and
Campbell's quibbling note does not alter the substance: What-
ever “dependencies”” means, the Foreign Office did not want to

41F. 0. 69224, letter dated 28 January 1900 (1901)
4214, letter dated 18 February 1901.
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support Duff in Kelantan at the expense of Thai assertions of
right.

Reacting to this interview, which the Syndicate regarded as
most unsatisfactory, the Syndicate wrote to the Foreign Office
repeating its legalistic arguments about rights of alienation.
The alienation argument scems to have fascinated Duff and
his Syndicate, aithough the Foreign Office found it far more
cunning than convincing. Not only had the Foreign Office
already rejected the plea for support based on that legal argu-
ment, but the argument itself falls when it is remembered that
the Duff concession did not involve actual alienation of land.
There was no precedent in Kelantan for sweeping exploitation
concessions of this kind, therefore arguments based on evidence
of past practice left a gap for imagination to fill in. The rights
in Kelantan which the Dufl people claimed had never been
acquired by the Thai were analagous to rights the British
claimed in the Federated Malay States without explicit
authority other than the general “advice” term of Pangkor-type
agreements, and it may be remembered that in the Agreement
of 29 November 1899 Thai rights in Kelantan and Trengganu
were deliberately analogized to British rights in the Federated
Malay States.

A further Duff Syndicate argument based on labeling Thai-
land a mere “‘suzerain™ and denying the right of a suzerain to
control land rights seems similarly to have been ignored.
Again, it may be remembered that as the label “‘suzerain™ was
fosing its Jegal meaning in the last years of the nineteenth cen-
tury the rights of the former “‘suzerain™ were not necessarily
considered to be lost as a matter of law; merely replaced by the
new label “‘Protecting Power™ or the parallel label *“Paramount
Power”.

Other, lesser, legalisitic arguments of the Syndicate were
raised and ignored.
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But the political arguments of the Duff Syndicate carried

more weight. These were based on two considerations: 1) Were
it not for Duff (the Syndicate argued) Kelantan would be in
rebellion against Thailand, which Thailand would be forced to
suppress if it wanted to hold any power there. Rebellion in
Kelantan would upset the stability of Pahang. Therefore,
British interest in the Federated Malay States depended on
supporting Duff in Kelantan. 2) Duff’s departure would leave
a vacuum which would be filled by some other European enter-
prise less willing than the Duff Syndicate to foliow the policy
directions of the British Government; a broad intimation was
given:
If the British Foreign Office has, from questions of higher
policy which do not come into the range of vision of this Syndi-
cate, decided that they cannot support the claims of British sub-
jects in the manner that simitar claims would be supported by
Forelgn Governments, then the only course open to this Syndi»
cateisto dispose of their rightsto a foreign company . [They
have already been approached on the subject .

To the Foreign Office now the nub of the problem was
whether the Thai could keep non-British Europeans out of
Trengganu and Kelantan (and, as James Alexander Swetten-
ham had reminded London, Langkawi Island and other terri-
tory near the Peninsula as well). If not, then some other way to
achieve that desired result would have to be found; the secret
Convention of 1897 would be useless and the British would
have recognized Thai authority in Kelantan and Trengganu to
no clear advantage. Oddly, the Foreign Office proposed to
ignore what by its own analysis was the central issue, and on
1 March 1901 suggested to the Colonial Office that William
Archer, the British Minister in Bangkok who succeed George
Greville as Mr. Stringer’s superior, be told to intimate to the
Thai that the British Government “hoped”” there would be no
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interference by the Thai with the ‘“‘deed of partnership”
between the Sultan and Mr. Duff.43

The Colonial Office saw a further ramification to the apparent
inability of the Thai to prevent the Sultan of Kefantan granting
congcession agreements to foreigners. In replying to the Foreign
Office proposal on 6 March 1901 the Colonial Office asked that
Archer be instructed to explain to the Thai,

that it is impossible to atlow a state of things under which
the English, through having recognized the authority of Siam
over those states, are placed at a disadvantage as compared
with other nationalities who do not recognize Siamaese author-
ity and deal with the Rajahs alone.

Mr. Chamberlain is reported to have wanted to change the
Foreign Office’s language concerning the “hope” of the British
Government to:

Her Majesty's Government must request that under existing
conditions there will be no interference by the Siamese Govern-
ment with the arrangement: otherwise political complications
of various kinds might arise which could endanger the present
position. 44

It seems clear that the Colonial Office had not abandoned the
idea of the British assuming direct control in Kelantan and
Trengganu.

Noteworthy in the Foreign Office proposal and the Colonial
Office reaction is the general support given to the Duff Syndi-
cate. The possibility of supporting the Thai legal position in
Kelantan by ordering Duff out, thus joining with the Thai to
destroy the credibility of any purported concession by a Sultan
in the northern Malay states without Thai approval, was not
even mentioned. Instead the final position of the British
Government was formulated by Francis Bertie, who toned

4314, confidential letter dated 1 March 190t.
441d., secret letter dated 6 March 1901,
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down the Colonial Office language and sent the following in-
struction to Mr. Archer:

You should point out to the Siamese Government the
anomaly of a state of affairs, under which British subjects,
owing to Great Britain having recognized the authority of
Siam over these States, are placed at a disadvantage compared
to the nationals of other Powers who have not recognized
Siamese authority and who deal with the Rajahs direct.

You should state that Her Majesty’s Government request
that under existing conditions there may be no interference by
the Siamese Government with the arrangement made with the
Rajah of Kelantan by the Duff Syndicate; as otherwise, com-
plications of various kinds might arise which would endanger
the present position . . .1
Bertie, in internal correspondence with Lord Lansdowne, who
had succeeded Lord Salisbury as Foreign Minister, did propose
a general support of Thai authority in the northern Malay
States. He thought the advantages to the British of the 1897
secret Convention could still be secured if Thailand would so
consolidate its authority there “that Foreign Powers may not
have any reason to dispute its existence”, But in the harsh
world of international affairs he did not propose committing
British policy to explicit support of the Thai; the British block-
ade of Kedah in the 1830°s was not to be repeated on the East
coast. Instead Bertie implied that the British shouid sit back
and watch developments as he wrote: “Whether he [the King
of Thailand] should do this by corruption or other means is
for him to judge™ 46

On receiving his instructions, Mr. Archer was understand-
ably confused as to British intentions; he had not been sent a
copy of Bertie’s memorandum, nor, indeed, had that memoran-
dum been approved as policy by Lord Lansdowne and Joseph
Chamberlain, On 25 April 1901 it was felt necessary to instruct

48/d., dispatch dated 13 March 1901,
48/d., memorandum dated 11 March 1501.
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Archer specifically that the secret Convention of 1897 was still
to be fully respected. (Archer had been British Chargé d'
Affaires at Bangkok on 6 April 1897 and had signed the secret
Convention on behalf of the British Government.)

On 6 May 1901 Archer reported to Lord Lansdowne on his
talk with Thai officials in Bangkok concerning the Duff con-
cession and proposed what was to become the official British
optimum solution to the entanglement: That the Thai exercise
their authority in Kelantan by ratifying the Concession Agree-
ment. He pointed out as a counterweight to the Duff Syndi-
cate’s political arguments about rebellion that the Sultan’s
actions in granting the concession were good indications of
increasing Thai power in Kelantan as the Sultan seemed to be
trying to profit quickly before losing control of Kelantan’s
administration.

On 13 May 1901 Mr. Chamberlain concurred in a further
instruction to Mr. Archer proposed by the Foreign Office, tell-
ing Archer to suggest to Mr. Duff that he (Duff} should talk the
matter over with Archer in Bangkok, and that until they had
conferred together Duff should not begin work in Kelantan.

This temporizing position was intended to give London a
chanee to grapple with the major policy issue opened by Duff:
Should the British Government be asserting any right at all to
grant or withhold consent from British subjects holding con-
cessions in the Malay States. Duff was anxious to press ahead
with exploiting his concession~-as Jong as the profits began to
roll in he was undoubtedly unconcerned about whether he had
permission or not. But the Foreign Office was very concerned
that his actions could jeopardize British relations with Thailand
and indeed weaken the power of the Thai to resist the im-
portuning of French, German and other entrepreneurs of an
aggressive temperament. On the back of a message from
Archer to Lansdowne reporting Duff’s threats to open work
in Kefantan immediately, F. A. Campbelt wrote that he thought
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Duff should not be in such a **violent hurry as this” and it was
specifically to stow him down that the conference between Duff
and Archer was proposed by Archer, recommended by
Campbell and approved by Lord Lansdowne.?

The Duff Syndicate, presumably not realizing that its argu-
ments cut both ways, reported to the Foreign Office that Duff
in Singapore had discovered Germans buying coasting steamers
from Danes. Duff seems to have exaggerated the impression
this would make, for in a letter a month later which the Syndi-
cate furnished the Foreign Office he referred again to German
purchases of steamers, giving the impression that a whole
German fleet was about to descend on the northern Malay
States.4® Duff seems never to have thought that the spectre
of German enterprise in the Malay Peninsula was more likely
to encourage the Foreign Office to bolster Thai authority in
order to avoid a direct confrontation of Eurcpean interests
than to encourage the Foreign Office to participate with com-
mercial adventurers in direct competition with their European
rivals.

The need to slow Duff down, if not, indeed, to stop him
completely, was a move in desperation by the Foreign Office.
Already on 27 April 1901 Duff had reported that he had
entered Kelantan, paid the Sultan the $20,000 promised in the
Concession Agreementon the commencement of “work”, and
persuaded the Sultan to indicate his independence of Thailand
and propose a treaty between himself and the King of Thailand
by which Thailand would promise to “‘refrain from attempting
to administer Kelantan™. “This letter”, wrote Duff, “will at
any rate silence those who say that the Ruler of Kelantan

4774 telegram from Archer to Lansdowne dated 11 May 1901. Camp-
bell's note on the back is approved by Lord Lansdowne by his initialing in
his usual red ink.

48)4., fetter from the Syndicate to the Undersecretary of State for

Foreign Affairs dated 15 April 1901; Jetter from Duff to the Syndicate
dated 16 May 1901.
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admits his dependence” 4® Dealing, as he supposed, from
strength, Major Wemyss now suggested to Campbell that the
Foreign Office support a resolution of the Kelantan-Thailand-
Duff embroilment on lines favorable to the Duff Syndicate.
Kelantan, under Duff's influence, would acknowledge Thai
“suzerainty” and pay as tribute to Thailand 259, of the export
duties authorized to Kelantan in the Concession Agreement.
An Englishman would be collector of customs to assure against
graft. In return, Thailand would withdraw its officers from
Kelantan, leaving that Sultanate de facto independent—actually
strongly under British influence and only nominally subordi-
nate to Thailand.5® A note on the back of this letter, probably
by Campbell, says:

This suggestion might suit Kelantan & Siam & the Syndicate,
but it would not square with our interpretation of Article 3 of
the 1897 Convention under which we hold that Siam must sub-
mit to us alt Concessions in the Malay States before ratifying
them.

This note seems to miss the point. It was not the failure of
Thailand to get British approval of a concession that raised
probiems—the British could have approved the Duff agreement
along with this arrangement if the Foreign Office had been
willing—but the problems lay in Duff’s and the Sultan’s not
being under effective British policy control. For profit Duff
might stand aside while the Sultan of Kelantan (or Trengganu,
which, of course, is South of Kelantan, thus further from
Bangkok) granted concession to Germans or others whom the
British Government, for reasons involving European policy,
would not want as neighbors in the Malay Peninsula. British
policy demanded a Foreign Office veto on peninsular conees-
sions.

4*1d,, Duff’s letter of 16 May 1901.

50/d,, Wemyss to Campbell dated 20 May 1901.
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The Duff Syndicate and the Foreign Office had now come to
a parting of the ways. To the Syndicate the consummation to
be wished was for Kelantan to be subordinate to no external
policy control; in that way Duff could manipulate the Sultan
sufficiently to assure a highly profitable operation for the
Syndicate. French and German pressures that might bring
about a collapse of Thailand were irrelevant to the Syndicate.
Perhaps it was even hoped that out of the collapse of Thailand
British enterprise, meaning the Syndicate itself, would have an
easier job staking out concessions in Trengganu or even Patani,
Singgora, Langkawi and other areas of southern Thailand in
which people of Malay race and language resided. Duff was
prepared to seek German official backing if the British Govern-
ment would not support him by getting Thailand to withdraw
from Kelantan, He claimed to be be worried about Danes and
Chinese exploring Kelantan—including the territory of the
Duff concession, and reported that the Sultan had told him
these Danes and Chinese had official Thai backing in Bang-
kok.51

To the Foreign Office the collapse of Thailand would not be
a tragedy, but it would certainly be a misfortune. European
powers could be expected to stake claims to territory conti-
guous to territory already administered by Great Britain.
Not ouly was German and Danish activity in the Malay
Peninsula worrisome, but Burma would touch French Indo-
china if Thailand were to disappear. If aggressive British
adventurers of Duff’s stamp began meddling in the power
relationships of territory dominated by some other European
power, the complications in Europe would be difficult to
control. The urging of the British public and the Colonial
Office for Great Britain itself to assume control over parts of a
dismembered Thailand might be irresistable, and the competi-
tion with European powers for pieces of that Kingdom wouid

314d,, fetter from Duff to the Syndicate dated 16 May 1901,
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also create political problems. [t would not have appeared to
the Foreign Office that the economic worth of the pieces of
Thailand which the British might gain would be worth the
effort necessary to get and hold that territory against European
rivals, even if the Thai themselves raised no problems requiring
military intervention. 1t was this last consideration that gave
the Foreign Office power within the British Government to
override the Colonial Office. Duff’s actions were threatening
not to present the Colonial Office with a nice new bit of terri-
tory to administer, as it seemed from Singapore, but with the
possibility of war,

‘While these policy considerations were being muiled in
Bangkok and London Duff was carrying on in Kelantan. On
17 May 1901 the Syndicate wrote to the Foreign Office that if
the British insisted on Kelantan's subordination to Thailand
by requiring the Duff concession to be ratified by the Thai, the
Sultan of Kelantan might, in his own political interest, cancel
the concession (leaving Duff with no recourse if the British
Government refused backing) and turn to other foreign powers
for political support. He might offer the Duff concession to
some foreign Europeans, thus presenting the British with
unmanageable neighbors in the Malay Peninsula. Comment-
ing on this possibility on 8 June 1901 Archer telegraphed that
“Independent action on the part of Rajah with regard to agree-
ment seems probable™,

Forced thus to act, Lord Lansdowne did not pause to discuss
with Joseph Chamberlain the philosophy of the Conservative
British Government’s hindering the activities of British en-
trepreneurs overseas. On 12 June he wired to Archer in Bang-
kok that he should inform Mr, Duff *". . . that HM. Govern-
ment do not authorize him to prospect without the concurrence
of the Siamese Government.” The policy proposed by Francis
Bertie was impliedly accepted at least as an interim matter;
Archer was further instructed to support the appearance of
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Thai authority in Kelantan by trying to “effect an arrangement
between the Siamese Government and Mr. Duff by which he
would nominally receive their authorization to carry on opera-
tions in Kelantan”. It was acknowledged that the Thai lacked
the power, if not the authority, in Kelantan itself to interfere
with the Sultan’s actions, but that was considered an argument
for restraining Duff, not for expanding British activities in
Kelantan.

Archer was successful. The Thai immediately promised Duff
a prospecting license valid for one year, to be issued without
application upon payment of the usual fees and to be accepted
without prejudice to further negotiations about the Concession.
Duff’s reports about Danes and Chinese exploring Kelantan
with Thai official support were denied by Mr. Bourke, the
British subject who was Acting Director of Mines for the Royal
Thai Government, and by Phya Sri Sahadheb, Thai Vice-
Minister of the Interior. Archer made the presentation directed
by Lord Lansdowne to encourage the Thai to avoid further
difficulties and complications by ratifying the Concession
Agreement. Archer apparently made it clear that aside from
Duff’s desires to have the Thai leave Kelantan the British
Government supported him.?? Archer then gave his detailed
analysis of the situation and his recommendations for British
official policy.5?

The principal facts as seen by Archer were that the Sultan of
Kelantan (Muhammad 1V, asc. 1899) was found by Duff,
whether rightly or wrongly seems unimportant at this point, to
be “an uneducated boy, weak and unreliable”, and the Thai
were aiming to strengthen their control in the Sultanate. From
this Archer concluded: ““In the absence of British support, he
[Muhammad 1V] must either fall under the influence of the
Siamese, or be ousted by them”. He felt that the Thai would

3244, telegrams from Archer to Lansdowne dated 18 and 22 June 1901,

83fd., telegram of 22 June 1901,
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uitimately prevail because British policy as expressed by Lord
Lansdowne in his instructions to Archer was clearly to support
Thai pretentions in Kelantan, not to oppose them. As 10 possi-
ble action by Mr. Duff, Archer believed that he had convinced
Duff of the inevitable and thus convinced him to abandon what-
ever plans he may have had for manipulating the Sultan into
proclaiming his independence. “‘He has I think come to
recognize,” wrote Archer, “the fact that the existence of a small
and badly governed independent State like Kelantan, hedged in
between British and Siamese dominions would be an anachron-
ism that could not long be tolerated by its more powerful
neighbors.” Archer cited Duff’s old position, that Kelantan
was independent, but from the fact of Great Britain having
recognized “Siamese suzerainty over Kelantan” he inferred
that Duff would be forced to abandon hope that the Sultan
could continue independent “even in his internal affairs.”
Archer felt that Duff’s primary motivation for fighting the
inevitable Thai domination of Kelantan was pecuniary: The
concession might become less valuable if its methods of opera-
tion were subjected to Thai regulation, while Duff could him-
self control the Sultan of Kelantan sufficiently to assure no
oppressive governmental interference with his activities.
Archer doubted Duff’s logic in this, arguing that the stability of
Thai control should seem more attractive to investors than the
inherently precarious climate Duff was fighting for, which
depended so much on the personal relations between Duff and

n “‘unreliable” Sultan. Also on Archer’s mind was the know-
ledge that Thai regulation was not capricious or wholly beyond
the influence of the British Government. Within the Royal
Thai Government the former Director of Mines, Mr. Scott, and
the Acting Director at the time of Archer’s telegram, Mr,
Bourke, were both British subjects and both personally known
to Archer. Archer thought that British influence within the
Royal Thai Government could keep Duff happy, failing which
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British diplomatic intervention might be necessary. He did
point out too that Duff could not be seriously hurt by any diffi-
culties, since he could always sell out to non-British interests
after he got his concession working. Archer very much doubted
that Duff could find a willing non-British European buyer
before he got the Concession working, and therefore dismissed
that bility. He ifically ind; d that Germany,
Russia and Denmark were trying to achieve their ends in South-
east Asia without alienating the Thai at that moment. France,
he wrote, showed *“no disposition to encourage enterprise in the
Malay States, and it is very doubtful whether they wili ever
assume an aggressive policy towards Siam in that direction”,
Implied, but not stated, is the assumption that the entrepren-
eurs of other European nationalities weuld have the same
problems as Duff in gaining the cooperation of the Thai
government and that in any case it was not British policy to
hinder foreign private activity as long as other European
governments did not obtrude into the British border areas.

Archer’s principal policy recommendation, in view of all this,
was to “‘encourage the growth of Siamese influence and control
over those [northern Malay) States; on the understanding that
the Siamese Government, in return, give all assistance to
British subjects.”” He believed that the self-interest of the Thai
would be enough to assure their agreeing to such a policy and
regarded Duff's alternative proposal for “‘encouraging local
petty chiefs against the Siamese Government” to be likely to
have results *“prejudicial to British enterprise, and to the aims
of British policy” regardless of possible ‘“‘petty advantages in
individual cases.”

Archer’s analysis and recommendation were clearly consist-
ent with the policies the Foreign Office at least had already
adopted. It was also clear that despite Archer’s analysis of
what Duff should have been thinking, Duff remained convinced
that his own best interests lay in disputing Thai authority in
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Kelantan. While Duff was willing to accept a Thai license to
explore his ssion, he was obviously i to accept
the possibility of the Thai withholding from him any “rights”
he felt he had acquired by his direct bargain with the Sultan.5%

On 22 July 1901 the Colonial Office joined in, approving the
adoption as British Government policy of the approach
outlined by Archer.5%

Archer outlined the British position to the Thai Prime
Minister and the Minister for Foreign Affairs, Princes Dam-
rong and Devawongse, a few days later, Facing the British
position, which made Thai assistance to British commercial
activities in the northern Malay States a condition of continued
British abstention from the political affairs of those States,the
Thai Government had little choice. It did not yet have sufficient
power in Kelantan (or Trengganu} to prevent British entrepren-
eurs from dealing directly with the local Sultans, and saw that
formal British backing for businessmen of Duff’s stamp would
result in eventual loss of authority not only in those States but
possibly throughout the distant provinces and possibly even
threaten the independence of Thailand as a whole. The Thai
restricted their shift of policy to Kelantan alone, probably in
order to slow the European penetration by making Great
Britain sue separately for each political action desired and to
force the British to argue prematurely for entrepreneurial rights
in Trengganu or elsewhere that had not yet come to Thai
attention.

In Kelantan, unable to keep Duff out, the Thai now sought
to water down his influence by granting concessions to com-
mercial rivals of his in Kelantan. A British subject of Chinese

S4CY. id., Atcher to Lansdowne dated 13 July 1901 reporting Duff furious
at Bourke's insistence that the license was not carte blanche or an agree-
ment by the Thai to ratify the entire concession.

351d., secret letter from Lucas to Bertie.
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descent, “Seet Tiang Lim,” was granted a concession similar to
the Duff concession by the Suitan of Kelantan and the Thai
decided to ratify that one. The Thai themselves granted pro-
specting licenses similar to Duff’s one-year license to English-
men named Leech and Armstrong.5$

The balance of interests within the British Government had
now shifted significantly, The Colonial Office having com-
mitted itself at its highest level to the British policy of support-
ing Thai pretentions in the northern Malay states, arguments
about the desirability of encouraging British merchants to act
there without the concurrence of the British Government lost
their bureaucratic significance, and thereby their importance
to the Colonial Office. Furthermore, the telling argument
about foreign enterprise gaining concessions in the states north
of the British controlled area of the Malay Peninsula, which was
one of bases for the shift in Colonial Office position allowing
to Thailand the ultimate control over commercial concessions,
had awakened the Colonial Office officials to the possibility
that the Duff Syndicate might sell out to some foreigners. Tt
was becoming clear to the Colonial Office that its interests and
Duff’s were not identical and that its interests and those re-
presented by the Foreign Office were very close indeed. On
17 August 1901 Lord Lansdowne approved Archer’s negotia-
tions in Bangkok and explicitly confirmed the necessity of a
form of Thai ratification for Duff’s concession. He signaled the
changed Colonial Office position by adding: ““Colonial Office
is rather disposed to fear foreign intrusion into Malay States.
Please keep Sir F. Swettenham fully informed as to this.”
When Archer asked whether he should restrict the information
for Sir Frank Swettenham to matters involving foreign in-

584, confidential telegram from Archer to Lansdowne dated 14 August
1901,
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trusion he was instructed to keep Swettenham fully informed
on the entire Duff case.”

The British Government now had a single, strong position
to which the Royal Thai Government had in principle agreed:
British enterprise in Kelantan was to be favored; Thai ratifica-
tion of ficenses and concessions was to be required.

Duff was not happy-

On 29 August 1901 Duff bowed to the inevitability of accept-
ing Thai confirmation of his concession, but asked in return
that the Thai undertake to abstain from the administration of
Kelantan. Since the British position was that the ratification
was to be an empty form so far as British enterprises were con-
cerned, but that Thai administration in the northern Malay
States was to be real in order to keep other European powers
from interfering politically in those states, Archer considered
this demand by Duff to be “inadmissable”. He indicated that
he felt it proper for him to continue to support Duff in seeking
ratification in full of the commercial terms of the Concession,
just that Duff had reached too far in his political condi-
tions.58

In commenting on this development Francis Bertie, Under-
secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, wrote to Lord Lans-
downe that Duff was in a weaker position than he knew and that
he personally thought “that it would be a good thing if Mr.
Duff failed to get any Concession.” The legal basis for Duff’s
entire position, after all, was merely a grant from a Sultan of
doubtful legal effect. If a foreign syndicate were to get a similar
grant and then cite Thai confirmation of the Duff concession
as a precedent it would be difficult for the Thai to avoid rati-

$774., Lansdowne to Archer and Archer to Lansdawne telegrams of 17
and 29 August 1901 respectively; note from Bertie to Lansdowne dated 29
August 1901. On the bottom of Bertie’s note suggesting Archer be told to

keep Sir Frank Swettenham fully informed is Lansdowne’s rueful comment,
“That is all we can do"’,

581d., telegram from Archer to Lansdowne dated 29 August 1901,
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fying the new concession. What was needed was an end to the
authority of the Suitan of Kelantan to grant even inchoate
concessions. The Colonial Office was concerned about the
situation even more than the Forcign Office, and Bertie repor-
ted that his colleagues in the Colonial Office “will suggest that
Sir F. Swettenham be instructed to use his influence with the
Rajah of Kelantan to come to terms with the Siamese Govern-
ment.”%®

The expected initiative from the Colonial Office was in fact
received by the Foreign Office in a secret note dated 2

ber 1901. On 9 ber Swettenham reported that

the Thai had in fact asked his advice. They proposed to
approve the Duff concession subject to its being split into three
parts to disguise the enormous extent of the operation in
Kelantan (with a separate formal concession for each part) and
subject also to a requirement that Thai approval be made an
explicit condition of any transfer by the Duff Syndicate of
rights gained under the Concession Agreement. Swettenham
considered these Thai terms to be “quite reasonable and settle-
ment very satisfactory”. He advised Duff to consent,80

On 14 September 1901 the final instructions were issued to
Sir Frank Swettenham basically agreeing with the Thai
and Swettenham’s comments. No question as to the validity of
Thai “sovereignty" over Kelantan was to be admitted for what
were termed “‘political reasons”, and at Foreign Office instance
the instructions contained what seems a rather useless com-
plaint that the Concession seemed to Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment to be unduly large.®!

While this was going on Daff, in ignorance of the backdoor

#1d., note from Bertie to Lansdowne dated 29 August 1901.

., to Ch in dated 9 1901,

4174. Lord Lansdowne had written a note to Bertie on 6 September 1901
“The C.0. would perhaps give Sir F. Swellen.hxm a hint that we regard the
extent of the concession as unduly large .. . This pcevnsl\ comment was
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negotiations, was also active, He spoke with Mr, Leech, who,
on returning from Bangkok had begun tatking about his own
large concession. That concession turned out to be not in
Kelantan at all, but in Legeh, adjoining Kelantan and the
Duff concession. Leech attributed his success not to any
British activity but to the help of a Dane in Thai service,
Admiral de Richelieu, who had taken a ten percent interest in
Leech’s concession in return for seeing it through the Royal
Thai Government.®2 The concessions of “Seck Tan Lim”,
apparently the same man as the “Seet Tiang Lim” whose
concession was reported confirmed by the Thai at their inter-
view with William Archer outlining the new policy, was being
sought by Duff as agent for another commercial concern in
Singapore (Wallace Bros.). A third Singapore entrepreneur,
Charles Duniop, was reported by Duff to have just got a con-
cession from the King of Thailand that overlapped the Duff
concession and ominously, as Duff thought, was dated back to
1890. The truth of Duff’s allegations cannot be determined
with available materials. In time, none of them proved signifi-
cant to the future of the Duff Syndicate. They did, however,
color Duff’s evaluation of his bargaining pesition. He felt the
“Thai were deliberately trying to diminish the value of the Duff
concession by favoring other entrepreneurs whose prospects
in the area looked shorter term. He exaggerated his own in-
fluence somewhat (surely a pardonable fault in a report to his

82The truth of this allegation and its implications are difficult to assess at
this remove. Certainly graft has not been unknown in Thailand—or among
Europeans such as Admiral de Richelieu. Indeed Duff mentioned that de
Richelieu’s capita] is “almost exclusively Russian Court capital”; the

Czar's Governments have never been considered above reproach in this
regard either. On the other hand, if graft were as common in Thailand ag
Duff intimates, it is hard to understand why he found it so difficult himself
to grease the path for his own concession. Except for Bertie's hint reported
above about the Thai passibly finding it to their advantage to expand their
control in the Malay Peninsula “by corruption”, there is no trace in the cor-
respondence of graft in Thailand being a significant factor on the diplo~
maticlevel.
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employers) by attributing the shift in Thai policy to his own
activity in opening up Kelantan.®® Of course, in a sense he was
perfectly right in that.

When Duff was told the Thai conditions for ratifying his
concession, and realized that the British Government, Colonial
Office as well as Foreign Office, was united in regarding them
as reasonable, he understood that his overt political game was
over. Now the apprehension of European rivals getting con-
cessions which might diminish the value of his—if not the real
value then at least the unique position of his in the investment
market—made him focus directly on commercial matters.
He did not object to splitting the concession into three parts:
perhaps he fancied himself Caesar dividing Gaul, He did,
however, refuse the restriction on transferring rights. He told
Archer that the requirement of Thai approval of a sub-lease or
transfer would “detract from the value of Concessions™. He
telegraphed to the Syndicate:

England has forbidden signature unless we accept the condi-
tions that all transfers and subleases be subject to confirmation
Siam—Cannot agree to these terms under any circumstances—
You had better apply to Government to remove the obstacle
immediate, Guarantee Government will not give transfer
foreigners, but negotiability of rights must be well secured—
Keep your relations with Government friendly.84
It is interesting to note that Duff apparently attributed the
unacceptable propesal to the British Government and not to
the Thai. Since, as has been seen, it actually came from the
Thai and was first presented to London by Sir Frank Swetten-
ham the origin of Duff’s apparent misunderstanding is not
clear,

To remove the obstacle he thought was raised by the British
Government Duff proposed specific language by which the

83F,Q. 69/224, letter from Duff to Wemyss dated 14 September 1901.

14, telegrams from Archer to Lansdowne and from Duff to the Syndi-
cate, dated 25 and 3 October 1901 i

S —
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Syndicate would undertake to inhibit its powers to transfer
rights under the Concession.First he proposed that the lessee
(the Duff Syndicate) agree with the Thai to make no assign-
ment or sublease except to British subjects or companies,
Alternatively he proposed that the lessee undertake that any
sub-lease or assignment restrict the new holder of rights to
act in Kelantan solely for commercial purposes and not more
than 15 of the area of the Concession would be sublet to a
Company not registered in Great Britain. Duff was willing
to talk further about these proposals and Archer passed the
problem on to London saying that the Thai had asked for his
advice.%3

The Colonial Office was concerned only about maintaining
a British (i.e., Colonial Office) veto on Duff’s subleases as on all
other Thai concessions. With regard to other Thai concessions
this veto was given by the secret Convention of 1897.

Duff’s proposal for the Syndicate to give the undertaking
instead of the Royal Thai Government was not even seriousty
considered at this stage as far as the correspondence in the files
shows, Instead, Francis Bertie proposed the Thai right to
approve subleases be acknowledged subject to the under -
standing “that such confirmation shall not be withheld except
on the demand of Her Majesty’s Government”. Lord Lans-
downe saw “no better way out of it”. C. P. Lucas passed the
suggestion up in the Colonial Office recommending approval
and the appropriate instructions were apparently sent to Archer
in Bangkok 88

Bertie's solution proved unacceptable to the Syndicate and
to Duff. The issue was the simple one of the appearance of a

#574,, Archer to Lansdowne telegram dated 25 September 1901.

84d., confidential note, Lucas to Bertie dated 30 September 1901;
memorandum from Bertie to Lansdowne dated 5 October 1901; Lucas
memorandum dated 7 October 1901. The actual text sent ta Archer does
not seem to be in the file. A reference 1o it appears in a note initialed by

pears
Bertic on the back of a letter dated 21 October 1901 from the Syndicate to
the Forcign Office.
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Thai veto over sub-leases making it difficult to find financial
backers for potential buyers; the Thai by opposing British
commercial enterprise in the northern Malay States for so
long had made British (and other) entrepreneurs wary of
entering into contracts whose effectiveness depended on Thai
good will. The Directors of the Syndicate felt that it would be
impossible to attract money for a subsidiary company they
might want to form to exploit the Duff concession if they could
not state that the subsidiary would definitely have the right to
operate under the concession’s terms in Kelantan. The fact
that they knew that the Thai were bound to approve the
necessary sub-lease or assignment of rights was irrelevant since
potential investors would not be inclined to risk their money
on mere assertions of what the Thai would do. Yet no applica-
tion for Thai approval could be submitted until after the new
company had been formed; until then there would be no legal
entity to receive the rights whose transfer the Thai were sup-
posed to approve. The Thai would not agree to a general

blication of their obligation to approve sub-1 or assign-
ments for the same reason they refused to permit the secret
Convention of 1897 to be published: They feared that if the
French or others discovered the degree to which the Thai were
subject to British pressures in matters concerning foreign
enterprise in Thai territory the demands for simifar foreign
controls on Thai discretion would be irresistible. 7

To resolve the problem in the way most favorable to its own
interests the Syndicate again proposed the Duff plan but with
the ingenious modification that the restriction on sub-leases to
non-British nationals or companies be inserted in the basic
concession itself. With Chamberlain’s approval for the
Colonial Office an appropriate instruction was sent to Archer

#71d., telegram from Archer to Lansdowne dated 22 October 1901; ietter
from the Syndicate to the Foreign Office dated 29 October 1901; F. o, 69/
204, memorandum from Bertram-Cox to Bertie dated 26 October 1899
with note on the back by Lord Lansdowne.
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in Bangkok.$® The Thai refused this proposal alleging a
conflict between it and their treaty obligations to other powers.
The alleged conflict presumably involved “most favored
nation” treatment for foreign merchants. Under the usual
“most favored nation" provision of commercial treaties, each
country undertakes to grant to all merchants of the other
treatment with regard to terms of trade {customs duties, export
controls etc.) no more burdensome then those applied to
merchants of any other foreign nation, Thus concessions in
terms of trade given to English merchants in Thai territory
would apply to, for example, Germans as well in Thai territory
under Article 8 of the treaty of 1862 between Germany and
Thailand.®® Although it was not made clear in the correspond-
ence, it seems that the Thai felt that granting a concession to
an English firm would oblige them to grant similar congcessions
to the entrepreneurs of other European nations at their request.

In an attempt to get round the Thai objection based on treaty
obligations to third powers the Foreign Office and the Colonial
Office in London came up with wording giving the Thai a
partial veto: A veto only on proposed transfers by the Syndi-
cate to non-British interests. Transfers to British interests were
not to be subject to Thai approval. Thus the Syndicate’s ability
to get backing for the new company they hoped to form to
exploit the Duff concession would not be hindered if the new
company were formed under British law; the Foreign Office
and the Colonial Office could, through Article I of the secret

#F.0.69/224, Syndicate to Berticletter dated 6 November 1901; Antro-
bus (Undersecretary of State for the Colonies) to Bertie, secret memo-
randum dated 9 November 1901; telegram from Lansdowne to Archer
dated 12 November 1901.

#[n a memorandum in F.O. 69/224 dated 12 July 1901 Bertie cited this
treaty and pointed out that if the Germans insisted on a right to prospect in
Kelantan or Trengganu on the same terms Duff had prospected, the Thai
would have no legal way to oppose the move except by admitting the in-
hibitions imposed on them by Article IIT of the 1897 secret Convention
with Great Britain. It has been impossible to find a copy of the text of the
1862 treaty within the library facilities available as this is written.
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Convention of 1897, prevent Thai approval of any transfer to
a third country interest; and it was presumably expected that
Thai approval of the Duff concession with this nod in the
direction of Thai sovereignty in Kelantan would leave Thailand
no worse off than before vis-a-vis the entrepreneurs of third
powers.7®

Reginald Tower succeeded Archer as British Minister at
Bangkok soon after the new instruction reached Thailand.
Early in January 1902 he reported back to London that the
Thai refused the new plan. Apparently the British wording
was conceded to be sufficient to take care of the third country
probiem; it is not clear that the Thai were ever really as con-
cerned about demands from French or German or other
concession seekers in Thai territory as they led the British to
think, But the Thai now raised a different objection: If Duff
could submit to a veto by the Raja of Kelantan on transferring
his concessionary rights even to Englishmen, which is expressly
part of Article 7 of the Concession Agreement, then why should
the Thai, whom the British had acknowledged in 1897 were the
sovereigns of Kelantan, have lesser veto rights? If the Raja’s
veto did not endanger the Syndicate’s market position, why
should a veto to be exercised (or not exercised) by the less mer-
curial Thai have such a dire effect on the Syndicate’s position?
Tower was unable to shake Prince Devawongse on this. The
farthest the Thai would go was a secret agreement that they
would consent to a sublease if the British Government reques-
ted that consent.7!

This hardened Thai position remained unacceptable to the
Syndicate. Apparently they saw a significant difference in the
credibility to potential investors in asserting Duff’s influence
over the Sultan of Kelantan and asserting any control over the

701d., confidential telegram dated 3 December 1901.

BE.O, 69/275 confidential telegram from Tower to Lansdowne dated §
January 190
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actions of the Royal Thai Government. Furthermore, as the
Syndicate was now prepared to state unequivocally, one of
their main objects in the entire struggle was to keep Thai ad-
ministration out of Kelantan by asserting some rights in the
Sultan, such as a right to approve sub-leases, which could be
excrcised without reference to the Thai! Two alternative
courses now seemed to the Syndicate to warrant consideration:
One, for the British Government as a matter of law to recognize
the efficacy of the Sultan of Kelantan granting rights in Kelan-
tan without reference to Thailand as a matter of the legal
meaning of the relationship labelled “suzerainty”; or, two, for
the Thai to play the game by granting an unconditional ratifi-
cation of the Concession Agreement. In the latter case, the
Syndicate would be willing to commit itself to the British
Government in any form desired, suggesting a change in the
Articles of Association (the ‘‘constitution” of the Syndicate),
to make it legally impossible for the Syndicate to transfer rights
to non-British interests. The Colonial Office concurred with
the second of these two proposals by the Duff Syndicate.”?

The Syndicate at this point, perhaps sensing that a very
favorable solution was possible and anxious to anticipate all
objections the Foreign Office might raise, wrote a letter point-
ing out to the Foreign Office that Articles of Association can
legally be changed, and offering to conclude a separate agree-
ment with the British Government by which the Syndicate
would undertake not to transfer any of Duff’s concessionary
rights 10 non-British interests. The legal mechanism by which
a Foreign Office sighature could commit British (or Thai)
courts to disregard a transfer in violation of this agreement are
not self-evident, and the Duff files contain no clues on the
point; the only concurrence sought (and obtained) by the

7214., fetter from Bertie to the Syndicate dated 14 January 1902; reply

dated 17 January 1902; secret memorandum from Lucas to Bertie dated 24
January 1902.
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Foreign Office for the agreement proposed by the Duff Syndi-
cate was that of the Colonial Office. The Foreign Office con-
sidered the new proposal to be “‘honest on the part of the
Syndicate & will do just as well as an alteration of the Articles
of Association™.’® Obviously, this solution was the very
solution proposed by Duff on 3 October 1901 that had been
disregarded by the Foreign Office then. There is no clear ex-
planation for the apparent shift in Foreign Office position.
Perhaps it was weariness.

On 18 February the Officers of the Duff Syndicate signed the
appropriate agreement not to transfer any of the rights, powers
or privileges conferred by the concession to any but British
entities who gave similar undertakings. The next day Lans-
downe instructed Tower in Bangkok by confidential telegram
of the news of the Syndicate’s signing that agreement, adding:
“A simple ratification of the Concession by the Siamese
Government will therefore be sufficient”. Tower was asked to
request the Thai Government in Bangkok to authorize its
legation in London to execute the ratification.”

Prince Devawongse forthwith refused. In a formal memo-
randum to Tower dated 20 February 1902 he pointed out that:

[T]he simple ratification will clearly amount to a confirmation of
Clause 7 of the same Concession which provides for any trans-
fer of rights or lands subject only to the consent of the Rajah
of Kelantan, and thereby confirming a new principle that the
local Rajah has the sole authority to dispose of lands & c.,
an important point of which both Governments of Siam and of
Gt. Britain have already agreed to disallow .. .7

7314, letter from Syndicate to Foreign Office dated 7 February 1902;
note on the back of that letter in Lord Lansdowne’s hand, The Colonial
Office concurrenice in this proposal is dated 11 February 1902, secret letter
from Lucas to Bertie.

71d,, confidential telegram from Lansdowne to Tower. The Agreement
of 18 February 1902 is written on parchment.

751d., The awkward sentence structure sic.
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Prince Devawongse overstated, probably intentionally, the
British position; Thai confirmation (subject to British veto}
was never regarded by the British as necessary for sub-leases
except as a means to assure British control over them. Thai
confirmation of the primary concession was what had been
agreed (with a British veto on the confirmation) in order to
keep other European concessions limited. As has been noted,
British policy on this point was to encourage the Thai to exer-
cise their authority to veto sub-leases through controlling the
local Suitan. As long as Article 7 of the Duff concession were
the standard form for such concessions, and the British had a
veto over issuing them, the Thai were to be encouraged to gain
and exercise (“by corruption or other means”) the requisite
control over the local Sultans.

Tower was not aware of this aspect of British policy, or, if he
was, disregarded it. Prince Devawongse was clearly right in
implying that a form of concession which allowed sub-leasing
without a Thai review would make it difficult for the Thai to
resist demands from foreign powers for the same treatment—
sub-feases thus being freed of British veto. Thus Tower was
convinced by Prince Devawongse that the new British proposal
was inconsistent with the Foreign Office’s expressed policy in
the northern Malay States. As a result, the Thai legation in
London was instructed to hold the line on the necessity of Thai
approval of sub-leases while the British Foreign Office found
itself in a most embarassing position. On the one side its
Plenipotentiary in Bangkok indicated sympathy with the posi-
tion taken by the Royal Thai Government; on the other, the
Duff Syndicate was stifl unable to get started in Kelantan with
Thai approval as the Foreign Office had assured the Syndicate
it would. A note of urgency was injected into the problem by
the news that the Directors of the Duff Syndicate were running

-
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out of funds and that their entire project was in danger of
collapse.?®

Two developments shifted the entire balance of the negotia-
tion at this point. One was the British realization that Thai
opposition to the Duff Syndicate was motivated at least in
significant part by Duff's personality. The British had little
sympathy with this ground for opposition and may even have
suspected that it was Duff’s unwillingness to pay graft to offi-
cials in Thailand that was the root of the problem. The Thai
dislike of Duff was, of course, much more likely to have arisen
out of his having precipitated the entire question of Thai con-
trol in the northern Malay Peninsula at a time when the Thai
were unwilling to expend their resources in this area. Duff’s
method of operating. seeking to avoid Thai control by negotia-
ting directly with the Malay Sultans and then claiming them to
be rightfully independent of Thai legal authority,can hardly
have endeared him to the Thai. Animosity towards Duff was
apparent in the European officials seconded to the Royal Thai
Government and it is hardly likely that this uniform animosity
was the result of intrigue within the Thai Government. It may
be significant that Duff had got a concession from the Raja of
Legeh of ““all lands which have not yet been occupied in the
country of Legeh™ on 19 September 1901, in the midst of the
negotiations over Thai ratification of the Kelantan concession.
While the Thai must have known of this operation soon after
it occurred, the Syndicate did not tell the Foreign Office in
London about it unti! nearly a year later—after the Kelantan
concession problem had been solved.??

81d., note on the back of confidential telegram from Tower to Lans-
downe dated 26 April 1902.

771d., letter from the Syndicate to the Foreign Office dated 16 September
1902. The Thai removed the Rajas of Legeh, Patani and Reman shortly
aftter, replacing them with Thai appointees not as ready as their predeces-

sors had been to deal with Duff. See letter from Duffl to Foreign Office
dated 25 April 1903,

Qs
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The second, and far more important development was the
British decision to take a more active hand in helping the Thai
to reduce Kelantan and Trengganu to direct and clear sub-
ordination. Instead of merely encouraging the Thai to under-
mine local rule, and facing the possibility of British (or non-
British) entrepreneurs subverting Thai authority by dealing
directly with the Suitans of Ketantan and Trengganu, in the
Spring of 1902 the British Foreign Office decided to help the
Thai directly and render irrelevant the political activities of
Duff and his like. On 23 April Frank Swettenham was still
suggesting that the British abandon any support of Thai claims
in Kelantan and et Duff’s political activities take their acquisi-
tive course. But on 26 April 1902 Tower referred to “‘arrange-
ments with Rajahs™ then under negotiation between the British
and Thai in Bangkok.?™ Those “arrangements™ were eventually
concluded between the British and Thai on 6 October 1902 and
provided directly for British support of Thai attempts to reduce
the Sultans of Kelantan and Trengganu to obedience.?™

Apparently, from Sir Frank Swettenham’s letter, the London
authorities were keeping British officials in the Malay Peninsula
ignorant of the latest devel This was it with
the British refusing to tell the chief officers of the Straits Settle-
ments about the secret Convention of 1897. One can only
imagine the frustration felt by Sir Frank and his companions
(not to mention Duff and his merchant friends in the Peninsula)
as the inevitable rumours reached them of British policy
changes. Deprived of information as to the logic being follow-
ed in London, the policy recommendations of British officials
in Asia were irrelevant to the London policy-makers, Sugges-
tions for permitting Duff to lead the British political advance in
the northern Peninsula must have seemed quaint in London

"81d., letter from Swettenham to Colonial Office enclosed with a secret
memorandum from Lucas to Bertie dated 23 April 1902; Tower to Lans-

downe confidentiat telegram dated 26 April 1902,
T Aitchison 177; Maxweil and Gibson 85.
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where the decision had already been taken and communicated
to the Thai that the British would support direct Thai control in
the northern Malay states,

Once the decision was made to support the Thai overtly in
their attempts to exercise direct control over the Sultanates of
Trengganu and Kelantan the question of the form of Thai
ratification of the Duff concession became a mere bothersome
detail. Article 7 of the Concession Agreement already provided
for the Sultan to be able to veto subleases. If the Thai had
absolute control over the political activities of the Suitan they
would have no compelling basis for refusing the simple ratifica-
tion sought by the British except the precedent for French or
German arrangements in other areas of Thailand. The British
were not concerned about that as long as the heartland of Thai-
tand remained as a buffer between British interests in the Malay
Peninsula and Burma on the one hand, and French Indochina
(or German incursions) on the other. The heartland, the valley
of the Menam Chao Phya, seemed secure by virtue of the
Anglo-French agreement of 1896. There remained for the
British the problem of assuring that Thai control in Kelantan
and Trengganu would be exercised in a way sympathetic to
British ial and other interests—but that problem
could be solved through the arrangement with the Thai by
which British support was being given to the Thai consolidating
their authority there. We shali return to that problem below.

in April 1902 Reginald Tower found that Thai policy with
regard to the northern Malay States had been entrusted to Mr.
Rivett-Carnac, a personal adviser to the King. On 4 May
Tower told Lord Lansdowne: “The correspondence on the
proposed agreements with the Rajahs of Kelantan and Treng-
ganu has now been placed in Mr. Rivett-Carnac’s hands; his is
the pen which drafts the Siamese replies”. At about the same
time Tower reported that *‘Mr. Rivett-Carnac tells me that he
will guarantee an unconditional ratification of Duff Concession
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provided that wording of agreements with Rajahs [of Kelantan
and Trengganu] is agreed upon simultaneousiy”. But in com-
menting upon the reliability of this promise Tower was in-
clined to discount it. For negotiating purposes Tower asked for
authority to insist on immediate ratification of the Duff con-
cession promising in return that “His Majesty’s Government
.. . have every intention of proving this [their friendship for
Thailand] in the assistance they will render to Siam in preparing
the agreements with Rajahs”. Tower anticipated that the
technical drafting of the arrangement by which the Thai were
to secure treaties of submission from the Sultans of Kelantan
and Trengganu would take some time, and doubted the Duff
Syndicate could remain solvent long enough to take advantage
of Rivett-Carnac’s promise even if the promise were faithfully
kept. A few days later Tower further discounted Rivett-
Carnac’s promise by reporting: “For some reason entirely
unknown to me, Mr. Rivett-Carnac has developed the most
virulent antagonism to Mr. Duff and his concession in Kelan-
tan.” It was in the same telegram reporting this discouraging
development that Tower reported that the correspondence on
the proposed agreements with the two Sultans had been placed
in the hands of Mr. Rivett-Carnac. Two days later, on 6 May
1902, Tower reportec to Lansdowne that Rivett-Carnac was
adamant and that negotiations for a simple ratification of the
Duff concession had completely broken down. He recom-
mended that ratification be dispensed with and that the Duff
Syndicate be permitted by the British Government to proceed
in Kelantan regardless of Thai obduracy. At the same time,
the British proposal to resolve the question of assuring that
Thai rule in Kelantan and Trengganu would be sympathetic
to British sensitivities was meeting Thai evasions. The British
proposal was that in return for British help in securing the sub-
mission of the Sultans the Thai would appoint British nationals
to be the senior employees of the Royal Thai Government in
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Kelantan and Trengganu (as they were in some other Depart-
ments of the Royal Thai Government, ¢.g., the Department of
Mines), 0

The British lost patience and played their trump card. On §
June 1902 Lord Lansdowne relayed to Tower the news of an
interview he had just had with the Thai Minister in London
demanding that the Thai Foreign Ministry inform Tower
officially “"that the Siamese Government were prepared to agree
to the appointment of British subjects as advisers to the Rajahs.
In addition to this the Duff concession ought to be ratified
without further loss of time.” Lord Lansdowne closed with &
threat:

I told the Minister that unless this were done without further
delay we should certainly be pressed to come to terms with the
Rajahs without further reference to the Siamese Government.5!

On 10 June 1902 the Thai capitulated, accepting Lansdowne’s
two terms, 8%

On 13 June 1902 the Foreign Office outlined the settlement to
the Duff Syndicate: The Concession was to beratified uncondi-
tionally; The British and Thai agreed that the Syndicate would
have to satisfy the Foreign Office with regard to any sub-
leases; the Thai would forthwith ratify any sub-leases accept-
able to the Foreign Office. It is clear that this letter assumes an
identity between the Sultan of Kelantan and the Royal Thai
Government, since the unconditional ratification for which
Duff fought so long and hard had been conceived by him and
his Syndicate as placing discretion in the influencible Sultan of
Kelantan alone, while the Foreign Office letter speaks solely of
the necessity of Thai ratification of subleases.

While winning its battle, the Duff Syndicate had been re-

80F.0. 69/275, Tower to Lansdowne confidential telegrams dated 26
April, 29 April, secret telegram dated 4 May and unmarked (confidential 7}
telegram dated 6 May 1902,

By, C(mﬁdcm)al telegram from Lansdowne to Tower dated S June 1902.
2d, fromTowertoL d dated 10 June 1902.
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duced from a political power in Kelantan to a mere commercial
enterprise. The Suitan’s prospects of gaining British support in
his struggle to gain (or maintain) his independence of Thai
administrators had ended; his powerful neighbors to the north
(Thailand) and south (the British through the Federated Malay
States) had decided that for him to be abie to deal directly with
third powers was an anachronism and so had by agreement
between them deprived him of whatever claims he had to be
master in his hereditary domains, Merchants like Duff could
no longer threaten the political interest of the British or Thai
governments by dealing directly with the Sultan; those dealings
would be regarded as illegal and therefore null. The force of
the British and Thai empires would be used to assure focal ad-
herence to a legal order in the Malay Peninsula that emphasized
political over commercial interests.

The Agreement of 6 October 1902 between the British and

the Thai provided British ackno of Thai d
in Kelantan and Trengganu, which are termed “Siamese
dencies” in the exch of notes ded to the

Declaration and the Draft Agreement to be concluded between
the Thai and the two Sultans. The Draft Agreement provided
for the two Sultans to acknowledge formally Thai competence
to conduct their foreign relations for them, to receive from the
Thai an Adviser and Assistant Adviser who had the power to
veto any mining or agricultural concessions above a stated size
sought by somebody not “a native or natives of the State of
Kelantan/Trengganu,” and some other terms not relevant to
this study. The British undertook to “instruct their Representa-~
tives in the Malay Peninsula to use their influence to secure the
peaceful adoption by the Rajas of Kelantan and Trengganu of
the draft Agreement” and the Thai undertook to appoint as
Adviser and Assistant Adviser in each of the two states only
British subjects acceptable to the British Government.®?®

S3Aitchison 177; Maxwell and Gibson 85.
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Having been reduced to the status of a mere concessionaire,
Duff found the going a bit more difficult. The Foreign Oftice
refused to help secure Thai ratification of his concession in
Legeh when they were told about it in September 1902. When
the Thai removed the Sultans of Patani, Legeh and Reman
from authority in the Peninsula Duff was left without maleable
Sultans to seek concessions from. His proposal to build a rail-
way line across the Peninsula from Kuala Kelantan through
Legeh, Reman and Kedah to connect the East and West coast
trunk lines was too grandiose for the Syndicate (now reorgani-
zed as the Duff Development Company} and Major Wemyss's
request for British support in Bangkok for the more modest
project of a spur line to run 40 or 50 miles from Kuala Kelantan
to the northern boundary of the Duff concession were referred
to the British Adviser in Kelantan, W. A. Graham.?

A request by Wemyss for Foreign Office support to seek Thai
approval of a small concession in Jalor, ostensibly scught to
preclude “‘the Americans . . . from obtaining a footing there”,
was granted,? but in general the operations of the Duff’ De-
velopment Company were restricted to the existing Kelantan
concession.

The dismissal of the Duff interests from the centre of the
stage did not solve all problems in Kelantan, nor did the
British-Thai arrangement of 6 October 1902 resolve the prob-

IF.0. 69/275, memorandum from Campbell to Lansdowne dated 15
September 1903. A telegram from Foreign Office to Ralph Paget (the new
British Charge d'Affaires in Bangkok) dated 14 November 1903 authorized
Paget to support the Duff scheme. See below.

2/d., letter from Wemyss to Campbell dated 22 September 1903 and at-
tached telegram to Paget.
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lems rooted in the British search for stability in the northern
borders of the Federated Malay States. The second problem
was the simpler, so we tura to it first.

A. THE END OF INDEPENDENT SULTANATES

The Coloniat Office favored the Thai as neighbors because
the Thai were too weak to oppose British demands in the ad-
ministration of Kelantan and Trengganu. The irony was that
the very weakness of the Thai that made them desirable
neighbors for the Colonial Office made then incapable of
enforcing their authority directly. To the Foreign Office it was
precisely because the Thai pretentions were strong enough to
block other states’ dealing directly with the Sultans while weak
enough to make the Thai susceptible to British demands that
made the situation so attractive. It is notable that the British
never favored strong Thai control in Kelantan or Trengganu
and the arrangement of 6 October 1902 was supportable to the
British only to the extent the Thai rights in those States were in
fact to be exercised by Englishmen as Advisers. In approving
F. A, Campbell’s draft authorizing the new British Minister
in Bangkok, Ralph Paget, to support the Duff Railway plan
Lord Lansdowne in his own hand added to the instruction
to be sent to Paget:
... but that he should be careful and avoid the use of language
which might suggest to the Siamese Government the idea that
the matter is not one which the Raja and his Adviser are com-
petent to deal, without interference on the part of the Siamese
Government.?
Despite the grammar of this caution its intention was clear.

1t will be remembered that the Colonial Office in London
agreed with the Foreign Office on the need to oppose other
European countries’ attempts to gain rights in the northern

l;)lgﬂ handwritten note on Campbell’s memorandum dated 15 September
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Malay States and accepted the idea of strengthening Thai legal
claims (and British leverage in Bangkok) as the most politic
way to do this. It will also be remembered that London had
never fully informed the principal officers of the Colonial
Government of the Straits Settlements of its logic; to the extent
Sir Frank Swettenham was asked, he clearly disagreed, arguing
at every opportunity for an outright British annexation of
Kelantan and Trengganu. The Straits Settlements officials
consistently pressed for British territorial expansion in the
Peninsula as a natural result of the Sultans’ supposed “‘indepen-
dence”—meaning only independence of Thailand,

‘When the Sultan of Trengganu refused to sign any agree-
ment with the Thai and refused to accept a British Adviser, Mr.
Taylor, the Officer Administering the Government of the
Straits Settlernents between the departure of Sir Frank Swetten-
ham and the arrival in 1904 of Sir John Anderson, tried the old
game again. He proposed direct negotiations between the
Sultan of Pahang, who was bound to British wishes by the
constitutional arrangements creating the Federated Malay
States, and the “independent” Sultan of Trengganu over some
purported boundary question. Lord Lansdowne in London
had little difficuity rejecting that proposal on the basis of the
boundary agreement of 29 November 1899 and the recognition
of Thai legal rights in Trengganu contained in the arrangement
of 6 October 1902.4 But when Sir John Anderson arrived on
the scene he took an early opportunity to restate the entire
Straits Settlements case to the Secretary of State for the Colo-
nies, Arthur Lyttelton (who succeeded Joseph Chamberlain
on 6 October 1903).

Buckling under British and Thai pressures, and without the
support of Duff, who had been rendered powerless by the
action of his own Government, the Sultan of Kelantan had

4Id,, confidential telegram from Lansdowne to Paget dated 9 January
1904,
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acceded to the British-Thai arrangements and accepted a
British Adviser as an agent of the Royal Thai Government,
W. A, Graham. Graham wrote a report on 18 October 1904
outlining the evidence of Kelantan’s subordination to Thailand
as a matter of history and law. In a long letter dated 23
November 1904 Sir John Anderson argued that cultural differ-
ences between the Thai and Malays made it clear that the
Malay State of Kelantan cannot have been legally subordinate
to Thai authority (surely a strange argument for an Englishman
(or Scot!) in the Colonial Service to make, but one that recurs
throughout the entire era of British expansion to negative the
claims of others). He argued strongly that only the British
could administer Kelantan well, and that the Duff Railway
scheme should be adopted by the British and put through
regardless of Thai opposition. He identified Graham as part
of the Thai opposition.®

Although Anderson’s report was dismissed in the Foreign
Office as less likely to be accurate than Graham’s® the view that
British interest would be served by a political advance at least
through Trengganu was gaining favor. Anderson had a strong
ally in Ralph Paget, who had already on 23 January 1904 come
to the conciusion that British acknowledgment of Thai author-
ity in Trengganu at least was “practically a gift . . . since the
claims of the Siamese Government to influence and control in
Trengganu were borne out by nothing further than their own
strenuous protestations”. Paget argued that the arrangement
of 1902 was motivated on the British side by a desire to achieve
“(1) the exercise of a certain control over the Sultans of
Kelantan and Trengganu lest they should enter into direct
relations with or make undesirable concessions to foreign

sAll cited reports noted are in id. filed by date.
#Jd., memorandum from Campbell to Lansdowne dated 29 December



138 PIRACY, PARAMOUNTCY AND PROTECTORATES

Powers™ and *(2) The better administration of those States™.
But, he wenton:

[Tlhe necessity for exercising a control over the foreign rela-
tions of the Sultans has now probably . . . disappeared. The
constant reference in the press to British action in Kelantan and
Trengganu . . . will have conveyed to other Powers the impres-
sion that the Malay Peninsula is regarded by Great Britain as
being exclusively within her sphere of influence and that foreign
interference would not be tolerated.

From this he concluded that British policy should not be rigid
in supporting Thai continued claims to authority in Trengganu.
The alternative, support of Trengganu's claims to “indepen-
dence”, could no longer hurt British interests and would be
likely to result in a situation in which the Colonial officials of
the Straits Settlements “will presumably again enter into direct
relations with the Sultan.” In that case, argued Paget, “it
would be no difficult matter by Agreement or otherwise to
exercise whatever control might appear necessary.”

‘The ease with which Paget dismissed the legal necessity of
some sort of Agreement (“or otherwise™) to assure that the
Sultan of Trengganu would never have independence is indica-
tive of how far British thinking had progressed during the years
of negotiation over the Duff concession. The “‘anachronism”
of a small Malay state being independent, which was pointed
out by William Archer on 22 June 1901, was now resolved
merely by asserting rights in the British or Thai (there was no
other choice) so far superior to the rights of an “independent”
Malay Sultan that in the world of 1904 the anachronism had
simply ceased 1o exist. Trengganu might object, but legally it
was subordinate to either the British or Thai regardless of his-
tory or such quaint theories as those upholding the “sovereign
equality” of rulers. Trengganu had ceased to be a ““personality”
in international affairs, and become merely a floating impurity
to be dissolved in either the Thai or British empires as those
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two great powers might decide. Whether the forms of dissolution
involved documents fooking like international agreements or
something else was regarded by Paget as a matter for British
imperial law or Thai constitutional law to resolve. The label
given great power incorporation was “‘sphere of influence™. If
Trengganu had not disappeared into the Thai constitution,
then it had been incorporated by events into the British “sphere
of influence™ and thus removed from international concern.
Its disposition in that case was a matter for British imperiaf law
alone.”

The British concept underlying Paget’s analysis was not con-
fined to British statesmen. Spheres of influence, spheres of
interest and other euphemisms for territory removed from inter-
national contacts prior to some European power’s completing
its ultimate political subjugation had become part of the regular
vocabutary of all European statesmen by 1900.8 Indeed, the
expansion of British concepts as to their “rights” in the Malay
Peninsula at the expense of rights formerly believed to reside in
the Malay Suitans of Kelantan and Trengganu was matched by
a paraliel French growth of “‘conviction of right”. On 8 April
1904 the British and French exchanped expressions of agree-
ment in each other’s exclusive “influence” in parts of Thailand.
In the guise of confirming the Declarations of 15 January 1896,
which had inhibited the British acquisition of Kelantan, the
French acknowledged in the new Declaration:

[A]ll Siamese possessions on the west of , . . [the basin of the
Menam Chao Phya] and of the Gulf of Siam, including the
Malay Peninsula and the adjacent islands, coming under
English influence.

The Declaration then disclaimed “all idea of ing any
Siamese territory”, but provided:

“1d., confidential letter from Paget to Lansdowne dated 23 January 1904.
sSee Lindley 181-246; Nys, passim. Westlake, International Law (2d ed.
1910), pp. 130 ef seq.
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[S]o far as either of them is concerned, the two Governments
shall each have respectively liberty of action in their spheres of
influence as above defined.®

The direction of policy and the legal rationales for eventual
British acquisition of ultimate authority in Trengganu were
complete. The Colonial Office had embarked on its drive to
gain controf of Kelantan as well. The negotiation culminated
in the complex of agreements signed at Bangkok on 10 March
1909 cancelling the secret Convention of 6 April 1897 and trans-
ferring to the British Government ali Thai *“rights of suzerainty,
protection, administration, and control whatsoever which they
possess over the States of Kelantan, Tringganu, Kedah, Perlis
and adjacent jslands,”1® Ralph Paget was the British Ambassa-
dor in Bangkok signing for Great Britain.

Unfortunately, the files concerning the final negotiations
were not yet open to researchers when I completed my student
days in England, therefore, the detailed analysis of that phase
of the story will have to await some other opportunity.

B. THE END OF THE DUFF DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

Meanwhile, with his wings singed from flying too close to the
sun of imperial politics, Duff turned his remarkable energies,
negotiating abilities and abrasiveness to developing his Syn-
dicate’s fiefdom in Kelantan, All his other concessionary plans
had been refused help by the Foreign Office except for the petty
bit in Jalor, The Railway scheme had been reduced by his
own backers to a mere spur line within Kelantan, and even to
construct that line seemed now to require the approval of the
British Adviser in that Sultanate, not merely the approval of
a pliable Suitan. Duff had to come to terms in 1903 not with
the chief officers of Government, but with the middle-level

®Aitchison 181.

104d., pp. 183 ef seq. The quotation is from Article I of the basic Treaty

{Siam No. XVII in Aitchison). The Convention cancelling the 1897 Con-
vention is on p. 191 (Siam No. XVIIl).
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officer, W. A. Graham, British national, Adviser to the Sultan
of Kelantan for the Royal Thai Government.

Graham was responsible to the Royal Thai Government for
the efficient administration of Kelantan and had the legal
authority through arrangements between Bangkok and the
Sultan of Kelantan to control relations with the Federated
Malay States. Graham’s performance had also to be satis-
factory to the British Government, meaning the Colonial
Office as well as the Foreign Office, since their approval had
been necessary for his first appointment and it was obvious
that Thailand could not strongly resist any British demand that
he be recalled. His position was, therefore, very delicate.

On the other hand, Duff could expect both the British and
the Thai to support Graham in any steps reasonably necessary
to assure that Graham could in fact exercise anthority through-
out Kelantan. A private Raja-dom like that of the Brookes in
Sarawak could not be established in an era in which the parent

t were being extinguished as a matter of
law.}! Therefore, when Graham suggested to Duff that some
terms of the Duff concession might be construed to derogate
from the Sultan’s (thus Graham'’s) public authority in the area
of the ion Duff’ d to an “expl y Agree-
ment” to make it clear that he “‘claims no rights of government
within the limits of his concession™ 12 Duff did succeed, how-
ever, in having the agreement “confirm” in him some rights
that were beyond the terms of the original Concession!!3 The

UThere is no evidence that even Duff dreamed of becoming an “in-
dependent” Raja like the first Brooke. The history of Sarawak and how
James Brooke achieved independence from the Sultan to whom he had
promised tribute is another story toc complex to set out here. See Irwin
and Runciman for a beginning,

12Undated Agreement and covering letter in F.O. 69,275 filed between 15
and 22 September 1903. The Agreement was later referred 10 as having
been drafted in August 1903 (letter from Paget to Lansdowne dated 14
April 1905).

13/4, At least that is how Paget saw the situation.
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effect of the new Agreement was to increase Duff’s rights in
Kelantan relating to imports of arms and fixing custom duties
at the expense of giving up some police jurisdiction (and
patrolling) which Duff was satisfied to see exercised (and paid
for) by the Sultan. The Sultan signed for Kelantan (with
Graham's “advice”).

Graham at this time was not only less experienced in negotia-
tions than Duff, but he was aiso having difficuity appreciating
his own role in Kelantan as politically subordinate to two
governments. For reasons which are not fully stated in the files
of correspondence he refused Duff permission to build his
Railway line in Kelantan. On 12 December [903 Paget wrote
to F. A. Campbell at the Foreign Office that Graham may have
a “swelled head”; that he had been acting high-handedly in
Kelantan against the interest of “‘a Chinese British Subject™;
and that he “seems to have lost sight of the fact that although
he may be a little king in Kelantan he is still amenable to the
jurisdiction of our Court here,” presumably meaning the
British Consular Court at Bangkok, “and cannot deal as he
likes with British Ss {Subjects 7714

Graham's report of 18 October 1904 supporting with legal
arguments and a good deal of historical analysis the claims of
the Thai to absolute authority in Kelantan was the occasion
for 8ir John Anderson’s long letter to Secretary Lyttelton dated
23 November 1904, mentioned above, arguing for a more
flexible British attitude with regard to the northern Malay
Peninsula. In that letter Anderson strongly supported Duff’s
Railway scheme at its grandest~-a cross-Peninsula line connect-

414, On the authority of British courts over officials for acts done in
their official capacity overseas at this time see The Secretary of State for
India v. Kamachee Baye Sahiba (1859) 13 Moo. P.C.22; Dicey 326-327.
Paget exaggerated his own authority in implying absolute certainty as to
Graham's improprities being punishable under British municipal law, A
rorengn soverelgn 's order may in some cases justify a British subject acting

“high-handedly” with another British subject. See Dobree v. Napier (1836)
2Bing, N.C. 781, 132 E. R. 301, Cf. Holdsworth 1318-1319.
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ing the Bast and West coasts from Kelantan to Kedah—and
argued the British interest in supporting Duff’s side in seeking
to remain free of the customs and tax burdens sought to be
imposed on the Duff Development Company (and all people
in Kelantan) by Graham. ‘

After more than a year of quarreling Duff apparently became
reconcited to Graham as a burden the Company would have to
bear, and Graham modified his drive for absolute control
sufficiently to permit a compromise to be worked out. Another
Agreement was worked out to replace the old Concession
Agreement entirely. It received the ratification of the Thai
Government in Aprif 1905 and was signed by the Sultan (with
Graham's advice) and Duff soon after. In the new Agreement
the extent of the Duff Development Company's tract remained
enormous and all sides apparently felt that its commercial
interests were fully maintained. The Government of Kelantan,
on the other hand, got Duff’s unequivocal consent to refrain
from interfering with its police and fire-arms regulations.
Import duties and taxes remained unsettled, as Graham agreed
to advise the Sultan not to apply import duties but merely to
consider lowering export duties in agricultural products.
Clearly a lot of what are today regarded as matters entirely
within the control of the state were still within the influence of
the Duff Development Company as a result of Duff’s strong
personality and the rights he got in the first Concession Agree-
ment.15 Graham still smarted under the restraints on his ad-
ministration in Kelantan and the two personalities lapsed into
an uneasy peaceful co-existence. The Duff Development Com-
pany, in difficulties financially since 1902, was still active in
1905 although with no great capital available to finance Duff’s
grander plans.

15F.0. 69/275, Paget to Lansdowne confidential letter dated 7 February

1905, unmarked {confidential ?) letters dated 28 February and 14 April 1905
and telegram dated 7 April 1905,
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As noted above, on 10 March 1909 the British secured by
Treaty afl Thai rights in Kelantan. The Treaty was ratified on
10 July 1909. On 15 July 1909 the first British Adviser, J. S,
Mason, took over from W. A. Graham, who had been there
more than six years. The four other British officers in Kelantan
merely switched from Thai to British service and stayed on. At
the end of the year Mason reported the state to be prosperous
and attributed the prosperity to Graham's “efficient admini-
stration”. The Duff Development Company was reported to
be maintaining 1,218 acres of planted rubber (about a third of
the rubber acreage in Kelantan at the time), the sole gold ex-
porter, exporting tin and oil as well, and operating a saw-mill
at a profit. The total assets of the State of Kelantan on 13
January 1910 are listed at $171,734.33 of which $52,000 is
accounted for as 8,000 Duff Development Company shares at
$6.50 per share.'8

Toward the close of the next year the Company issued
£250,000 of stock in order to gain £180,000 additional working
capital. Large expenditures were incurred as the Company
tried to develop its concession more fully. The shares held by
the Government of Kelantan were revalued to $5., so only
$40,000 of the State’s total assets of $193,718. 23 3/4 (sic) were
attributable to its interest in the Duff operation by the end of
1910.17

On 22 October 1910 Sultan Muhammed of Kelantan and Sir
John Anderson, British High Commissioner for the Protected
Malay States, concluded directly an Agreement similar to the
1902 Agreement between Kelantan and Thailand. Kelantan
undertook formally to receive an Adviser and Assistant Adviser
from the British and to “follow and give effect to the advice of
the Adviser . . . in all matters of administration other than

%1910 LXVI 919, Cd. 5374, Kelantan Administration Report for the

period ending 12 January 1910.
171911 LI 388, Cd. 5956, Kelantan Administration Report for 1910.
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those touching the Mohammedan religion and Malay
custom””1® The conclusion of this Agreement made no change
in the affairs of Kelantan. The British had already successfully
asserted the right to give determinative advice as successors of
the Thai in Kelantan. It may be regarded, therefore, as merely
a legalistic adjustment within British imperial law to satisfy
those Colonial officials who had been denying Thai rights in
Kelantan. The inconsistancy of the Colonial Office—particu-
larly Sir John Anderson——is too clear to need further comment.

Now, where Graham had found the Colonial Office people
with whom he was involved insisting on the rights of Duff at
the expense of efficient administration in Kelantan, now it was
the Colonial Office that was responsible for the administration
of Kelantan, and Duff’s rights looked less important. Further-
more, lhc Duff Devclopmenl Company had clearly been
under lized and was bie of exploiting at a swift pace
the vast concession Dufl had obtained in 1900. It therefore
seemed to the Colonial Office desirable to cut Duff’s holdings
down to a size the Company could manage in order to open
Kelantan to other developers; once econemic development is
determined to be good (and it was not questioned seriously in
1910) then in ic devel must also be
considered important by administrators, The Colonial Office
determined to resolve the entire status of the Duff Development
Company in Kelantan by buying, for enough money to enable
the Company to develop its most promising holdings, alt Duff’s
rights to land that was beyond the range of the Company’s
expanded operations. Furthermore, to clarify the state’s rights
as ultimate sovereign over the land, it was decided to assert
rights in even the land to be left to the Duff Company. An offer
was made in 1910.' The issuing of new debentures late in that

1eMaxwell and Gibson 109, The quotation is from Asticle Il on p. 110,
191911 LI 388, Cd. 5956, Kelantan Administration Report for 1910, at
p.5.
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year seems to have been part of an attempt by the Company to
avoid having to give up part of the land in the Concession.

Negotiations continued without agreement throughout 1911,
but the Directors of the Duff Company must have known of the
expropriation of the Tanjong Pagar Company in 1905 by
Colonial Office decision?® and more ominous yet, the British
administration in Perlis expropriated the Kangar Market in
19112t Finally on 15 July 1912 an agreement was reached
between the Government of Kelantan and the Duff Develop-
ment Company cancelling entirely the Duff concession as from
December 31st of that year. Duff Development retained rights
to only 50,000 acres (about 78 square miles; the original tract
had been about 2,000 square miles) for which it would have to
pay to the Government of Kelantan a small annual “quit rent”,
and rights to prospect and lease mining lands up to 3,000 acres
within a radius of five miles from Mason’s Shaft. In return, the
Government undertook to pay the Company £300,000, build
a railway through Kelantan (through the Company's shrunken
concession if appropriate) and build a cart road from a point
within the concession to the railway.??

The Company had used the railway as its strongest bargain-
ing lever. It was part of the plan of the British administration
for the Federated Malay States to build the line from Pahang to
Kelantan and the best route lay through the Duff concession.
The Company refused permission to the Government and was
successful in bringing the work to a halt while the legal ques-
tions were analysed. It was the Federated Malay States
Government that furnished the State of Kelantan the £300,000

201906 LXXVIIL 287, Cd. 3249, Correspondence Respecting the Expropri-
ation of the Tanjong Pagar Company, Limited, passim.

211912-1913 LX 183 at p, 225, Cd. 6563, Perlis Administration Report for
1911,atp. 39,

22The pertinent terms of the 1912 Agreement are set out in Government
g; é:j!;g(an v. Duff Development Company, Ltd. [1923} A. C. 395 at pp.
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demanded by the Duff Company for its yielding up its legal
power in Kelantan to inhibit the building of the railway.23

The money was paid to the Duff Company £200,000 imme-
diately and £50,000 each on 31 December 1913 and 1914.23
But even before the final payment was made difficulties arose
as the Government of the Federated Malay States did not in
fact continue work on the railway. The issues were submitted
to arbitration in London pursuant to the 1912 Agreement. The
arbitrator’s award came down in 1916 and supported the
Government’s position. Nonetheless, it had cost the State of
Kelantan $28,000 to defend the case and the British Adviser
regarded this amount as “a sum of considerable importance
considering its [Kelantan’s] financial position."23

Even this award did not end the matter as the Duff Develop-
ment Company remained unable to find the money to carry on
profitable operations. One might speculate as to the efficiency
of its management in the circumstances, perhaps too much of
the annual profit was being returned to the investors and too
little devoted to reinvestment. In any case, the Company found
it advisable and feasible to borrow £52,500 from the Govern-
ment of Kefantan in two ‘*deeds™ dated 4 February and 21 July
1921 respectively (for £22,500 at 6 per cent and £30,000 at 7 per
cent respectively) in return for surrendering still more of the
Congession, Again the Government of Kelantan borrowed the
money to pay Duff Development from the Government of the
Federated Malay States,

On 12 April 1920, while those negotiations were going on,
the Company was successful in having the Secretary of State

291914 LX 331, Cd. 7208, Report for 1912 on the Federated Malay States,
at paragraphs 224-226

247d., paragraphs ll 12; 1914 LX 385, Cd. 7209, Kelantan Administra-
tion R(‘pon/nr 1912, paragraph 86; 1914-1916 XLVI 343, Cd. 8155, Report
for 1914 on the Federared Malay States, paragraph 10.

251914-1916 XLV 493, Cd. 8125, Kelantan Administration Report for

1914, paragraph 100. 1917 i wiil 533, Cd. 8812. Keluntan Adminis-
rration Report for 1916, paragraph 122.
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for the Colonies, Lord Milner, resubmit to arbitration the
questions arising out of the failure of the Government of
Kelantan to build the cart road or the railway that had been
envisaged in the settfement of 1912. Sir Edwin Arney Speed
was appointed arbitrator, His decision, favorable to the Com-
pany, came down on 17 November 1921. He specifically found
that the Government's failure to build the cart road within
four years from 15 July 1912 was a breach of the contract
cancelling the Concession and that the failure of the
Government to complete the railway line within the same
period of time was also a breach of the contract. He awarded
costs to the Company and undertook to conduct further
hearings to determine damages.

The Government of Kelantan having lost in the arbitration
provided for by its 1912 contract with Duff Development, took
the matter to the English courts. In accordance with the proce-
dures for such matters, the Government moved in the Court of
Chancery to have the arbitrator’s award set aside. That motion
was dismissed with costs against the Government on 23 March
1922. An appeal to the Court of Appeal in Chancery was
denied on 24 May 1924 with further costs against the Govern-
ment. By 30 June 1922 the costs awarded to the Company
amounted to £5637 1 5. 8 d—and damages for the basic breach
of contract had stilf not been determined. At this point the
Company refused to pay the installment of interest due on the
loans of £52,500 and through some complex manauvers on
both sides ended up paying the interest due to the Crown
Agents then moving in Chancery for the money to be returned
as part of the “costs” owing from Kelantan to the Company.2®

The decision of Mr. Justice Russelt affirmed the arbitrator’s

8This complicated statement of facts is a simplified version of the recital
in Duff Development Company, Ltd. v. Government of Kelantan and the
Crown Agents for the Colonies (Garnishees) {1923] 1 Ch. 385 at pp. 385~

388, and Government of Kelantan v. Duff Development Company, Ltd.
[1923] A. C. 395 at pp. 396400,
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and other courts’ awards of costs in favor of the Duff Develop-
ment Company on 21 November 1922. But he then eviscerated
this judgment as far as the Company was concerned by holding
(a) that Kelantan was a “sovereign State”, and (b) that a
British court does not have the power to create a right in a
litigant to any assets of a foreign sovereign state without that
state’s consent. Since the State of Kelantan had not specifically
submitted to the jurisdicition of British courts for the purpose
of execution, Justice Russell held, the court could not award
any specific sums belonging to the state of Kelantan to the
creditor company. In oft-quoted language he wrote:

The initial submission to the jurisdiction does not extend
beyond that and does not preclude the sovereign State from
now invoking that international comity which induces this
country to decline to exercise by means of its Courts any of its
territorial jurisdiction over the property of a sovereign State
within its tertitory.2?

This rule has been accepted and applied without significant
dissent in many courts.28

On the other hand, Justice Russell’s acceptance of Kelantan
as a sovereign state was based solely on a letter from the
Secretary of State for the Colonies, In pointed language he
wrote:

The enclosures in the letter when perused certainly afford
considerable material for contending that a conclusion different
to that set forth in the letter might have been arrived at. But,
however that may be, the letter definitely states that Kelantan

2719231 1 Ch. 385 at p. 400,

28Questions have arisen about the basic principle of sovereign immunity
in more recent days when states commonly engage in what have tradition~
ally been regarded as commercial activities. But these questions involve
changes in the concepts of governmental functions and changes in the sub-
stance of international law that some feel to be appropriate in view of the
changed governmental activity. The formulation of Mr. Justice Russell
was universally acceptable at the time of the Duff Case and for many years
afterwards. See Whiteman 709-726,
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is an independent State . . . This letter has the same effect as a
communication from the King, and is conclusive that Kelantan
is an independent sovereign State.2%

It is clear that Russell had severe doubts as to whether at
international law Kelantan could be considered independent,
but since the determination of the Crown was regarded as
conclusive on the courts at English law, he had to accept the
assertion of the Secretary of State for the Colonies on this key
point. The result of this line of legal logic was clearly to con-
fuse international Jlaw with British imperial law. The
conclusion of the Crown as to the legal status before a British
court of some component of the Empire was not a pronounce-
ment of international law but a pronouncement of imperia} law.
It is noteworthy that the pronouncement came from the
Colonial Office and not from the Foreign Office. It may be
doubted whether the Colonial Office had the authority to speak
for the King in questions of international law, since within the
British Government the Colonial Office was not the agency of
the Crown for purposes of extending recognition to (or deciding
to withhold recognition from) entities purporting to have
international personality. Justice Russell seems to have per-
ceived these difficulties, but for sound constitutional reasons
refused to look behind a letter attributable to the King merely
because signed by a Minister of the Crown whose purview was
inconsistent with the view of law taken by the letter.

The Duff Development Company appealed Justice Russell’s
decision on this point to the Court of Appeal. The decision
of the Court of Appeal on 17 January 1923 affirmed the de-
cision of Justice Russell. After a close examination of the
precedents the Master of the Rolls, Lord Sterndale, held the
Crown’s letter to be conclusive of the status of Kelantan before
British courts as a “‘sovereign State.” Once again, the question

(1923} 1 Ch, 385 at pp. 397-398.
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was clearly reduced to one of British constitutional law and not
of international law:

We have therefore to accept the statement that this State is a
sovereign State, although it is quite true that these documents
raise a considerable doubt as to how far that independence is
practically asserted and exercised in reality. I have grave
doubt myself whether the Suitan of Kelantan has practically
any control at ali over what is done . . .: but although that may
be so we have to accept the statement that Kelantan is an in-
dependent sovereign State. 3¢

Lord Justice Warrington took the same view, as did Lord
Justice Younger. Soended theissue of costs.

The Government of Kelantan while agreeing with that part

of Justice Russell’s decision that held it immune from execution
in British courts, took issue with that part of the decision that
upheld the arbitrator’s award. Appeal from that aspect of the
decision was taken to the House of Lords, which heard argu-
ment in February 1923. In that forum the attorneys for the
Duff Development Company urged the court to dismiss the
appeal on the ground that the immunity claimed by the Govern-
ment of Kelantan from execution, having been upheld by
Chancery and the Court of Appeal, the Government of
Kelantan was now in the position of having all to gain and
nothing to lose from the decision of the House of Lords-—an
inequity not to be suffered.
If an independent sovereign comes before this House asking
that an award made against him shall be set aside and has at the
same time obtained an order that the award is not enforceable
against him by reason of this sovereignty, he ought not to be
heard unless he waives his sovereignty to the extent of having
execution levied against him. This House will [should?] not
entertain an appeal to set aside an ineffective judgement.3!

01d,, at p. 414,

M[1923] A. C. 395at p. 401,
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Viscount Cave, the Lord Chancellor, delivered the principal
Jjudgment on 22 March 1923 denying that the decision is moot
primarily because if favorable to the Government its effects
would be obvious and if favorable to the Company “would be a
strong ground for an application by the respondents to the
Cotenial Office (which controls the Government of Kelantan)
to give directions for carrying out the award™ 2 Viscount Cave
then affirmed the arbitrator’s award, specifically that part of it
refating to costs, and closed his opinion observing:
... [ think it right to say that it is now incumbent on that
Government and on the British Colonial Office, under whose
directions it carries on its operations, (o consider carefully
whether and to what extent the plea of sovereignty can justly
be insisted upon in order to prevent the enforcement of the
award and of the orders of the Courts for payment of costs.
The appellant Government has appealed to the British Courts
to declare whether the award is binding upon it; and now that
this question has been finally determined in favour of the re-
spondents, it would not (I think) be creditable to the appellant
Government (which claims the dignity of a sovereign State}
that the respondents should be deprived by a technical plea not
only of the fruits of that decision. but even of the costs of ob-
taining it
The four other Law Lords hearing the case with Viscount Cave
expressed no dissent from these conclusions.

it is noteworthy that the issues analysed here remain i
of concern, indeed increasing concern, to the legal profession.
State trading has if anything vastly increased since the period
1900-1923. The plea of sovereign immunity to avoid execution
in foreign countries in circumstances in which private traders
performing precisely the same way would be subject to execu-
tion on their assets within the territorial jurisdiction of the court
hearing the case is looked upon with increasing disfavor.
Courts today are more reluctant than was Viscount Cave to

sues

32id., at p. 408.
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rely on the dignity of governments engaged in commercial
activities as a spur to their dealing honorably with their credi-
tors. 53

As 1o the Crown’s certificate attaching a legally significant
1abel to its attestation of a state of facts, the Duff case seems to
have marked a major change in British law. Without apparent-
1y being fully aware of the implications of their action the Law
Lords raised the previous persuasiveness of the Crown’s certi-
ficate to a legal conclusiveness. 3%

As to the legal status of Kelantan, the courts were very care-
ful not to pronounce any opinion on that point; indeed, all the
indications are that Kelantan would have been held to be a
British possession, not an independent international entity at
all, if Justice Russell, Lord Sterndale or Viscount Cave had felt
free to consider the issue on its legal merits. The most the Duff
case can be clearly said to have represented with regard to the
status of Kelantan is that at the time the Colonial Office. for
reasons internal to it, wished to be able to act in Kelantan with-
out the inhibitions of British municipal law. As a matter, then,
of British imperial law a legal structure was erected which
British judges found convincing for according to the Colonial
Office the freedom from legal restraint that it wanted. British
municipal law was interpreted to permit the Crown to remove
from the purview of British courts questions involving the
governance of overseas territories which by international law
were part of the British Empire.

The story of the Duff Development Company can be quickly
concluded. Although immune from execution, the validity of

a1See the pancl discussion in Proc. ASIL 1969 182 et seq. for an indica-
tion of the changing view of the legal community on this problem, parti-
cularly remarks of Monroc Leigh. See also Lauterpacht, passim.

4See Lyons 273-274. Lyons's excellent article devotes four pages (o the
Puff decisions. He includes Colonial and India Office certificates with
“Foreign Office” in his analysis. The leading precedent for mere “per-
suasiveness” also invalved the Malay Peninsula: Mighell v. the Sultan of
Johore {1894) 1 Q. B. 149,
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Sir Edwin Speed’s arbitration had been upheld. On 27 Novem-
ber 1925 the arbitrator his work by publishing his
final award adjudging to the Company £378,000 damages for
breach of contract.35 A year later the matter was settled by
arrangement among the State of Kelantan, the Federated Malay
States Government, the Straits Settlements Government and
the Duff Development Company. The Federated Malay States
Government forgave the State of Kelantan the £300,000 loan of
1912, 1913 and 1914 (the money that had gone to buy off the
Duff concession under the Agreement of 15 July 1912) and
agreed to repay to the state the installments that had been paid
in the ensuing years (3977,142.82). The Legislative Council of
the Straits Settlements approved a Joan of $4,250,000 to Kelan-
tan free of interest for five years. The State of Kelantan
arranged to pay the amount of Sir Edwin’s award to the Duff
Development Company.3® In 1930 Kelantan was apparently
unable to meet the payments schedule and borrowed $600,000
and $300,000 for ten years at two per cent. from the Straits
Settlements and Federated Malay States Governments respect-
tively in order to be able to continue payments to the Duff
Development Company.57 The last mention of the Duff
Development Company in official reports seems to be the
melancholy news in the Annual Report for 1932 that in April
of that year the Company went into voluntary liquidation and
the State of Kelantan gave up its 8,000 shares. Their value had
dropped by this time from the $40,000 of 1910 through 1930 to
$7,714(1931), which was written off. 3 Presumably whatever was

35Colonial Office, “‘Kelantan,” Colonial Reports—Annual, No. 1319, Un-
/etézérared “Ivlalay States under British Protection, Reports for 1925, L(mdon
19.
ld No. 1357, Reports for 1926, London, 1927, p. 3.
.N 1534, Report for 1930, London, 1931

3¢4d., No. 1622 45, The value of |he shares is listed in the assets
columa of Appcndlx A of each of the Annual Reports for Kelantan.
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left of the State's debt to the Company that had not yet been paid,
was paid in the usual way to the bankrupt Company’s creditors.

9The reorganization of the Company was successful and after the
Japanese occupation it recommenced operations, primarily rubber planta-
tions, “Paying good dividends and steadily increasing its financia) re-
sources.” Owen Tomlinson, “Duff Development Company Ltd., * Year
Book of the Kelantan Planters’ Association, 197172, 11 at Page 12.
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96,

Sultan of,
Permits  Francis
occupy Penang, 1.
Refuses to abandon claims to
Kedah, 2.
$10,000 annuity, 2, 4,7, 8,12,
14,22,

See aiso, Mohamed Saad,
Taju’d-din.

“Young Chief* of, compiains of

attacks by Long Puten and

Kudin, 6,

Kelantan

“Pirate-h

Light to

the Straits Settlements, 1875-
1877).
Interprets Pangkor
72-73, 75.
John, King of England, 31.
Johore

See also Riau-Lingga-Johore
Temenggong of, 56, 57.
Succession, 57 ef seq.

Boundary with Pahang, 60.
Pangkor system extended to, 75,

LY
Kagoshima, bombardment of, 55.
Kangar Market expropriated, 146.
Kedah
Thailand oceupies, 1, 28.
British recognize Thai rights, 2,
76.

din seeks Sultanate, 2-5,

Troops patrol borders, 8, 9.
British warships blockade coast,
9, 14-16, 23-24, 106,

British warships blockade river,

%

near, 18.
Under Burney Treaty, 58.
Considered subject of Thailand,
68-69, 76, 77, 83, 93, 101, 104
107, 124.
British encroachment, 77-78.
Duff in, 82, 101 ef seq.
Considered _ within
“Sphere of Influence”, 87.
Well governed by Thailand, 91.
Coveted by Colonial Office, 92.
“Dependency” of Thailand, 95~
96, 113, 133.
Independence an “anachronism”
113, 124, 133.
Badly governed by Thailand, 113.
Sultan of,
Grants Concession to Duff, 98
el seq.
Proposes Treaty with Thailand,
108-409.
“Unreliable”, 112, 113.

British
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Influenced to come to terms with
‘Thailand, 118, 129, 130-133, 136.
Ceded to Great Britain, 140.
Graham administers, 141 ef seq.
Mason administers, 1

Concludes new  Concession
Agreements with Duff, 141-142,
143,

Concludes Treaty with Protected
Malay States, 144-145.
Buys rights from Duff Develop-
ment Company, 147.
Deht to Duff Development Com-~
pany, 147 et seq.
Lends money to Duff Develop-
ment Company, 147.
Loses arbitration, 148.
Sovereignty in 149, er seq., 153.
Settles Duff claim, 154,

Kent, James, 55.

Keppel, Admiral
Henry, 4.

Kimberiey, Lord, 52.

Kliber, 1. L., 55,

Knox, T. G., 63-64.

Krian River, 21.

Kudin, 6.
Called “pirate™, 9, 14, 21.
Killed, 21.

Kuper, Rear Admiral Augustus
L.55.

the Hon. Sir

Kurau River, 21.
Kynnersley, C. W. 8., 85.

1%

Langkawi, Pulau, 100, 104,
Lansdowne, Lord,
Receives policy proposal from
Bertie, 106.
Reoelves policy proposal from
Archer,
Temponus 108.
Resolves to support Thai, 111,
116.

110.

Rueful about Colonial Office,
117 note, 121.

Instructs Tower to have Thai
ranfy Duff Concession, 126, 130,
132

Inslrucls Paget about Duff rail-
way, 135.
Rejects pmpﬂsal about Treng-
gann, 1
Laos, 101 nore.
Larut (Laroot) 48, 51.
w
See British Municipal Law.
British Imperial Law,
International Law.
Specific words of art such as
bclllg:r:ncy, piracy, extradi-
tion
Leech, Mrv, 116, 118.

geh
Congessions in, 119, 128.
Sultan removed, 128 nore, 134.
Leanowens, Anna, 61 note.
Light, Captain Francis
Occupies Penang, |
Reports Trengganu 1o be in-
dependent, 64,

Ligos.
See Thailand.
Chao Phya.
Agrees to new borders, 18, 85.
Sponsors Nakheda Udin, 21.
Lingga, Sultan of, 59.
See also Riau-Lingga-Johore,
Littieton, Dr., 39, 41
Logan, David, 48, 50.
Logan, J. R., 31 et seq.
Lorimer, James, 78, 79 note, 80.
Long Puteh, 6.
Calied "Du’a(c" 9,11,15.
Not a pirate, 16,
Louis X1V, King of France, 42,
Low, James
Negotiates boundary agreement



between Province Wellesley and
Kedah, 18.
“Pu’ale hunting” in Perak, 20.
Lucas
Commumca(ﬁ with Foreign
Office concerning Reman, 88
er seq
suggestion  concerning
Lushington, Dr., 4447,
Lyttelton, Arthur, 136,
Receives report favourable to
Duff railway plan, 142-143.

M

MacMichael, Sir Harold, 76.
Mahmud, Sultan of Riau-Lingga-
Johore, 57, 61.
Goes to Trenggany, 61.
Urged to go to Bangkok, 62.
Goes to Bangkok, 69.
Maine, Sir Henry, 65 note, 68.
Malacca
Taju'd-din asked to0 go to, 2-4, 8.
Braddcllproposcs totry “pirates”
in,
Sel(lcmcm of, 59.
Malayan Union, 75.
Malkin, Sir B. H., 10, 17.
Martens, G. F., 55.
Mason, J. §., 144
Mason’s Shafl
Maxwell, Sir Pcler Benson‘ 47-48.
McCrea, Captain, 23.
Mekong River, 101 no!
Menam Chao Phya, 101 130, 139.
Menangkabau, 36 nofe.
Milner, Lord, 148
Milton, Johs, 31.
Mirabow (Merbow) River, 9, 23.
Mitchell, 8ir Charles B, H.
Asks Sir Frank Swettenham to
report rumours, 84.
Not to go to Bangkok, 88.
Advises Greville, 89, 90.
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Unhappy about Kelantan and
Trengganu, 95.

Moghul, 54, 67 note.

Mohamed Saad, 23 ef seq., 43 et
seq., 47, 70.

Moharmed Taib, 23 et seq.

Mongkut, King of Thaxland 64
note.

““Moors and Turks™ not pirates, 38.

Muhammad 1V, Sultan of Kelantan
112, 142, 143, 144,

Murchison, Kenneth (Governor of
the Straits Settlements, 1833-
1837), 22.

N
Negri Sembilan, 71.
Netscher, E., 58 note.

Norris, Sir William (Recorder of
Penang), 30 et seq., 43, 45, 47.

o

Oakes, A, H., 101 nore.

Oldish, Dr., 39 et seq.

Ord, Sir Harry $t. George (Gover-
nor_of the Straits Settiements,
1867-1873), 48-49, 50,

Qshorn, Captain Sherard, 29.

Owen, Rear Admiral Sir Edward
W.C.R., 16,

P

Paget, Ralph
Instructed concerning Duff rail-
way plan, 135,
Supports British_acquisition of
northern Malay States, 137-138.
Signs Agreement of 1909, 140,
Accuses Graham of arrogance,
142.

Pahang
Under Burney Treaty, 17.
Succession, 57, 60 ef seq.
Boundary with Johose, 60.
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Thai influence ousted, 68-69.

Pangkor system extended 1o, 75.

tnsurrection suppressed, 77-78,
9.

Dep:ndency of Great Britain,
Slabnlny affected by Kelantan,

Sultan controlled by Federated
Malay States Government, 136.
Palmerston, Viscount, 55, 69.
Pangkor See Treaties and Agree-
ments, Great Britain-Peninsular
Sultanates, Perak.
Paramountcy, 18, 54 er
60, 65, 67, 103.
Patani, 110,
Well governed by Thailand, 91.
Sultan removed, 128 note, 134,

seq.,

Pearson, Jonathan (Advocate
General of Bengal), 7.
Penang

British acquire, 1.
People support Mohamed Saad,
26.

Government.

Negotiate with Taju'd-din, 3.

Correspond  with  Supreme

Government concerning Ta-

jwddin, 3, 4,6,7.

Legal lumits on authority, 7, 8,

20, 21,

Law courls closed, 1830-1832,

Law courts lack admiraity
jurisdiction, 21,
Try 10 stabilize relations with
Thailand, 14.

See also Province Wellesley,
Straits Settlements, Govern-
ment of

Perak

Thai rights extinguished, 2, 17.

“Piracy" in, 20, 48, 51.

Boundary with Kedah, 21, 83.

Conquered by British, 71, 72

Rights in Reman, 82 et seq.
“Dependenc) of Great Britain,
5, 96.

Sullan refuses to help Taju'd-din

Perhs
Thai rights in, 76.
Expropriation in, 146.
Philip 11, King of Spain, 38.
Phillimore, Sir Robert, 46, 47, 5.
Pillage, 41.
Pinfold, Dr.,
Piracy
As excuse for suppressing mititary
ventures of Taju'd-din and his
supporters, 4, 5, 6,9, i1, I5, 29.
International Law of, 5-6, 18, 11,
16, 29 et seq.
British Municipal Law of, 10,
26, 30 ef seq., 42.
Inappropriateness of label to
describe political adventurers,
16, 17, 20, e seq., $4, 7
Justifies British action, 70.
Inapplicable to justify encroach-
ment on Thaij territory, 77,
See aiso Mohamed Saad.
Portugal, 38,
“Prescription”, 86, 90.
Prince of Wales's Island, Settle-
ment of,
See also Penang.
Privateers, 37, 38, 40, 46.
Private property, 54 ef seq.
Protected Malay States
See Federated Malay States.
Protectorates, 66-67, 68, 103, 140.
Province Wellesley
Troops patrol border, 8-9,
Borders redefined 18, 19.
Border not closed, 25 note.
See aiso Penang.

39, 40,41,




Quedah
See Kedah.
R

ce
Not part of International Law,

5,81
Reflected in International Law,
70, 78.
*Anglo-Saxon”, 78.
“Aryan™, 78, 79 note, 80.
“Shemitic”, 78, 80.
Riau-Lingga-Johore
Sultan of, 56-57.
Sultanate of, 6.
See also Mahmud, Sultan of
Riau-Lingga-Johore.
Raifway

Duff proposes East-West line,
134.

Spur lmc to Duff Concession,
134, 1

Graham refuses permission to
build,

Anderson supporls, 142-143.
Government of the Federated
Malay States undertakes to build,
146

Not completed in time, 148,
Recognition

‘As legal tool for British political

ends, 61-63, 74 ef seq., 80, 113.

As legal tool for Thai political

ends, 63, 76.

Fomgn Office responsible for,

Colomal Office responsible for,
14, 61-63, 149-150.
Reman
Negotiations over, 82 er seq., 95.
Weli governed by Thailand, $1.
“Province” of Thailand, 95, 96.
Sultan reznoved, 128 note, 134.
Richelieu, Admiral de, 119.
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Rivett-Carnac, Mr., 130-131.
Robbery, 40, 41, 42

Rosebery, Lord, 78.

Rothschild family, 79 note.
Russell, Earl John, 69.

Russell Mr. Justice, 148-150, 151,

Russm. 100, 114.

s

Salisbury, Lord
Receives recommendations con-
cerning Reman, 84-85.

Concurs in  recommendations
concerning Reman, 85.

Rejects recommendations con-
cerning Reman

Shocked by imputation of arrog-
ant dealing, 91.

Proposes acknowledging _ Thai
rights in Kelantan and Treng-
ganu, 97.

Sahadheb, Phya Sri, 112,

Satow, Sir Ernest, 82.

Schomburgk, Sir Robert, 62 note,
63 note.

Scott, Henry G.

Goes to Reman, 89.
Reports to Greville, 91.
Intimidated by Duff, 93.
Known to Archer, 113,

Seck Tan Lim (Seet Tiang Lim),
116, 119,

Selangore, 47
Tries “pirates” under municipal
law, 51-52.

Conguered by British, 71.

Serhassan, 44,

Siam -

See Thailand.

Singapore
Crawfurd chief administrator, I.
British acquisition of, 56.
Settlement of, 59.
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Sec also Straits Settlements,

Government of
Singora, 110.

Well governed by Thailand, 91.
“Sovereign immunity", 149 ef seq.
“Sovereignty”, 95-96

Trengganu, an

138-139.

Spain, 38.
Speed, Sir Edwin Arney, 148, 154.
Spherc of influence, 67-68, 87, 139,

anachronism,

Sphcre of interest, 139,

Stanley, Captain, 23, 25.

State trading, 152.

Sterndale, Lord, 150, (53.

Straits Sestlements, Government of

Organized, 59.

Lends money to settle Duff

claim, 154,

See also Penang, Government of
Stringer, C. E. W,, 93, {04,
Sumatra, 4.

Supreme Govesnment

Approve Burney Treaty, 3.

Correspondence  with  Penang

concerning Taju'd-din, 3, 4, 6,

. 5.
with  Penang
15, 26,

Correspondence
concerning blockades,
27,29

Censures Fullerton, 59.
Views on status of Kelantan and
Trenggany, 63.
Suriwongse, Chao Phya Sri, 62
note.
Suzeramty, 64, 6768,
113, 125, 140.
Swettenham, Sir Frank A.
Wants to control Reman, 82, 84
et seq.
Reports intrigues in Kelantan, 84
Presents legal argument for
British expansion in Reman, 87,
89.

103, 109,

Not to go to Bangkok, 88.

To be kept informed about Duff,
116-117, 118,

To influence Sultan of Kelantan
to come to terms with Thailand,
i18.

Negotiates with Thailand, 118.
Ignorant of negotiations con-
cerning northern Malay States,
125.

Wants to annex Trengganu and
Kelantan, 136.

Swettenham, James Alexander, 85,
Supports Thai authority in Kelan-
tan, 100.

Concerned  about non-British
European ambitions, 100, 102,
104.

T
Taju'd-din  (Ahmad  Taju’d-din

Shah, Sultan of Kedah, 1802~

1821).
Refuses to move to Malacea, 2.
Asks permission to leave British
territory, 3.
Supported by British community
in Penang.
Legal position in British Muni-
cipal Law, 7-8, 11, 12-14,
Goes to Perak, 22.

Tanjong Pagar Company expro-
priated, 146,

Taylor, Mr., 136.

Thailand
Rights in Penang, 1
Occupy Kedah, 1.
Entitled to $10,000 annuity, 8.
Rights under Burney Treaty, 6,
7-9, 10, 94.
Boundary with Penang, 18.
“Piracy™ in, 20.
Right to suppress piracy, 49.
Seek British help in Kedah, 24
et seq.



Rights in Kedah, 58, 76, 96, 140.
Righis in Kelantan, 58, 63 ef seq..
68, 76, 77, 83, 94, 95-96, 99, 100
ef seq., 129-133, 136-140, 145,
Rights in Pahang, 61.

Rights in Perak, 58.

Rights in Perlis, 76, 140.

Rights in Reman, 82 et seq.
Rights in Trengganu, 17, S8,
61 ef seq., 68, 76, 17, 83, 94,
95-96, 104, 129-133, 136-140.
Dispute British rights in Pahang,
62.

C
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of
See Bourke, Mr.
Scott, Henry G.
Negotiations
See Damrong, Prince
Devawongse, Prince.
Ligor, Chao Phya.
Sahadheb, Phya Sri.
Suriwongse, Chao Phya Sri.
Tindall, Dr., 39, 40, 41
Tower, Reginald, 124,
Instructed to negotiate Thai
ratification of Duff Concession

Bri-
tish in Kelantan and Trengganu,

Power o resist aggression, B0.
Propose concessions regarding
Reman, 88.

Negotiate cession of Reman, §9

et seq.

Permit Duff to prospect in

Kelantan and Trengganu, 93-94.

Appr:hcnswc concerning Colo-

nial Office,

Forbid Concessxons 99-100.

Interests supported in Colonial

Office, 1

Control in Kelantan questioned,

104, 107.

Subject t non-British pressures,

107, 110, 122, 123.

Grant license 1o Duff, 112
Grant concessions to Duff's
rivais, 115-116, 119,

Want purview over Duff sub-
leases, 118, 120 er seq.
Supported by Foreign Office,
129-132,

Heartland  safeguarded, 101,
130. Ratify Duff Concession
Agreement, 132, 143,

Replace Sultans in Patani, Legeh

and Reman, 128 rote, 134.

British subjects in Civil Service

, 126, 130-132.
Cbnfus:d 127,
Negotiates Thai rights in Kelan-
tan and Trengganu, 129, 130-132
Treaties and Agreements
Great Britain-Thailand
Burney Treaty of 20 June 1826
Unsatisfactory to British, 2.
Ratified 17 January 1827, 3
note British obligations undet
Taju'd-din, 2, 10, 15.
Other, 15, 23, 25.
Prohibits British action north
of Pahang, 17, 58,
Permits British to make Perak
independent of Thailand, 58.
Effect in Kelantan, 58, 77, 94.
Eﬁec\ in Trengganu, S8, 64, 77,

Cn:d by Duff, 94.
Province ~ Wellesley - Kedah
Boundary, 2 November 1831,

Bowrmg Treaty of 1855, 61
note, 89-90.

Secret Convention of 6 April
1897, 83, 93, 104, 106, 107, 109,
121, 122, 123-124, 129, 140.
Reman border and registration
procedures, 29 November 1899,
91-92, 95-96, 103, 136.
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Tariffs and taxes, 20 September
1900, 92.

Government in Kelantan and
Trengganu, 6 October 1902,
129, 133, 134, 135, 136.
Transfer of rights in northern
Malay States, [0 March 1909,
92, 140, 144,

Extradition, 4 March 1911, 92.
Great Britain-Netherlands Treaty
of 17 March 1824, 56, 57, 59.
Great  Britain-Peninsular  Sul-
tanates

Johore

Singapore cession 1824, 56.

Advisers, 1885 and 1914, 75.

Kedah

Penang and Province Wellesley

cession of 180071802, 7, 14, 25.

See also Great Britain-Thai-

land, Pr Kedah

“Pirate hunting” near, 17, 18.
Under Bumey Treaty, 17, 58,
64,77,

Tavolved in Pahang Succession
dispute, 57 et

Subjecr to Thaiand, 68-69, 76,
77, 83,93,

British bombardment of, 54
et seq., 69, T4

British encroachment in, 77-78.
w.mm British sphere of infiuence

Well governed by Thailand, 91.

Coveted by Colonial Office, 92,

“Dependency™ of Thailand, 95-

96, 103, 133

Coveted by Duff, 110.

Sultan made subordinate to

Thailand, 129, 130-132.

Sultan refuses to acknowledge
6.

Boundary
Kelantan - Federated  Malay
States, 24 October 1910, 144~
145

Pahang, Agreement of 1887, 75,
Perak, Pangkor Agreement of
1874, 72, 73 note, 15, 103.
Great Britain-France
Safeguarding Thai heartiand,
1S January 1896, 101, 130, 139,
Dividing Thailand border pro-
vinces into spheres of interest
of 1904, 139-140.
Netherlands-Riau-Lingga-Johor,
1824, 56.
Thatland-Germany, Treaty of
Commerce of 1862, 123.
United Nations Charter, 80 nore.
See also Duff Concession Agree-
ment
Trebeck, Mr., 13-14,
Treason, 40, 41, 42,
Trenchard, Sir John, 40.
Trengganu

Independence  considered  an
“anachronism®, 138.
Ceded to Great Britain, 140.
Tun  Mutahic (Bendahara of
Pahang), 57, 61.
Twiss, Travers, 55.
u
Udin, Nakhoda.
Cailed “pirate”, 11, 21.
Sponsored by Chao Phya Ligor,
21, 22.

Laler career, 51 note,
United Kingdom
See Great Britain.
v
Vattel, E. de, 31.
w
Wallace Bros., 119.
Wan Ahmed (Bendahara of
Pahang), 57, 60, 1.
War, Law ol
See Belligerency, Law of




Warrington, Lord Justice, 151,

Wemyss, Major

Negotiates in Londen for Duff

Syndicate, 97, 98, 109.

Negotiates in London for Duff
Development Company, 134,

Wheaton, Henry, 55.

William 11 and Mary, Rules of

England, 39, 43,

2
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Wolf, H. M. §., 23.
Wood, Sir Charles, 69.
Wood, General Sir Evelyn, 67,

Y
Younger, Kenneth, 80 note.
Younger, Lord Justice. 151,
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